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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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Mr. KAM, Eddie Shing Cheuk (Chief Executive Officer)
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Ms. WU Yan Yee

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. CHAN Oi Chong
Mr. LEUNG Yiu Man
Mr. HO Pak Chuen Brian

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. KAM, Eddie Shing Cheuk
Mr. CHAU Wai Hung

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. CHAU Wai Hung

AUDITOR

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
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Ms. CHAN Oi Chong (Chairman)
Mr. LEUNG Yiu Man
Mr. HO Pak Chuen Brian
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Ms. CHAN Oi Chong (Chairman)
Ms. WU Yan Yee
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

Ground Floor to 3rd Floor
Cosco Tower

Grand Millennium Plaza
183 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN
ISLANDS

P.O. Box 31119 Grand Pavilion
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road
Grand Cayman

KY1-1205

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Chong Hing Bank Limited

Bank of Communications Co. Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
The Bank of East Asia, Limited

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN
ISLANDS

Vistra (Cayman) Limited

P.O. Box 31119 Grand Pavilion
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road
Grand Cayman

KY1-1205

Cayman Islands

STOCK CODE
0064

WEBSITE OF THE COMPANY

www.getnice.com.hk
(Information on the website does not form part of this
annual report)
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ITEHREEREEBFMRRETHT

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT AND

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Get Nice
Holdings Limited (the “Company”), I hereby present the annual
report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025.

OVERVIEW
For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s revenue

amounted to approximately HK$432.1 million, representing an
increase of 5.4% as compared with approximately HK$410.0
million reported in the last corresponding financial year. The
increase in revenue was mainly attributable to the increase in
rental income during the year. In addition, the interest income
from money lending business and proof of funds commission
during the year also recorded an increase as compared with the

last financial year.

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately HK$41.2 million (2024: HK$35.8 million). The
increase in profit was mainly attributable to the net effect of
increase in fair value gains of listed and unlisted equity securities;
and increase in impairment loss on accounts receivable from
margin clients. The Group recorded provision of net impairment
loss on accounts receivable from margin clients of approximately
HK$138.4 million (2024: HK$128.6 million) in the current

financial year.

Basic earnings per share for the year were HK0.42 cents (2024:

HKO0.37 cents) as a result of increase in profit during the year.
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ITEHREEREEREBRRETH
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT AND
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Market Review

In 2024, Hong Kong’s economy continued its recovery,
though growth slowed compared to 2023. Real Gross Domestic
Product grew by 2.5%, down from 3.2% in 2023, driven by
strong exports of goods and services and moderate investment
expenditure, despite a decline in private consumption. The
seasonally adjusted unemployment rate remained low, averaging
3.0% for most of 2024, but increased slightly in the first quarter

of 2025, reflecting a transitional period in various industries.

The Hong Kong stock market faced significant challenges in 2024,
reflecting investor caution amid global and regional uncertainties.
The Hang Seng Index fell to a low of approximately 15,000 points
in carly 2024, driven by concerns over China’s economic slowdown
and geopolitical tensions. In the second half of 2024, the stock
market recovered, led by a rally from key sectors such as technology,
financials and energy, supported by Hong Kong’s role as a global
financial hub and substantial fund inflows from mainland investors

through the Stock Connect program.

The Hong Kong stock market delivered a robust performance
in the first quarter of 2025. The Hang Seng Index closed at
23,119 points at the end of March 2025 compared to 16,541
points at the end of March 2024. The average daily turnover
on the Main Board and GEM during the year ended 31 March
2025 was approximately HK$167.2 billion, an increase of 70.8%
as compared with approximately HK$97.9 billion for the prior

financial period.

In the money lending market, conditions stabilized as private
consumption showed resilience despite a slight year-on-year
decline of 0.6% from 2024. Lenders adopted cautious credit
policies, focusing on risk management and debt recovery,
supported by steady employment earnings and government
measures like mega-event promotions to boost tourism. Expected
US Federal Reserve interest rate cuts may lower borrowing costs,
encouraging loan uptake, though potential property market

slowdowns could constrain growth.

EERREE
ﬁ%@@
TR AU RS R AR T (A Y
R R =T = R - BB AN
AN > AR 2 S BRSO S DA &
P& SRR B ) o A A E B
HEWR2.5%  RR = F = = F13.2% °
48 2 4 A RE AR 1 K 2 R A R AR OK T
A T TG AR K 43 IR T T 44 £53.0% o fH
EFE R —-FERS T RS
T3 1E JE A 8 P 1A o

e S 11t E= SR Y TR S NG A
J W R A A R S B AN BRI R R
PREFREE - AR BN R N FEY B R
#115,000 %5 A9 A7 - 5 B[N 17 B ) P ) 48
T 4% % b, % BT 28R JR B ) B R T B o
R CPNETRE s ERBELA KRS
Rl AL 5 LSO b O R S T B 5C
VR ERCE S U N < o W)
YRR B SR R BBV BT
B o JBCT S B RO e

REEHFERE —FE > FRH R
s e AT BA ZFE HAE = AR
23,1198 - A1 =& = DU 4E = A JE YR
16,5418 - & E -F " HE=H=+—H1t
MERE > MM GEMBIF- ¥4 H B SS 4 5
1,67245 #5 0 » B _E — WU T 4997948 s ot
H170.8% °

RAET 5 5 BERAAAE B - E
AR AR AR AMOR 200.6% > (HA R I #
e TEE © 3 A%W%E%F%ﬂ
R 25 A A B A B R i el A - TR

%m%%mm¥WA&ﬂWﬁﬁﬁﬂ@$
AR #E Jiig e 36 45 15 il SO RE o 2 B R TR
W E > AR RRR S B R A > SRR
Ko M T VB AL R S G BRI R

Annual Report 2025 &%

5



6

ITEHREEREEBFMRRETHT

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT AND

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Hong Kong property market experienced a dynamic period
marked by significant policy shifts, economic challenges, and a
cautious recovery. The removal of all demand-side management
measures in February 2024, coupled with interest rate cuts and
relaxed mortgage regulations, led to an increase in residential
transaction volumes compared to the previous year. However,
persistent oversupply, high financing costs, and global economic
uncertainties led to a decline in residential prices by December
2024. The commercial sector faced similar challenges, with
Grade A office vacancy rates reaching a 25-year high, while retail
and industrial segments showed a mixed performance. Despite
these headwinds, the market exhibited resilience, driven by
strong rental demand and government initiatives to stimulate

economic activity.

Regarding the UK property market, growth across prime regional
markets remains muted as the buoyancy of the pandemic recedes
and the UK Budget looms on the horizon. But the interest rate
cut in the third quarter of 2024 has stimulated growing demand
among mortgaged buyers, which is likely to feed into a gradual

recovery.

Business review
Bro/eing and securities margin ﬁnancing

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the broking business
posted a profit of approximately HK$86.9 million (2024:
HK$77.6 million). The operating profit of the broking business
increased by 12.0% as a result of the increase in interest revenue
from time-deposits outweighing the decrease in broking turnover
and the number of sizeable corporate finance transactions during
the current year. The decrease in broking turnover was caused
by the silent local stock market and negative global investment
atmosphere. Revenue from broking for the year increased by
0.7% to approximately HK$128.2 million (2024: HK$127.3
million) as compared with the last financial year, mainly
comprising of broking commission amounting to approximately
HK$18.9 million (2024: HK$19.9 million) and interest from
bank balances and time deposits amounting to approximately
HK$96.1 million (2024: HK$90.8 million).
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ITEHREEREEREBRRETH
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT AND
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Securities margin financing remained to be the Group’s
major revenue contributor for the year. During the year, total
interest income from securities margin financing dropped by
2.7% to approximately HK$199.6 million (2024: HK$205.0
million), with a decrease in the average level of securities margin
lending during the year. Total gross accounts receivable from
margin clients as at 31 March 2025 amounted to approximately
HK$2,269.5 million (2024: HK$2,398.8 million). Net
impairment loss on margin clients receivable of approximately
HK$138.4 million was charged during the current year (2024:
HK$128.6 million).

The provision of net impairment loss was provided for the whole
margin loan portfolio of the Group irrespective of a client’s
margin shortfall status, in order to recognise the expected credit
loss of accounts receivable from margin clients. Depending on
the degree of margin shortfall of each client, which is calculated
by the outstanding loan balance minus the market value of
pledged securities, margin clients are categorised into different
credit ratings and the expected credit loss is recognised based
on the corresponding default rate and recovery rate from
Moody’s. For clients with significant margin shortfall, additional
impairment loss of up to 100% of the margin shortfall amount
will be recognised. To recover overdue account receivables, the
Group has taken various actions, including issuing margin calls,
forced selling of pledged securities, issuing demand letters and

taking legal action accordingly.

The total provision of net impairment loss on accounts receivable
from margin clients amounted to approximately HK$138.4
million during the year ended 31 March 2025. Net provision of
approximately HK$30.6 million was charged for the Group’s ten
largest margin clients, including the director of the Company

and their close family members.

The Group will continue to maintain a balance on yield relative
to risk as well as a cautious approach to the credit control of its

margin financing business.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT AND

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Money lending

The money lending vehicle is engaged in provision of mortgage
and consumer loans. The money lending business performance
showed a good performance during the year. The aggregated
loan amount increased to approximately HK$497.4 million as
at 31 March 2025 from approximately HK$390.7 million as
at 31 March 2024, with interest income for the year increasing
to approximately HK$45.8 million (2024: HK$35.2 million).
The money lending business recorded a profit before tax of
approximately HK$24.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2025 (2024: HK$28.0 million). Net impairment loss on loans
and advances of approximately HK$20.7 million was provided
during the year (2024: HK$5.8 million).

Potential customers are required to disclose and provide a list of
information required for a loan application. The Group has the
following credit assessment policy to assess the creditworthiness

of potential customers and their repayment abilities.

(i) For secured loans, the Group will conduct a credit
assessment test against a potential customer. It will take
into account the term of the loan and the results from
the credit assessment in totality to assess the repayment
ability of the potential customer. A valuation report on the
underlying property will be prepared by an independent
valuer to determine its current fair value. The Group has
set a clear guideline on the loan-to-value ratios for granting
and renewing mortgage loans and the term of the loan
shall normally be within a reasonable tenor accepted by the

Group.

The Group will then conduct a credit assessment exercise
according to the credit policy by considering factors,
including but not limited to, the relevant risks of the Group
(e.g. the default risk of the potential customer), the cost of
funds, cashflows, etc. of the Group as well as the market
offer, customer’s repayment ability, etc. Afterwards, the
Group will determine the terms of the offer and notify the

customer regarding the loan approval.
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ITEHREEREEREBRRETH
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT AND
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(ii) For unsecured loans, the Group will carry out the credit

assessment on every unsecured loan applicant based on the

following factors:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(8)

(h)

(i)

()

(k)

Total amount of the principal and interest payable to

be granted;

Duration of the term for repayment of the loan to be

granted;

Frequency and amount of the repayments to be made;
The interest rate of the loan to be granted;

Purpose of obtaining the loan to be granted;

The employment or business of the unsecured loan

applicant;

Current credit and financial information of the

unsecured loan applicant;

Any other factors which may affect the unsecured loan

applicant’s affordability;

Current income and expenditure of the unsecured loan

applicant;

Foreseeable reduction in income or increase in

expenditure of the unsecured loan applicant; and

Savings and assets of the unsecured loan applicant.

Building on the Group’s expertise and relationships with high

net worth customers, the Group remains positive about the

money lending business and will continue to target high net

worth customers with short-term financial needs.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT AND

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Corporate finance

The Group’s corporate finance business focused on the provision
of financial advisory services to listed companies in Hong
Kong. During the year ended 31 March 2025, it completed 5
financial advisory transactions (2024: 4). The operation reported
a segment profit of approximately HK$3.5 million for the year
(2024: HK$2.3 million).

Asset Management

During the year ended 31 March 2025, this division reported a
profit of approximately HK$0.6 million (2024: HK$0.6 million)
mainly attributable to the asset management related income of
approximately HK$0.6 million (2024: HK$0.6 million) received
during the year.

Financial instruments investments

The financial instruments investments division held financial
instruments for the Group. Assets allocations are based on
expected return rates and available funding capital. During the
year ended 31 March 2025, this division reported a profit of
approximately HK$28.7 million (2024: loss HK$44.0 million),
mainly attributable to interest income from convertible notes and
unlisted debt securities of approximately HK$6.7 million (2024:
HK$8.6 million); interest income from listed debt securities of
approximately HK$6.7 million (2024: HK$6.8 million); and
the unrealised gains on financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$11.3 million (2024:
losses HK$63.5 million) mainly due to the increase in fair value
of certain listed equity securities and unlisted equity securities.
The fair value of listed equity securities and unlisted equity
securities was approximately HK$91.3 million and HK$57.1
million respectively (2024: HK$83.6 million and HK$54.1
million respectively) as of 31 March 2025.
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ITEHREEREEREBRRETH
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT AND
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group held an investment portfolio
mainly consisting of listed equity securities, debt securities and
unlisted equity securities with total fair values of approximately
HK$344.0 million (2024: HK$303.7 million). The increase
in total fair values of the investment portfolio was mainly
attributable to the purchase of listed bonds of approximately
HK$29.6 million (2024: HK$25.7 million) and the increase in
fair value gains on financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss of approximately HK$11.3 million (2024: losses
HK$63.5 million). The portfolio of listed equity securities
mainly comprised of listed companies in Hong Kong while the
portfolio of debt securities mainly comprised of listed bonds and
redeemable notes issued by certain listed and unlisted companies

in Hong Kong and overseas countries.

Property investments

The property investments division held properties in Hong Kong
and London. For the year under review, this division reported
a loss of approximately HK$71.9 million (2024: HK$44.4
million), mainly attributable to fair value losses on investment
properties of approximately HK$94.4 million (2024: HK$54.0
million) and rental income of approximately HK$40.0 million
(2024: HK$22.1 million).

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had newly
acquired two investment properties in Hong Kong and two
investment properties in London at total considerations of
HK$187.9 million. As at 31 March 2025, the Group held
a portfolio of investment properties with a total fair value
of approximately HK$1,205.3 million (31 March 2024:
HK$1,105.5 million), comprised of residential, commercial and
industrial properties in Hong Kong, and residential properties

and a commercial building in London.

Auction business

During the year ended 31 March 2025, this division reported a
profit of approximately HK$0.6 million (2024: HK$1.2 million)
mainly attributable to the artwork auction commission income of
approximately HK$1.1 million (2024: HK$2.2 million) received
during the year.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT AND

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Outlook

Looking ahead, the external environment in 2025 remains
complex. On one hand, geopolitical tensions, recently imposed
tariffs, and the lagged effects of sharp monetary tightening will
continue to impact global economic growth, international trade,
and investment flows. On the other hand, major central banks
are expected to cut interest rates later in the year, which should
bolster economic confidence and activity worldwide, though the

timing and magnitude of these cuts remain uncertain.

Despite these challenges, our Group will continue to leverage its
professionalism and extensive experience in the money lending
business. We will persistently implement cautious and prudent
measures, regularly review and tighten our credit policies, and

increase our focus on high-net-worth clients.

Regarding the Group’s investment activities, management will
continue to seek high-quality investment properties in Asia and
Europe, as well as securities with strong potential, to enhance
the investment portfolio and ensure steady rental income and
investment gains. Meanwhile, management will adopt prudent

measures to manage the Group’s investment portfolio.

In the auction business, the Group aims to maintain stable
growth and development by upholding its principle of sourcing
excellent artworks with strong provenance to attract art

enthusiasts from all sectors of society.

To address future challenges, the Group’s management will
regularly review and adjust business strategies with a prudent
and balanced risk management approach. The Group remains
cautiously optimistic about its business development and overall

performance moving forward.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT AND
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Financial Resources and Gearing Ratio

Equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$6,623.3 million as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HKS$5,768.8 million), representing an increase of approximately
HK$854.5 million or 14.8% over that of the last financial year
end. The non-controlling interests decreased from approximately
HK$1,173.2 million as at 31 March 2024 to approximately
HK$399.0 million as at 31 March 2025. These movements were
mainly attributable to the profit for the year netting off dividend
distributed during the year.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s net current assets amounted
to approximately HK$4,821.6 million (2024: HK$5,163.5
million), and its liquidity as represented by current ratio (current
assets/current liabilities) was 7.9 times (2024: 19.1 times). The
decrease in net current assets and current ratio were mainly
attributable to the increase in accounts payable. The Group’s
bank balances and cash on hand decreased to approximately
HK$2,744.3 million (2024: HK$2,770.9 million). The decrease
in bank balances and cash on hand was mainly due to the cash
outflow in respect of the acquisition of two investment properties

in Hong Kong and two investment properties in London.

The Group had no bank borrowings as at 31 March 2025 and
31 March 2024. The Group had undrawn banking facilities
amounting to approximately HK$428 million as at 31 March
2025 (2024: HK$478 million) which were secured by corporate
guarantees issued by the Company (2024: charges over clients'
pledged securities, certain properties of the Group and corporate

guarantee issued by the Company).

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the Group’s gearing
ratio (total borrowing over equity attributable to owners of the

Company) was not presented as the Group had no borrowings.

The number of issued shares of Company amounted to
9,662,705,938 shares as at 31 March 2025 (2024: 9,662,705,938

shares).
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT AND

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Except for the investment property located in the United
Kingdom and its related rental income which are denominated
in British Pounds, the business activities of the Group were not
exposed to material fluctuations in exchange rates as the majority

of the transactions were denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The Group had no material contingent liabilities at the end of

the year.

Charges on Group Assets

The Group had no charges on assets for banking facilities as at
31 March 2025. As at 31 March 2024, investment property,
and leasehold land and buildings of the Group with a carrying
amount of approximately HK$75.1 million and HK$374.7
million respectively were pledged for banking facilities granted to

the Group.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries,

Associates and Jointly Controlled Entities

Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, there were no material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or jointly controlled entities during the

reporting period.

Employee Information

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 61 (2024: 82) full time
employees. The Group’s employees were remunerated according
to their performance, working experience and market conditions.
The total amount of remuneration cost of employees of the
Group for the year was approximately HK$24.1 million (2024:
HK$26.2 million). The Group provides employee benefits
including mandatory provident fund, discretionary share options

and performance bonuses to its staff.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT AND
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Directors recommended a final dividend of HK0.25 cent per

share for this financial year.

The final dividend will be payable on or about 4 September
2025 to shareholders of the Company whose names appear on

the register of members of the Company on 29 August 2025.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed on the
following time periods during which no transfer of shares of the

Company will be registered:

For attendance to 2025
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Annual General Meeting

: 18 August 2025 —

21 August 2025,

both dates inclusive

For entitlement to final
dividend

: 28 August 2025 —
29 August 2025,
both dates inclusive
(Record date being
29 August 2025)
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT AND

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In order to qualify for attendance to the Company’s 2025
Annual General Meeting which is scheduled to be held on 21
August 2025, Thursday and/or entitlement to the final dividend,
all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on

the following dates:

Events Last date of lodgement of

transfer documents

For attendance to 2025
Annual General Meeting

: 15 August 2025, Friday

For entitlement to final
dividend

: 27 August 2025, Wednesday

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I wish to express my gratitude to our
customers and shareholders for their continued support. I would
also like to thank your all our directors, the management team

and staff members for their hard work and dedicated service.

By Order of the Board

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED
Hung Hon Man

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. HUNG Hon Man, aged 71, is the chairman, an executive
Director of the Company and founder of the Group. He is
responsible for the formulation of corporate strategy and the
future direction of the Group. Mr. Hung is also responsible for
overseeing the money lending and credit operation, property
development and investment of the Group. Mr. Hung possesses
over 30 years of experience in the securities and real estate
industries in Hong Kong and Taiwan. He was the chief executive
officer of the Company from 7 April 2016 to 31 May 2022.
He was also the chairman and a non-executive Director of Get
Nice Financial Group Limited (“GNFG”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company which was delisted on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 27 March 2025.

Mr. CHAM Wai Ho, Anthony, aged 79, is the deputy chairman
and an executive Director of the Company. He is responsible
for the formulation of corporate strategy and future direction
of the Group. Mr. Cham is also responsible for overseeing the
money lending business, property development and investment
the Group. Mr. Cham possesses over 56 years of experience in
the banking, financial, securities and real estate industries. Before
joining the Group in September 1991, he held senior executive

positions in various international banks.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS - continued
Mr. KAM Eddie Shing Cheuk, aged 50, was appointed as

an executive Director on 28 April 2017 and chief executive
officer of the Company on 1 June 2022. He holds a bachelor’s
degree in accountancy and a master’s degree in corporate
governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He
is currently a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a member of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, an associate
member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
The Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom
and Ireland. He has over 28 years of experience in auditing,
professional accounting and worked for several Hong Kong
listed companies of various industries and served senior roles
in financial management and secretarial functions. Mr. Kam is
also Authorised Representative of the Company. He is currently
an independent non-executive director of Pangaea Connectivity
Technology Limited (Stock Code: 1473); an independent
non-executive director of Ever Harvest Group Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1549), Genes Tech Group Holdings Company
Limited (Stock Code: 8257), and Citychamp Watch & Jewellery
Group Limited (Stock Code: 256). All of the above companies
are listed on the Stock Exchange in Hong Kong. He is also
currently an independent director of Happy City Holdings
Limited listed on the NASDAQ (symbol: HCHL). Mr. Kam
was appointed as the committee member of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference Shanghai Committee (Baoshan
District) in December 2016.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Ms. WU Yan Yee, aged 34, was appointed as an independent

non-executive Director on 1 September 2022 and re-designated
as a non-executive Director on 4 November 2022. She holds a
Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting and Finance
Degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She is
a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and holds the Chartered Financial
Analyst designation. She had worked for an international
accounting firm and a reputable asset management company
and has experience in auditing, accounting, direct investment
and asset management. She is currently a representative
officer (dealing in securities, advising on securities and asset
management) of Get Nice Securities Limited (“GNS”) a
subsidiary of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. CHAN Oi Chong, aged 48, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 4
November 2022. She holds a bachelor’s degree of business
administration in accounting from the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology. She is currently a certified public
accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and an associate member of the Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute. She has more than 20 years of financial
and auditing experience. She is currently an independent
non-executive director of Cool Link (Holdings) Limited (stock
code: 8491) since August 2017, a company listed on GEM of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. LEUNG Yiu Man, aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 27
March 2023. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Social Sciences
from the University of Hong Kong. He is a Chartered Financial
Analyst of the CFA Institute in the United States and a full
member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute.
Mr. Leung has over 30 years of experience in investment, equity
analysis and corporate finance. He is currently an independent
non-executive director of Yuexiu Services Group Limited (stock
code: 6626) since August 2023, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange in Hong Kong.

Mr. HO Pak Chuen Brian, aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 26 July
2023. He holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree and a Bachelor
of Laws degree, both from Monash University, Australia and a
Master’s Degree of Business Administration from the University
of Sydney, Australia and University of New South Wales,
Australia.

He was admitted as a barrister and solicitor of the supreme court
of Victoria, Australia in 1997 and a solicitor of the High Court
of Hong Kong in 2000. He is a Certified Practising Accountant
of CPA Australia. Mr. Ho has over 24 years of experience in
corporate finance and law. He is currently a partner of Howse
Williams, a law firm in Hong Kong. He has been appointed as
an independent non-executive director of Genes Tech Group
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 8257) since June
2017, a Company listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. He is also currently an independent
non-executive director of Ajisen (China) Holdings Limited
(stock code: 538) since April 2024, a Company listed on the
Stock Exchange in Hong Kong.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31
March 2025.

This Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures. This is with
the view of being a transparent and responsible organization
which is open and accountable to the Company’s shareholders.
The Directors believe that good corporate governance practices
are increasingly important for maintaining and promoting the

COHﬁanCC Of our investors.

An explanation of how the principles of the Corporate Governance
Code were put into practice during the year under review is set out

below.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
COMPLIANCE

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has
applied the principles of, and complied with, the applicable code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board’s primary responsibilities are to formulate the
Company’s long-term corporate strategy, to oversee the
management of the Group, to evaluate the performance of the
Group and to assess the achievement of targets periodically
set by the Board. The day-to-day management, administration
and operation of the Company are delegated to the CEO
and the senior management. In addition, the Board has also
established three Board Committees and has delegated various
responsibilities to them as set out in their terms of reference. The
Board has the full support of the senior management to discharge
its responsibilities. Details of the delegation by the Board will be
discussed in the paragraphs below.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board has at all times
met the requirements of rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors and at least one of them possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, four of these
Directors are non-executive and three of them are independent
to the management. The Board is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing and
supervising the Group’s affair. The Board has a balance of skill
and experience appropriate and diversity of perspective for the

requirements of the Group’s businesses.

As at the date of this annual report, three of them are executives,
namely, Mr. Hung Hon Man, Chairman, Mr. Cham Wai
Ho, Anthony, Deputy Chairman and Mr. Kam Eddie Shing
Cheuk, CEO, one of the Director is non-executive Director,
namely Ms. Wu Yan Yee (Member of Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee) and three of the Directors
are independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Chan
Oi Chong (Chairman of Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee), Mr. Leung Yiu
Man (Member of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee) and Mr. Ho Pak Chuen Brian
(Member of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and

Nomination Committee).

Each of the Directors’ respective biographical details is set out in
the “Biographical details of Directors” of this annual report. As
at the date of this report, the Board members have no financial,

business, family or other relationships with each other.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board has at all times
adopted the board diversity policy. It sets out the approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance
its effectiveness. The Company endeavors to ensure that the
Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience, expertise
and diversity of perspectives. The appointments of board
members will continue to be made on merit basis, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard
for the benefits of diversity of the Board. Pursuant to the board
diversity policy, the Company seeks to achieve board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to gender, age, culture and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The Board will set up and review the measurable objectives from
time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the

progress made towards achieving those objectives.

Targets have been set to maintain the Board with at least
50% of members being made up of non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors, together with an
appropriate level of female member, which shall be at least one

female member.

The Board has achieved the aforementioned targets during the
year ended 31 March 2025. As at the date of this report, the
Board comprises seven directors, four of which are non-executive
director and independent non-executive directors and two of

them are female members.

The Board sets measurable objectives to implement the Board
Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time
and at least once per year to ensure their appropriateness and
ascertain the progress made towards achieving those objectives.
The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity

Policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance
to indemnify its Directors and officers against liabilities arising
out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed
on an annual basis ensuring that the Directors and officers are

adequately protected against potential legal liabilities.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as directors of the
Company and the conduct, business activities and development

of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment.
This is to ensure the new employee possesses an appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and
has full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations

under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors are expected to participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains

informed and relevant.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, relevant reading
materials including regulatory updates and seminar handouts,
etc. were provided to the Directors for their reference and

studying.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT - continued

A summary of their records of training during the financial year

is as follows:

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Hung Hon Man L S A

Mr. Cham Wai Ho, Anthony e

Mr. Kam Eddie Shing Cheuk HoRAs B
Non-Executive Directors FHITES

Ms. Wu Yan Yee A iR i 2+
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIUFBTES
Ms. Chan Oi Chong B2 A &

Mr. Leung Yiu Man PSS

Mr. Ho Pak Chuen Brian il E &4

BOARD PRACTICES

Pursuant to the Code provision C.5.1, the Board should meet
regularly, and board meetings should be held at least four times
each year to discuss the Group’s business development, operation
and financial performance. Notice of at least 14 days is given to
all Directors for all regular Board meetings to give all Directors
an opportunity to attend. All regular Board meetings adhere
to a formal agenda in which a schedule of matters is addressed
to the Board and all Directors have the opportunity to include
matters in the agenda for Board meetings. All Directors have
access to Board papers and related materials, and are provided
with adequate information which enables the Board to make an
informed decision on the matters to be discussed and considered
at the Board meetings. Minutes of Board meetings are kept
by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any

reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

To facilitate the decision-making process, the Directors are free
to have access to the management for enquiries and to obtain
further information, when required and the Directors can obtain

independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.
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BOARD PRACTICES - continued
All Directors were provided with monthly updates by the

Group’s management, giving a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Group’s performance, position, recent
developments and prospects in sufficient detail to keep them
abreast of the Group’s affairs and facilitate them to discharge

their duties under the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules.

BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEE
MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, 13 Board meetings and
2 general meetings were held. Directors may participate either in
person or through electronic means of communications. Details

of the attendance of the Directors in the meetings are as follows:

Audit
Board  Committee
EEg ENZEE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Hung Hon Man W A 13/13  N/ARHEH
Mr. Cham Wai Ho Anthony HEE 13/13  NIARGER
Mr. Kam Eddie Shing Cheuk HRELE 13/13  NIARHH
Non-Executive Director FRTES
Ms. Wu Yan Yee AR &1 13/13  NIARHEH
Independent Non-Executive Directors B Y FHTES
Ms. Chan Oi Chong REIE L L 13/13 4/4
M. Leung Yiu Man RAEUEE 13/13 4/4
Mr. Ho Pak Chuen Brian a2 %E 13/13 4/4
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Nomination Remuneration

Committee Committee AGM EGM
REZEE FMZEE RRBEAE RREHAE
NARER  NASEH 11 11
NARERH  NASHEH 11 11
NARERH  NANHEH 11 11
2/9 313 1/1 1/1
2/2 3/3 1/1 1/1
9/2 3/3 1/1 1/1
2/2 3/3 0/1 1/1
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BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEE
MEETINGS - continued

The Company Secretary of the Company is responsible for
keeping minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings.
Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors for comment
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version

is open for Directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction,
which involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder
or a Director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board
at a duly convened Board meeting. The Articles also contain
provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions
in which such Directors or any of their associates have a material

interest.

APPOINTMENTS AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Executive Directors including Mr. Hung Hon Man and
Mr. Cham Wai Ho, Anthony have entered into service contracts
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years
commencing from 1 April 2002 and will continue thereafter
unless and until terminated by either party giving not less than

three months’ prior notice in writing to the other.

Other Directors did not enter into any service contract with the
Company and there are no fixed or proposed length of service
with the Company. All Directors are subject to retirement by the

rotation at least once every three years.

According to the Articles, at each annual general meeting of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if
their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest one-third) should retire from office by rotation. Further,
any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the Board should hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and should then be

eligible for re-election at the meeting.

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company,
Mr. Cham Wai Ho, Anthony, Ms. Chan Oi Chong and
Mr. Leung Yiu Man, will retire by rotation and, being eligible,

will offer themselves for re-election.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All
the Directors have confirmed, following a specific enquiry by the
Company that they have complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March
2025.

The Company has adopted written guidelines, “Code for
securities transactions by relevant employees”, on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by
relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of inside

information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the written guidelines by the

employees was noted by the Company.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The roles of the Company’s Chairman and CEO are complementary,

but importantly, they are distinct and separate with a clear division

of responsibilities.

Mr. Hung Hon Man, the chairman of the Company provides
leadership to the Board; ensures effectiveness of the Board and

helps foster better relationships between Directors.

Mr. Kam Eddie Shing Cheuk (CEO), focuses on implementing
objectives, policies and strategies approved and delegated by the
Board. He oversees the Company’s day-to-day management and
operations. He is also responsible for developing strategic plans
and formulating the company practices and procedures, business

objectives, and risk assessment for the Board’s approval.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Independent non-executive Directors have played a significant
role in the Board by bringing their independent judgment at
the Board meetings and scrutinising the Group’s performance.
Their views carry significant weight in the Board’s decisions,
in particular, they bring an impartial view to bear on issues of
the Group’s strategy, performance and control. All independent
non-executive Directors possess extensive academic, professional
and industry expertise and management experience and
have provided their professional advices to the Board. The
independent non-executive Directors provide independent advice
on the Group’s business strategy, results and management so that
all interests of Shareholders can be taken into account and the

interests of the Company and its Shareholders can be protected.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board at all times
met the minimum requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive

Directors.

The Company had complied with the requirement that these
should include one such Director with appropriate professional
qualifications of accounting or related financial management
expertise. Ms. Chan Oi Chong and Mr. Leung Yiu Man have
the appropriate professional qualifications and experience in

financial matters required.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director of independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Board
considers that three independent non-executive Directors are
independent in character and judgement and they also meet the

independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has adopted a dividend policy that, in

recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate and sufficient cash reserves for future growth.
The Board has the full discretion to declare and distribute
dividends to the Shareholders, and any final dividend for a
financial year will be subject to Shareholders’ approval. In
proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into
account, among other things, the Group’s general financial
position, capital and debt level, future cash requirements and
availability of business operations, business strategies and future
development needs, any restrictions on payment of dividends
and any other factors the Board may consider relevant. Any
payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to
any restrictions under the Articles and all applicable laws and

regulations.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD AND
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

The overall management of the Group’s operation is vested in
the Board. The Board takes overall responsibility to oversee
all major matters of the Group, including the formulation and
approval of all policy matters, overall strategic development of
the Group, monitoring and controlling the Group’s operation
and financial performance, internal control and risk management
systems, and monitoring of the performance of the senior
management. The Directors have to make decisions objectively

in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Group are delegated to the CEO and senior management of the
Group. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Pursuant to the levels of authority approved by the Board,
the senior management executes day-to-day operations unless the
subject matter exceeds the authority granted by the Board or relates
to any matters specifically reserved to the Board, they would seek

approval from the Board.

The Board has established (i) Nomination Committee (ii)
Remuneration Committee and (iii) Audit Committee, with
defined terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees which explain their respective roles and the authority
delegated to them by the Board are posted on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Board committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seck independent
professional advice and other assistance in appropriate

circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD AND
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD - continued

Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are (i) to
review the structure, size and diversity of the Board on a regular
basis; (ii) to recommend to the Board suitable candidates for
directorship after consideration of the nominees’ independence
(if applicable) and quality in order to ensure the fairness
and transparency of all nominations; and (iii) to assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors. In
identifying suitable director candidates and making such
recommendations to the Board, the Nomination Committee
would also take into account various aspects of a candidate,
including but not limited to, his/her education background,
professional experience, experience with the relevant industry
and past directorships. The Nomination Committee currently
comprises four members, being Ms. Chan Oi Chong (Chairman
of the Nomination Committee), Ms. Wu Yan Yee, Mr. Leung
Yiu Man and Mr. Ho Pak Chuen Brian.

The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year. There

were two meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2025.

The major work performed by the Nomination Committee for
the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out below:

(1) assessed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;
(ii) made recommendations and suggestions to the Board

regarding the appointment and the re-election of retiring

Directors at the Company’s annual general meeting; and
(iii)  reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted the nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the nomination criteria and procedures
for the Company to appoint additional directors or re-elect
directors. The Nomination Policy can assist the Company in
achieving board diversity and enhancing the effectiveness of the

Board and its corporate governance standard.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD AND
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD - continued
Nomination Committee — continued

Nomination Policy — continued

When assessing the suitability of a candidate, factors such as
the reputation, integrity, accomplishment and experience,
commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and attention
to the Group’s business will be taken into consideration as a
whole. In addition, a range of diverse perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skill and knowledge would be considered.
In the case of independent non-executive Directors, the candidates
must further satisfy the independence criteria set out in the Listing
Rules.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior
management of the Company; to make recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights, compensation payments and any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment and

ensure none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises four members,
being Ms. Chan Oi Chong (Chairman of Remuneration
Committee), Ms. Wu Yan Yee, Mr. Leung Yiu Man and Mr. Ho
Pak Chuen Brian. The Remuneration Committee meets at least
once a year. There were three meetings held during the year ended
31 March 2025.

The major work performed by the Remuneration Committee for
the year ended 31 March 2025 is determining and reviewing the

remuneration of Directors and senior management of the Group.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee,
on named basis, at committee meetings during the year is set out in
the section “Board and Board Committee Meetings” of this report

above.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD AND
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD - continued

Remuneration Committee — continued

The primary aim of the remuneration policy is to enable the
Company to motivate and retain executive Directors and senior
management by comparing their performance against corporate
goals and objectives when determining appropriate compensation
for them. The principal elements of the remuneration package
include basic salary, discretionary bonus, retirement scheme
contributions and share options. No Director or any of his/her
associates should be involved in any decision as to his/her own
remuneration. In determining guidelines for each compensation
element, the Company refers to the comparable remuneration

standard in the market.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditors and has authority to raise questions regarding
the resignation or dismissal of the auditors; overseeing the
Company’s financial reporting process and internal control and
risk management systems and to review the Group’s interim and
annual consolidated financial statements. The Audit Committee
has access to and maintains an independent communication with

the external auditor and management.

The Board has also delegated the corporate governance function
to the Audit Committee. The major responsibilities are to review
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and training and continuous professional development of

Directors and senior management.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD AND
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD - continued

Audit Committee — continued

The Audit Committee currently comprises three members, all of
whom are independent non-executive Directors. The members
are Ms. Chan Oi Chong, Mr. Leung Yiu Man and Mr. Ho Pak
Chuen Brian, all of whom are not involved in the day-to-day
management of the Company. Ms. Chan Oi Chong, who
has appropriate professional qualifications and experience in
accounting matters, was appointed as the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The principal work performed by the Audit Committee during
the year is as follows:

(i) reviewed interim and annual consolidated financial
statements and announcements of the Company;

(ii) reviewed the continuing connected transactions and
connected transactions of the Group;

(iii)  reviewed and discussed with management regarding risk
management and effectiveness of internal control;

(iv)  reviewed the re-appointment of external auditors;

) reviewed and monitored of the continuous professional
development of Directors; and

(vi)  reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Code and

relevant disclosures.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year. There were
four meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2025. The
attendance of each member of the Audit Committee, on named
basis, at committee meetings during the year is set out in the
section “Board and Board Committee Meetings” of this report
above. There was no disagreement between the Board and the
Audit Committee regarding the selection and appointment of the

external auditor.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board is responsible for presenting balanced, clear and
comprehensive information to the shareholders on assessment of

the Company’s performance, position and prospects.

Directors’ responsibility

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements of the Company are to give a true and
fair view and comply with all applicable regulatory requirements
and accounting standards. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2025, the Directors
have selected appropriate accounting policies and applied them
consistently, and made judgments and estimates that are prudent
and reasonable. The Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern as at 31 March 2025. Accordingly, the Directors
have prepared the consolidated financial statements for the year

ended 31 March 2025 on a going concern basis.

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of
annual financial statements which give a true and fair view of
the Group’s financial position, its financial performance and
cash flows for the year. Management provides the Board with
management accounts and updates on a monthly basis, with a
view to giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group’s performance, financial position, and prospects to enable
the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2025, the Board:

(a) adopted HKFRSs, which conform to the International

Reporting Standards in all material respects;

(b)  selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently;

(c) made prudent and reasonable judgements and estimates;
and

(d)  ensured that the financial statements were prepared on a

going concern basis.

In financial year ended 31 March 2025, the annual and
interim results were published within 3 months and 2 months
respectively after the end of the relevant periods to provide

stakeholders with transparent and timely financial information.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING - continued

Independent auditor’s responsibility

The responsibilities of Forvis Mazars CPA Limited, Certified
Public Accountants, the Company’s external auditor, on the
consolidated financial statements are set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual report on
pages 55 to 63.

Independent auditor’s remuneration

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the fees paid or payable
to the external auditor of the Company, Forvis Mazars CPA

Limited, and its network firms in Hong Kong are as follows:
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2025 2024
—Z2-hF —F s
HK$’°000 HK$’000
THRT T
Audit services BN A 2,415 2,510
Non-audit services I B A% M5
Professional services in relation to At 48 8 B AH R I 2 BB IRES
the group reorganisation 335 -
Report on the continuing connected A4 AR N 2 R A R A 5
transactions of the Group for the year 50 100
Report on agreement with the AN FIAF N 2 AF B S48 N
annual results announcement Toh ek
of the Company for the year 50 100
Attending the annual general meeting HH R AR A ) I RO 4F R g
of the Company 30 60
Taxation services o075 IR B 48 48
Tortal AEt 2,928 2,818

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the establishment
and maintenance of sound and effective risk management and
internal control systems to safeguard the Group’s corporate
interests.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss; to manage prudently but
not completely eliminate the risk of system failure. Systems and
procedures are put in place to identify, manage and control the
risks of different businesses and activities.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL - continued

The internal control system is to maintain proper accounting
records and to comply with relevant laws and regulations. During
the year, the Board has engaged an independent consulting
firm (the “Consultant”) to conduct a review of the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control systems in accordance with
the requirements under provision D.2 of the CG code. After
conducting a review of the effectiveness of the internal control
systems of the Group during the year, the Consultant presented

their report to the Audit Committee.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee, as
delegated by the Board, has reviewed the report provided by the
Consultant and is satisfied the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s internal controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management. It has also considered
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the accounting and financial reporting functions and their

training programs and budgets.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board has set up
its risk management policy and risk appetite statement which
clearly defines the types of risk that the Group is prepared to
pursue, retain or tolerate. The risk management process includes:
(i) setting objectives, identifying ownership of risks, and risks
that could affect the achievement of objectives; (ii) analyzing
the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the risk portfolio
accordingly; and (iii) considering the risk responses and ensure
effective communication to the Board/senior management
and ongoing monitor the residual risks (if any). A risk register
was maintained as a tool for documenting risks and actions to

manage each risk on an ongoing basis.

During the year, the senior management is responsible for
maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
control. The risk control is implemented to minimize the risks to
which the Group is exposed to during the day-to-day operation
of business. The senior management designs, implements and
maintains the risk control to safeguard the assets of the Group.
It also involves making decisions regarding which risks are

acceptable and how to address those that are not.
The Board has confirmed that a review of the effectiveness of the

risk management and internal control systems was conducted and

considers them effective and adequate.
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DISCLOSURE OF INSIDER INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities to ensure potential
inside information being captured and confidentiality of such
information being maintained until consistent and timely
disclosure are made in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
Group has an inside information policy with the procedures
and internal controls for handling and dissemination of insider

information as follows:

. the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules as well
as the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Insider Information”
published by the Securities and Futures Commission of
Hong Kong in June 2012;

. the Group has implemented its policy on fair disclosure
by pursuing board, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through public announcements

and the Company’s website;

. the access of information is restricted to a limited
number of employees on a need-to-know basis such that
employees who are in possession of inside information
are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve

confidentiality; and

. the Group has established and implemented procedures
for responding to external enquiries about the Group’s
affairs and only designated persons are authorised to speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with

external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The Group also continues to adopt employee diversity measures
to promote the diversity at all levels of its workforce. All eligible
employees enjoy the equal opportunities for employment,
training and career development without discrimination. As at
31 March 2025, the Group had a total workforce (including
senior management) of 61 full time employees, of which 52%
are males, and 48% are females. While we believe our future
employee recruitment should predominantly be merit-based and
do not consider it appropriate to set any target gender ratio for
our workforce, we recognize and embrace the benefits of having
a diverse workforce, and will continue to enhance the diversity of

our workforce, subject to availability of suitable candidates.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chau Wai Hung is the company secretary of the Company
and is a full time employee of the Company. He has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company and is responsible for advising the
Board on corporate governance matters. Mr. Chau confirmed
that he has complied with all the required qualifications,
experience and training requirements under Rule 3.29 of the

Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining clear, timely
and effective communication with shareholders of the Company
and investors. Therefore, the Group is committed to maintaining
a high degree of transparency to ensure that the investors and the
shareholders of the Company receive accurate, clear, comprehensive
and timely information about the Group through the publication
of annual reports, announcements and circulars. The Company
has in place a sharcholders’ communication policy (“Shareholders’
Communication Policy”) to ensure that shareholders’ views and

concerns are appropriately addressed.

The Company also publishes all corporate correspondences
and certain relevant group’s policies on the Company’s website
www.getnice.com.hk. Shareholders and investors may also
email their queries to the Company’s email address: investor@
getnice.com.hk, which will be handled by the Company’s
Investor Relations team. The Board maintains regular dialogues
with investors and analysts to keep them informed of the
Group’s strategy, operations, management and plans. The
Directors and the members of the various board committees
attend and answer questions raised at the general meetings of
the Company. Separate resolutions are proposed at the general

meetings on each substantially separate issue.

The chairman of the general meetings of the Company explains
the procedures for conducting a poll before putting a resolution to
vote. The results of the voting by poll are then published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness and implementation
of Shareholders’” Communication Policy and was of the view
that, through the above-mentioned measures and the procedures
mentioned under section “Sharcholders’ Right and Investor
Relations” below, the Shareholders’ Communication Policy
remained effective and was implemented effectively, to ensure
that the Company maintains long-term effective and good

communication with its shareholders.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A H

DNEWE

JRE e S /A /NS B U= N /N
ZEWAR B - BEAB AR T Z B FEE
ARMEFFRECETREFEZER -
J] e HE R RS A B ST BT BRI AR 3 29 A7
B GRS ~ AEBR MBI 2 BT BLE o

ERRRREERE

W] LA N A O R B R
M~ B T I A 2R R 2+ e PRI
AR B U B T B > A R
HERFRIEWE > FERA L A R B MOBR
MEAGYERRE - V2 - ST S R AR AR
KL o A% A B R A wHOB 3R ([ R
AR ) > DURE O 980 8 B B R A 7 T %
BHTE -

AN B INAE 4 Siwww.getnice.com.hk T & fF
AN F) A R B A A B A R o BROR K
WEHINT] MBI E AN A 2 FEE M
3k + investor@getnice.com.hk > A
KA R Z BEH BRI KER - FH G IR
B H Ko b B R R - s AR E
MR WS - B NG HEREKRKE
HE B G E A7) B K el
M mAERNBLFIH > Al gERRK
FREBIINHRE -

A A SRR B T TR S PR % AR R T A R
RRAEFE o £ 5% 45 M8 M0 7E B 22 B e AR 4
GEE P R E

o O A e AR iR A R
TG UL > 3l 8 A 2 b 2l 18 it K T ST IROR
R R BLEHBR ] — i h R LR > B
R U BLSR ME 15 A Ol C A AT > LA
PRAS 2 ) BEL S RPR 55 = 3 A 00O R B
o



ERERKRSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

How shareholders can convene an extraordinary general

meeting

Pursuant to the Articles, any one or more sharecholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company and carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company by mail at the Company’s principal
office address in Hong Kong, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be
held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

The procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board
and sufficient contact details to enable these enquiries to be

properly directed

Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board’s
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
office address at G/F-3/F., Cosco Tower, Grand Millennium
Plaza, 183 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong. The Company
Secretary forwards communications relating to matters within
the Board’s purview to the Board and communications relating
to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, and inquiries

to the CEO.

Procedures and sufficient contact details for putting forward

proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Sharcholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be
discussed at shareholders’ meeting. Proposal shall be sent to
the Board by written requisition. Shareholders who wish to put
forward a proposal should convene an extraordinary general
meeting by following the procedures as set out in paragraph
headed “How sharcholders can convene an extraordinary general

meeting” above.

Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there had been no

significant changes in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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The directors of the Company (“the Directors”) have pleasure
in presenting their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Group are (i) money lending; (ii) property
investments; (iii) investment in financial instruments; (iv) real
estate agency; (v) auction business and (vi) the provision of
financial services, including securities dealing and broking,
futures and options broking, underwriting and placements,
securities margin financing, asset management services and
corporate finance services. Particulars of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 64 to 65.

No interim dividend was paid during the year. The Directors
now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.0025
per share to the shareholders on the register of members on 29
August 2025.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited results and the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years ended 31 March 2025
is set out on page 209 of this annual report. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements in
this report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements during the year in the property and
equipment, and investment properties of the Group are set out
in notes 18 and 19, respectively, to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements. There
is no movement in the share capital of the Company during the
year.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company with details
are disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements,
no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that
require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or
may result in the Company issuing shares during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages
68 to 71.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s

shares.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
At 31 March 2025, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution to shareholders were approximately HK$3,120,959,000
(2024: HK$3,171,520,000) which comprised the share premium,
certain special reserve and retained earnings.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Hung Hon Man (Chairman)
Mr. Cham Wai Ho, Anthony (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Director:

Ms. Wu Yan Yee

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Ms. Chan Oi Chong (Chairman of the audit committee,
nomination committee and remuneration committee)

Mr. Leung Yiu Man

Mr. Ho Pak Chuen Brian

Mr. Cham Wai Ho, Anthony, Ms. Chan Oi Chong and Mr.
Leung Yiu Man will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting in accordance with provision 108 of the Company’s
Articles of Association. Being eligible, they offer themselves for
re-election.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and following
confirmations from the Directors, there is no change in the
information of the Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange:

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 17 to

19 on the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Certain executive Directors including Mr. Hung Hon Man and
Mr. Cham Wai Ho, Anthony have entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years and
will continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three

months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

The term of office of each non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Director is for the period up to his/her retirement by

rotation in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors being proposed
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory

compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the contracts described under the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions” below, no contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time

during the year.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED HERERXS
TRANSACTIONS
1. Tenancy agreement 1. HEWHH
Transaction Name of counterparty Term of agreement Address of premises Amount
%5 XBUF2EE  BEEE W it £
HKS$
e
Tenancy made on 25 April  Legend Creative 1 June 2023 to 31 May ~ Workshop C9 and C10 600,000
2023, renewed on Enterprise Limited 2025, renewed on 11/F, Block C, Hong Kong
13 May 2025 (Note) as the tenant 13 May 2025 for two Industrial Centre, Nos.
A TFE T ZFEA 208 A B A PR /A F years to 31 May 2027 489-491 Castle Peak Road,
iy o = I ki o (FEAFF) e S Kowloon, Hong Kong
BoFE_HEHAT=H —HEZZ_HFE HHILIEFILE
W (M) EA=Z+—H> 489-491%%
R_F T4 i L OCRE
HA+= H?%Eﬁﬁ 11HECY K C108 AL
MEZEZF L
HA=+—H

Note: The tenant is an associate of Mr. Hung Hon Man, an

executive Director and Chairman of the Company.

Bt < RS By 2% R 9UAT 250 T L 0
EEZHENL -

Annual Report 2025 &%

43



A

EEEHRE
DIRECTORS' REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS - continued

2. Brokerage services and margin loan financing

Name of connected person BEATES
Executive Directors: HITES:
Hung Hon Man and his associates BB R HBHER AL
Cham Wai Ho, Anthony and his associates 1T Y e T I\
Kam Eddie Shing Cheuk and his associates Hk e R HBE AL
Directors of certain subsidiaries of AEBETHEARZES:
the Group:
Shum Kin Wai, Frankie and his associates Aufe R EHE AL
Hung Sui Kwan and his associates ST EN 1 YN
Cheng Wai Ho and his associates BT R HBE B AL
Ng Hon Sau, Larry and his associates YR} YN
Leung Chan, Jaime and his associates RZEURHBEAL
Chen Zhixue and his associates S-S EN T YN
Liang Jie and her associates VSN EN ) YN
Lee Tsz Ho and his associates ZFYEREBEAL

Save as disclosed in (3) below, the Directors, including the
independent non-executive Directors, were of the opinion that
the transactions listed above were on normal commercial terms
where all of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the
profits ratio) on an annual basis calculated under the Listing
Rules were less than 5% and the annual consideration was less
than HK$3,000,000. The transactions were thus exempted from
the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1)
(c) of the Listing Rules.
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Brokerage
commission
income paid

to the Group
for the year

FRE
NFEAEE
ZBE
BEBA
HK$

BT

244,495
543
6,703

6,849
18,510
1,364
5,246
7,065
50
21,768

Margin loan
interest paid
to the Group

for the year

Fae
AFFA&HE
PAS &
BERAE
HK$

P

14,843,059

320

3,062
11,932
1

14,752

Maximum
amount of
margin loan

for the year

£R
RESEN
ZBREEE
HK$
ot

282,731,142

1,250,000

596,403
748,238
2,316

643,196
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS - continued

3.

Brokerage services and margin loan financing provided

to Mr. Hung Hon Man and/or any controlled companies

On 3 October 2022, GNS and Mr. Hung, entered into
(i) the financing services agreement (“Financing Services
Agreement”), pursuant to which GNS may (but not obliged
to), upon request from Mr. Hung and/or any controlled
companies, provide or procure any other company amongst
the Group to provide the margin financing facilities
to Mr. Hung and/or, as the case may be, the relevant
controlled company from time to time during the period
from 15 December 2022 to 14 December 2025; and (ii) the
broking services agreement (“Broking Services Agreement”)
pursuant to which GNS may (but not obliged to), upon
request from Mr. Hung and/or any controlled companies,
provide broking services and services incidental thereto by
GNS or any company amongst the Group to Mr. Hung
and/or any controlled companies during the period from
15 December 2022 to 14 December 2025. Details of the
terms and conditions of the Financing Services Agreement
and Broking Services Agreement can be referred to the
announcement dated 3 October 2022 and circular dated 10
November 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, (i) the interest income
earned from Mr. Hung and his controlled companies by GNS
amounted to approximately HK$14,775,000 (with annual cap
set at HK$29,000,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025); (ii)
the maximum amount of margin loan granted to Mr. Hung
and his controlled companies amounted to approximately
HK$280,895,000 (with annual cap set at HK$330,000,000
for the year ended 31 March 2025); and (iii) the brokerage
commission earned from Mr. Hung and his controlled
companies by GNS amounted to approximately HK$234,000
(with annual cap set at HK$8,000,000 for the year ended 31
March 2025).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS - continued

Pursuant to rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the above transactions
have been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or better
(as the case may be); and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them during the validity of the agreement
periods on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests

of the Company’s shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has reviewed the abovementioned
continuing connected transactions pursuant to rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules and advised the Board in writing (with a copy
provided to the Stock Exchange) that the above transactions,
nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that: (i) have not been approved by the Board; (ii) were not, in
all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Group if the transactions involve the provisions of goods or
services by the Group; (iii) were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
the transactions; and (iv) have exceeded the their respective

annual caps.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions undertaken by
the Group in its normal course of business are set out in note
39 to the consolidated financial statements. Those related party
transactions which constituted continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules which are set out in the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions” on pages 43 to 46, have
compiled with Chapter 14A.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES

As of 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model

Code contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

1. Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of
the Company
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1. ARABREBEIETZEBERZ
i)

Percentage

Number of of the issued

issued ordinary share capital

Name of Director Capacity shares held of the Company

e T HEAQASHT

EEnS BEME EBEREE RAEzEDE

Mr. Hung Hon Man Held by controlled corporation (Note) 6,388,365,872 66.11%
HEICTAE A (i)

Note: Mr. Hung Hon Man is deemed to be interested in 6,388,365,872
ordinary shares of the Company which are held by Honeylink
Agents Limited (“Honeylink”), a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands with limited liability, the entire issued share
capital of which is beneficially owned by Mr. Hung Hon Man.

At o WP SCSEE WO 2 B At Honeylink
Agents Limited ([ Honeylink |) 7 H 2
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES - continued

2.

Long positions in the non-voting deferred shares of
HKS$1.0 each of GNS, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company

Name of Director Capacity
EEHS EEtE

Mr. Hung Hon Man
WSS

Beneficial owner

Ha kA N

EERRSTRAEZKROESR -

o]

2. RADAZZEMNBRAAGSHESZ
BREEIGETZERERELERZ

"B
Percentage
Number of of the issued
non-voting non-voting
deferred deferred
shares* held shares** of GNS
hEHERS
FisERE ERITERER
EER#ME EZER*2ZBEIH
36,000,000 90%

*ok

The non-voting deferred shares carry practically no rights to
dividends nor to receive notice of nor to attend or vote at
any general meeting of GNS and on liquidation, the assets of
GNS available for distribution among the holders of ordinary
shares and the holders of non-voting deferred shares shall
be applied first in paying to the holders of ordinary shares
the sum of HK$1,000,000,000,000 per ordinary share and
secondly in repaying to the holders of non-voting deferred
shares the nominal amount paid up or credited as paid up on
such shares, and the balances of the GNS’s assets shall belong
to and be distributed among the holders of ordinary shares in
proportion to the amount paid up or credited as paid up on

such ordinary shares respectively.

The other 10% of the issued non-voting deferred shares of
GNS, being 4,000,000 shares are held by Mr. Shum Kin
Wai, Frankie, the ex-director of GNS.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES - continued

Save as disclosed above, at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in any shares or underlying shares of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTIONS

A new share option scheme was adopted by the Company in
August 2022. Particulars of the share option schemes are set out
in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year, no options were granted to any director of the
Company.

As at 31 March 2025, the number of share options to subscribe
for a total of 966,270,593 shares in the Company, representing
approximately 10% of the total number of issued ordinary shares
of the Company, may still be granted under the share option
scheme.

EEEHRE
DIRECTORS' REPORT

%%&%%‘ﬁﬁkéﬂifﬁ%é—
B b SCHr i g FH 4 > iR F HAFE = A
=t —H > RIS K E R GIEE35206 A
T A7 0 8 wE A T R Sk mROAR B AT Y < R
] A &) S B 22 TV i & > AR R EE
Hul f = AT BN B HEEERE A AR /A w) ol AT ]
AE R 1% [ (G 26 7B 2 B B R S5 XV AERR)
AT AR P A5y w8 S 4 4 AT ] HE 2 BRIR AT o

iR

AN TS UF AR N R AR — TE T I
BEGT B o 1 A RE ST B A0 I O S A B
e B RE34 -

JA A 4F
JeHE o

> M A 15) A 2y R AL ] 2 4R L

RO ECHEZAZH AR
J HE 5t #) $52 H AT R8I A 4£966,270,593 M A%
ol ey (FHE AR A\ 2 B 88 73 48 i 4
BUA10%) 1 1 HEHE -

Annual Report 2025 &%

49



50

EEEHRE
DIRECTORS' REPORT

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2025, so far as is known to any Directors or
chief executives of the Company, the persons or corporations
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company)
who had, or were deemed or taken to have an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of
the SFO (“DI Register”) or as otherwise notified to the Company

were as follows:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the Company

FERR

R RFEZA =T —H o AL FME
iy 8 B = AT BN B BT > DR AR B
(AR 22 7 3 sl A AT U B RR AT
AR A ) BB B BR B4 v A B 5 B
BOE VR ERA RC AR BRI S B R 155336
W 2 B A0S Rl 8 A B 2 B e M (1 B 2 8
RO ) BOZE N AR w2 R R

wr
A2 A B AT (0. 17 70 2 % 8 i’

Number of issued Percentage of the

ordinary shares issued share capital

Name Capacity held of the Company
e T HARQTE BT

= EaME ZEREE BAEZBDLE

Mr. Hung Hon Man Held by controlled corporation (Note) 6,388,365,872 66.11%

W S A M2 LA (f i)

Honeylink Beneficial owner (Note) 6,388,365,872 66.11%

Ha A N (K i)

Note:  Mr. Hung Hon Man is deemed to be interested in 6,388,365,872
ordinary shares of the Company which are held by Honeylink, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability, the entire issued share capital of which is beneficially owned
by Mr. Hung Hon Man.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors were
not aware of any person or corporation (other than the Director
and chief executives of the Company) who had, or were deemed
or taken to have, any interests or short positions in any shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in DI Register or

otherwise notified to the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, or the
laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to

offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits scheme are set out in

note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the

listed shares of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s turnover

attributable to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for

less than 30% of the Group’s total turnover.

The Group had no major suppliers due to the nature of the

principal activities of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to HK$40,000.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for
the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Details of the compliance by the Company with the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
are on pages 20 to 39 of the Corporate Governance Report in

this annual report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,

qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and are decided by the Board, as
authorised by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting,
having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
duties, responsibilities and performance, and the prevailing
market conditions. No individual should determine his/her own

remuneration.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 March
2025 and an analysis of the likely future development of the
Group’s business are set out in the “Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis” from pages 4 to 16 of this

annual report. The discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

In addition, discussion on the key relationships with the
Group’s major stakeholders, Group’s environmental policy
and performance as well as compliance with relevant laws
and regulations which have significant impact on the Group
are set out in the Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report 2025 (“ESG Report”). The ESG Report
will be published separately on the websites of the Company
(htep://www.getnice.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange news
website (https://www.hkexnews.hk).
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group include

strategic, commercial, operational and financial risks.

Strategic risks

The Directors maintain a strategic plan together with a financial
budget at the end of each financial year based on then knowledge
to the external environments and a number of forecast and
estimates. The Group would invest in capital expenditures or
require additional working capital by way of equities or debts
fund raising based on the strategic plan in order to cope with
the market demand and competition. Given the rapid change
of unforeseeable external environments in the financial industry
and properties investment sector, the Group is facing significant
strategic risks on its capital expenditures and working capital
requirements when changing the strategic plans to adopt the

unexpected changes of external environments.

Commercial risks

The Group is facing the keen competition by other securities
brokers or financial institutions. To maintain the Group’s
competitiveness, the management uses cost leadership strategy
as well as diversifying its business strategy to tackle other

competitors.

Operational risks

Management regularly reviews the Group’s operations to ensure
that the Group’s risk of financial or reputational losses, or
inability to deliver services to customers, resulting from fraud,
errors, omissions, failed internal processes, IT systems and
compliance matters, are adequately managed. The Group has
also established its own business continuity plan, including but
not limited to implementation of cyber security control and
comprehensive cyber testing programme, to protect the Group

from risk of interruption to its business continuity.

Financial risks

The principal financial risks are set out in note 6 to consolidated
financial statements heading “FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS” —

“Financial risk management objectives and policies”.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from
each of the independent non-executive Directors. The Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent of the management of the Company and are free
from any relationship that would materially interfere with the
exercise of their independent judgements for the financial year
ended 31 March 2025.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2025 were audited by Forvis Mazars CPA
Limited (“Forvis Mazars”) whose term of office will expire upon

the forthcoming annual general meeting.
A resolution for the reappointment of Forvis Mazars as the

auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Hung Hon Man
CHAIRMAN

26 June 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

forvss
mazars

To the members of Get Nice Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Get
Nice Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 208, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its financial performance and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (the “HKCO?”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
BRI R MEBFREIRAT
42nd Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

SR B A EE 185 IR EIF4218

Tel E5E : +852 2909 5555

Fax f#H : +852 2810 0032

Email B#: info.hk@forvismazars.com
Website #81lt :forvismazars.com/hk
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

HRERER-H

Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on loans and advances
ARBYUZHEHEEER ([FAHEEER) ZEREE

Related disclosures are included in notes 4, 6 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

A BN T4 6R2457 8 2 GBI

Key Audit Matter

HARERER

At 31 March 2025, loans and advances amounting to
approximately HK$497,377,000, net of loss allowance
for ECL of approximately HK$30,867,000, represent 7%
of the total assets of the Group.

R EARFE=ZA=Z1T—H > BRARKBAKXLHL
497,377,000 70 (411 BR T 315 5 65 18 2 Js 18 48 4 20
30,867,000% 70) - i HAEME EBEZ7%

Management assessed the provision for ECL of loan
and advances based on the estimate of credit losses over
the expected life of these receivables and considered
whether there were or will be any events or changes
in circumstances that indicated or may indicate a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
these balances.

B L AR R % S B SRR TR TR AU A U o ) £ R s R
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17 22 7 BT A B 3 5% S5 5 B 09 0 7R 2 BE & U
E%Jﬁxﬂ%%ﬁ A B R R AR ) TE A B s 1R
B -

We considered this matter to be a key audit matter due
to the significant amounts involved and the significant
judgement in evaluating the recoverability of the balances
and in turn, among other factors, credit worthiness of the
borrowers.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
AZEEMNESTNAEEBAREREE

Our key procedures, among others, included:

AN B 2 B SRR (BR AR 7 4h) R4

* understanding and assessing the design and
implementation of the internal controls related to
the credit approval process, post approval credit
management, loans and advances grading system,
collateral monitoring, loans and advances impairment
assessment, the process for identification of impaired
loans and advances and the measurement of the loss

allowance;

TR SEAL BLAE SRR - WA EE
B R B A HRH O B A R R R B
(B FFA ~ 5k Bl W (E & 3 K Bk DL e 51 2 s 18
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D assessing, on a sample basis, the data used in
assessment and the fair value of the pledged properties
and securities collateral for the loans and advances
by making reference to the recent open market value
of similar properties at nearby locations and recent

available financial information; and
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HERREAL 5 K

o assessing management’s judgement over the ECL
and creditworthiness of the borrowers by assessing,
on a sample basis, the available information, such as
background information of the borrowers, recoverable
amount of pledged properties and securities collateral,
past due information, past collection history of
borrowers, the Group’s actual loss experience and
subsequent settlement of the loan and interest
receivables.
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Key Audit Matters — continued

HRERER-&

Loss allowance for ECL on accounts receivable from margin clients arising from the business of dealing in

securities margin financing

BFRECHERBELCRUREEEFREREEE R EERE

Related disclosures are included in notes 4, 6 and 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

HEHBHREN T4 6R25FFBZHEHE

Key Audit Matter

BREXREE
At 31 March 2025, the accounts receivable from
margin clients arising from the business of dealing in
securities margin financing amounted to approximately
HK$1,647,634,000, net of loss allowance for ECL of
approximately HK$621,834,000. These represent 22% of
the total assets of the Group.
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Management assessed the provision for ECL of accounts
receivable from margin clients based on various inputs
such as loan-to-value percentage, default rate provided
by credit rating agency or other relevant information
together with forward-looking analysis.
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We considered this matter to be a key audit matter due
to the significance of the balance and the significant
judgement in determining ECL on the accounts receivable
from margin clients.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
AEHMNETNAEEBRERSIE

Our key procedures, among others, included:

AN il 2 B SRR (BR AR 7 4h) B4

* understanding and assessing the design and
implementation of the internal controls over the
approval, recording and monitoring of accounts
receivable from margin clients and collateral
shortfalls, the process for identification of impaired
accounts receivable from margin clients and the
measurement of the loss allowance;
TSI A A B A AL RO Bk % B B R R
%5 AR TE R AR AT A R R W IR P
RIF DL K2 Gt s 18 995 M 2 A T 114 R 4 o
SRt B B UL

e considering the relevance and reasonableness of
method adopted and key assumptions over the ECL
assessment, and the relevance and accuracy of the
source data used in the assessment;
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e checking, on a sample basis, the existence and accuracy

of the recoverable amount of the securities collateral,
to supporting documents and with reference to closing
market price adjusted for forward-looking factors that
are specific to the securities collateral and general stock
market conditions;
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Key Audit Matters — continued

HREREER-H

EFRECHERBELCRUREEFEFREARCEERZEERER

Related disclosures are included in notes 4, 6 and 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Key Audit Matter
BEELER
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
AERHMNETFNAEEBRERSH

comparing, on a sample basis, the recoverable
amount of the securities collateral with the accounts
receivable from each individual margin clients to
determine whether there was any shortfall; and
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%7 R TE AR AR LA > DL E R AT S
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assessing the sufficiency of the loss allowance
recognised with respect to the above shortfall, after
taking into account other factors such as credit
worthiness, past collection history and repayment

subsequent to reporting period.
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Key Audit Matters — continued

Valuation of investment properties

REWEZIGE

HREREE-&

Related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

HREHMBHRENTIRI9FTE 2 B 17 E

Key Audit Matter

BREXREE

At 31 March 2025, investment properties amounted
to approximately HK$1,205,315,000 were measured
at fair value, which represent 16% of the total assets of
the Group. The investment properties with fair value
of approximately HK$1,166,855,000 were determined
based on valuations by an independent professional
valuer engaged by the Group.
MRE-FE-HAE=ZA=+—H  &%#/51,205315,000
BB EYETIRA RE R I BEEEAE
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We considered this matter to be a key audit matter due
to the significance of carrying amount and the significant
judgements and estimations involved in the valuation
including the determination of valuation techniques and
the selection of different inputs in the models.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
AEHMNETNAEEBRERSIE

Our key procedures, among others, included:

AN B 2 B SRR (BR AR 7 4h) B4

* understanding and assessing the design and
implementation of the internal controls over the fair
value assessment process;

TR T A 2 SR Rl R AR Y s &
it

* assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of independent professional valuer’s
qualifications who assisted the management to
determine the valuations of investment properties;

w Al W 3 A AL T TR A 45 ) S A Y B S RS
fibi (ELHT 04 18 - BB BB

e discussing with the management and independent
professional valuer to understand the valuation
process and methodologies, the performance of the
property market, significant assumptions adopted
and critical judgements used in the valuation of
investment properties;
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e cvaluating the reasonableness of the methodologies
and assumptions adopted the relevance and accuracy
of the source data used in the valuation; and
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e considering the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures

in respect of the valuation.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Company’s 2025 annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We

have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with

Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
HKCO, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the

Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report
is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other

person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial

statements.

,
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the

override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the directors.
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¥ 3L 1% SL B0 3R B
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements — continued

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible

for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought

to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken

to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements — continued

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law and
regulation preclude public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
g p

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 26 June 2025

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’s report is:

Lam Ka Ki
Practising Certificate Number: P08258
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE_ZT_hf=A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

2025 2024
—E-RF R U
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
i & FHET THIT
Revenue from contracts with customers 7 i B %5 $t 45 YE HI| 55 1555

within HKFRS 15 Gl a9 Rl SN & 7 36,906 41,038
Revenue from other sources HoAth AR R 2 i 2 7 46,697 30,789
Interest revenue calculated using the FHEBMNBETAEZ

effective interest method FILE Wi 25 7 348,495 338,188
Revenue Uy 432,098 410,015
Other operating income HoAth & E g A 9 12,898 19,437
Other gains and losses, net oA i 25 % s 18 15 AR 10 (82,745) (109,879)
Depreciation expenses PR 2 18 (23,980) (23,704)
Commission expenses 1 4 B 32 (6,002) (5,975)
Provision of net impairment loss on LGz

intangible assets Jok L e 48 0 48 A 20 (1,000) -
Provision of net impairment loss on JRE Wi BRI 2

accounts receivable Tk e 48 V% 48 AR 6 (138,429) (128,590)
Provision of net impairment loss on BRI Z

loans and advances Tok L e 48 0 48 A4 6 (20,684) (5,803)
Reversal of net impairment loss on other HAth fE Wi 3K T8 22 %okl (L 5 48

receivables T3 FE 138 ] 6 - 59
(Provision) Reversal of net impairment % 2% 72 {H 51 A HAth 2 T i 4

loss on debt investment measured ([ %8 il ¥ 2 A fE 7 A HAth

at fair value through other 2wl ]) 2 EBEREZ

comprehensive income (“Mandatory TR e 18 I AR (T A 3% )

FVOCI”) 6 (2,098) 3,383
Staff costs B L4 11 (24,089) (26,192)
Finance costs Rl & LA 12 (59) (1,684)
Other expenses HoAth B X (43,552) (44,654)
Profit before taxation Bt Al 2 R 13 102,358 86,413
Income tax expense PREY N 15 (26,326) (9,301)
Profit for the year AEFEEER 76,032 77,112

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE



GEEZREMEEIRER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-_T-_AF=A=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 March 2025

2025 2024
—E-RE & T PUARE
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
it 1 FERT T#IT
Other comprehensive Hih2mEU = (BX)
income (expense)
Items that are reclassified or may be FE7% 2 K 5 ] BE AT A
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss — F 1R ar < HH H
Exchange difference arising on g AN S i AR 2 B S 2R AR
translation of foreign operations 3,969 8,655
Fair value (gains) losses on Mandatory 85 IRF 58 4045 £ 48 4 2 58
FVOCI reclassified to profit or loss 25 S B wH A H A 4 T i 4
upon disposal Z s ool () e 18 (247) 5
Fair value gains (losses) on Mandatory 58 il 4% 2 FeAE R A HoAth 4
FVOCI Wi 2 23 SR AE M R (s 1R) 8,604 (19,961)
Deferred tax arising on revaluation of & fifj 5 il % 28 72 {H 51 A HAth
Mandatory FVOCI 4 THT W 5 2 AE 2 90 SE B TH 32 (1,379) 3,293
Items that will not be reclassified to NEEM S HE R @ ZHA
profit or loss
Surplus on revaluation of properties Wy 2 A 2R 1,163 2,505
Deferred tax arising on revaluation of 4 3£ 5 2 A= 2 4% #iE Fi T
properties 32 (192) (413)
Total other comprehensive income rFEEHMEEKE
(expense) for the year (FAX) #%8 11,918 (5,916)
Total comprehensive income AFEETEHKREHE
for the year 87,950 71,196
Profit for the year attributable to: BTATBEERFERF :
Owners of the Company ZN/NEIE: ZSDN 41,174 35,815
Non-controlling interests T 4 41 34,858 41,297
76,032 7758)
Total comprehensive income UTATEGMZEKZELEE:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZN/NIE: XN 54,072 29,885
Non-controlling interests I P2 IR HE 4 33,878 41,311
87,950 71,196
HK cents HK cents
Al A
Earnings per share BERER
Basic A 17 0.42 0.37
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A BRI R

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZE-_RAF=A=+—H
At 31 March 2025

2025 2024
—E-RE —E T PUARE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
i FHET T T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property and equipment LEY & L] 18 463,718 485,850
Investment properties BE ) 19 1,205,315 1,105,544
Intangible assets EiFIA  9 20 6,951 7,964
Goodwill s 21 17,441 17,441
Other assets HoAh & 23 6,532 3,965
Deferred tax assets % JIE B VB & 32 23,309 23,200
Loans and advances B3R M R 24 1,948 2,341
Investments #H&E 26 80,954 136,217
1,806,168 1,782,522
Current assets REEE
Accounts receivable JE i B JE 25 1,669,298 1,864,483
Loans and advances = e T 24 495,429 388,311
Prepayments, deposits and other TEAT K TE ~ 4 T HoAh
receivables JE Wi K TE 27 16,163 13,561
Tax recoverable aJ Wi [\ i IE 81 11,362
Investments wg 26 263,031 167,525
Bank balances — client accounts WATEHER -RFRP 28 329,343 233,058
Bank balances — general accounts RATHE R — — KR P
and cash Jo B4z 29 2,744,330 2,770,918
5,517,675 5,449,218
Current liabilities REEE
Accounts payable JRE A B TH 30 314,721 251,527
Accrued charges and other payables JE 52 ) Sz LAt JE A BE T 31 348,379 8,539
Tax payable JHE A JE 32,965 25,626
696,065 285,692
Net current assets REBEEFHE 4,821,610 5,163,526
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE 6,627,778 6,946,048
Non-current liabilities kREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities 0% 2 5 TE B 1R 32 4,128 4,100
4,128 4,100
NET ASSETS EEFHE 6,623,650 6,941,948
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZE-_RAF=A=+—H
At 31 March 2025

2025 2024
—EZRF | F N
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
it & FET T#IC
Capital and reserves BEXR#E

Share capital AR 2% 966,270 966,270
Reserves 84 5,656,981 4,802,486

Equity attributable to owners of the ZANATHEE ABGER
Company 6,623,251 5,768,756
Non-controlling interests FEERERS 41 399 1,173,192
TOTAL EQUITY R 6,623,650 6,941,948

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 208 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
26 June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Hung Hon Man
HE X
Director

#HH

Fo4H BE208H AR G MBIk h#HH g
T T RHAEN A oS B HE K R T
#% 5 00ih MAEEREREE

Cham Wai Ho, Anthony
BEEH =
Director

#H
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mEREEER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ADERERE ARG
Lnvestments
Property  revaluation Non-
Share Share Special  revaluation reserve  Translation Retained controlling
capital premium feserve reserve  (recyeling) feserve profits Total interests Total
REER
ng fife
e  RGEE  KHBE  ERRE  (TER) ERRRE  REER BF FERES L
Notes HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i1 T T T T T T Tt T T T
(note i) (note ii) (note ii) (note iv) (note v)
(W) (k) (&) (W) (Wikv)
Ae 1 April 2023 REZZENA-H 966,270 293,199 159,147 343,573 (7.89) (8100 1469248 5835498 LI7LI00 7,007,598
Profit for the year KR A - - - - - - 35,815 35,815 41,297 77,112
Other comprehensive income (expense) 22 ENE ()
Irems that are reclasified or may be HEREHASATREN
reclasified subsequently o profit or lss AEERZEH
- Exchange difference arising on ~BRINERREL
translation of foreign operations ERER = - - - - 8,655 - 8,655 - 8,55
- Fair value losses on Mandatory - hERERMER RS
FVOCI reclassified to profic or loss LEHEAREA
upon disposal HHAENEZ AR
i : : : : ; : : ; - ;
- Rairvalue losses on Mandaory VOCL — ~B AR BT AL M
ARG AN
BB - = = - (19,961) - - (19,961) - (19,961)
- Deferred tax arising on revaluation of ~ ~E B ARMFIA
Mandatory FVOCI Aoz EhaEE,
ERLHA 3 - - - - 3,093 - - 3093 - 3,093
Ttems that will not be reclasified t FEEAEEG
profit or los
- Surplus on revaluation of properties -DERRE = = = 2,488 - - - 1488 17 2505
- Deferted tax arising on revaluacion of ~ ~ /£ EffEEZ
properties BERA 3 - = = (410) - - - (410) ) (413)
Total other comprehensive income Af2EYE (F%)4E
(expense) - - - 2,078 (16,663) 8,655 - (5,930) 14 (5,916)
Total comprehensive income (expense) REE2ENE (X
for the year 25 - - - WE (16663 865 BAS B A3 7L
Transactions with equity holders EREREAZRS
Contributions and distributions HERTE
~ Dividends paid to owners ~ i #H AR RE 16 - - - - - - 96,627) 96,627) - 96,627)
- Dividends paid to non-controlling ~HEAERELA
interests of a non-wholly owned FHERERREL
subsidiary i3} = - - - - - - - (40319) (40519)
_ - - - . = (96,627) 96,627) (40,519) (137,146)
Changes in ownership nierest RERERZT
- Set-up a non-wholly owned subsidiary ~ —tir—fiH2 EHE
A L - = = - - - - 300 300
- - - - = - - - 300 300
At 31 March 2024 RZB-RE=A=1-A 966,270 2,953,199 159,147 345,651 (64,502) 955 1,408,436 5,768,756 1,173,192 6,041,948
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

KDERERE ARG
Investments
Property  revaluation Non-
Share Share Special  revaluation reserve  Translation Retained controlling
aapital premium feserve teserve  (recyeling) feserve profits Total interests Total
i g
Bk RbEE ARG EGRE  (TEE) EIRE  REER B FERER i
Notes HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
[if:1 T T T T T T T T T T
(note i) (note ii) (note i) (note iv) (note v)
(W) (k) (W) () (B3t
At 1 Aprl 2024 REZZWERA-H 966,270 293,199 159,147 345,651 (64,502 555 1408436 576876 LITAIL 6941948
Profit for the year KEEEH = = = = = - 41,174 41,174 34,858 76,032
Other comprehensive income (expense) 2t 2ENE ()
Ttems that are reclasified or may be ERENTEATREN
reclasified subsequently o profit or lss FHEER T
- Exchange difference arising on ~BRINERREL
translation of foreign operations EREH - - - - - 4963 - 4963 (994) 3,969
- Fair value gains on Mandatory - hERERMEZ S
FVOCI reclassified to profic or ZEHEAETA
loss upon disposal EhAmkEz AR
s - - = = (247) = - (47) = (247)
- Fair value gains on Mandwory VOCL— — Sl AR AL
REREZ AN
& - - - - 8,604 - - 8,604 - 8,604
- Deferred tax arising on revaluation of ~ ~EF B ARHFA
Mandatory FVOCI Ab2mlgets
EERA k) - - - = (1,379) = = (1,379) = (1,379)
Ttems that will not be recasified t FEEFTEEERFl
profit or los
- Surplus on revaluation of properties -YERRRRE - - - 1,146 - - - 1,146 17 1,163
- Deferted tax arising on revaluacion of £ EfEEZ
properties BERA 3 - - = (189) = - - (189) () (192)
Total other comprehensive income Ef2EYE (FR) 48
(expense) - - - 957 6,978 4963 - 12,898 (980) 11918
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2AUEEE = = - 957 6978 4963 41,174 54,072 33,878 §7.950
Transactions with equity holders EREREAZRS
Contributions and distributions HERAE
- Dividends paid to owners ~ A AREZRE 16 - - - - - - (48,314) (48,314) - (48,314)
- Dividends paid to non-controlling —HEZEREAT
interests of a non-wholly owned FRMERRE
subsidiary VA &) - - - - - - - - (20279) (20279)
= = : = - - (48,314) (48.314) (20,279) (68,593)
Changes in ownership inserests Vid it
- Acquisition of non-controlling —IE— B AR Z
inteests in a subsidiary Ped iy 4 36 - - 848,737 - - - - 8737 (L1863 (337,655
- = 848,737 - - - : 848737 (L18639D)  (337.659)
At31 March 2025 R=BZRF=A=t-8 966,270 2953199 L0788 346,608 (57.54) 5518 1401296 6623251 399 6,623,650
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GRAEEBER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE

—TERF=A=1+—HIFE

Year ended 31 March 2025

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds or
consideration from issuance of the Company’s shares over their par
value.

Under the Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium of the Company is available for distribution
or paying dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of
its: Memorandum and Articles of Association and provided that
immediately following the distribution of dividends, the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

The special reserve of the Group represents the following:

As set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 24 May 2002,
a group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) was completed on
16 May 2002, which principally involved the exchange of shares
of the Company with all the issued share capital of Get Nice
Incorporated (“GN Incorporated”). An amount of approximately
HK$123,337,000 represents the difference between the nominal
value of the shares of the subsidiaries together with the net book
value of a subordinated loan capitalised at the date on which they
were acquired by the Company and the nominal amount of the
Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the
Reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares, as
well as the difference between the consolidated shareholders” funds
of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the GN
Incorporated’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the
Reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares.

As set out in the prospectus of GNFG (defined in Note 41),
a subsidiary of the Company, dated 24 March 2016 (the
“Prospectus”), sharcholders of the Company would be entitled
to one share of GNFG for every 40 shares of the Company held
on the Record Date (as defined in the Prospectus). An amount of
approximately HK$35,810,000 represents the difference between
the proportionate share of the interest in GNFG and the net assets
value on Record Date in relation to the distribution in specie
arising from the listing of the shares of GNFG on 8 April 2016.

As set out in note 36, a group reorganisation was effective
on 25 March 2025, all GNFG’s shares other than those held
by the Company (the “Scheme Shares”) were cancelled and
extinguished in exchange for the consideration for the cancellation
and extinguishment of the Scheme Shares (the “Scheme
Consideration”). The amount of approximately HK$848,737,000
represents (i) the fair value of the Scheme Consideration of
approximately HK$340,356,000 which was subsequently
recognised as share capital and share premium upon the issue of
new shares on 3 April 2025 and (ii) the difference between the
carrying amount of net assets of GNFG attributable to the holders
of the Scheme Shares adjusted and the fair value of the Scheme
Consideration of approximately HK$508,381,000.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

B RE -

(i)

(ii)

e 053 i 1 B AR B AT AR O R B4 2 BT 4% 3K
LR RN PR BN P o

R B 2R AR (RIERT) » ARRZ
JBe 93 ¥ 35 R T g TR A4 Ak = P A A % A )
Z ARSIy IR BRUR A B o 1 B BE RS 2
URAZ > ASON R REH ST AR H O 26T R R
2 A -

B B 2 A £ AR DT A% 0

U /NCNE G2 B = S S i 5 1
HeMBERma —HEFEA (&
M) ER_FF_HFAATANHEEL
A T2 e LUAS 4 ] SRR 22 #Get Nice
Incorporated ([ GN Incorporated ]) Z & #E
BEATIBA - #9123,337,000 7T 2 SCH LR
WAF JB > 0 B A T B % — AR JB ok 2 IR T
T (DR AL A S B &AL » i
A FAEAS N B By b T i AT E AL
WA S T 3 AT 2 P 0 L 2 RO 25 > AR
o WS S Y R 2 AR A BORE B > BIGN
Incorporated 7E A 24w it fy b i1 i #E 47 5 20
B3 25y WAL S T 8 A 2 S £ T {EL F) 22 38 o

AT AR T B JRS A  l (E 2 LB R
41) HIA A —F—RFE=H 1T WHZ K
B ([IHBERE ) Frak » A @ s A
MERA OB H ) (BR AR ER) F6 5
40 B AN T 00y A s — e A5 i & B R o
#135,810,0009 JC 2 FXAA A 2 4 07 4 il 2
HE 25 2 EAG L {51 > B 465 i 4 Al B A
—7NAE N A N H BT E A 2B Y 4 IR A B
B RO Bk H G E T 2 MR =5 -

SN B RE3CAT R > —THAE M EAL L R —F
CHE=SH S H AR AN T
JBE 103 LA A1 22 BT AT 6 4 4 m R 0y (Tt 31 i
1) B Bl EE 85 K S BR o AF B # BT 8 K
Bk B R 2 AR (TREEIRAMED - &
848,737,000%5 JC 2 X AR AL K () w8 A4 E A&
Ft{H #1340,356,000% 06 » HE R —F
£ DY A = B BT 8 0 R R A A %
Pys 18 > R (i) 48 98 28 5t ey 22 1 A A\ JE
i 5% - 4 Pl VR O E IR T BRL T AR S
{H 2 % 49508,381,000% JC ©



aEmEHER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(iii) Property revaluation reserve deals with revaluation adjustments of

(iv)

v)

property and equipment in accordance with the accounting policies
adopted in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Investment revaluation reserve (recycling) represents the cumulative
net changes in the fair value of Mandatory FVOCI, if any, at the
end of the reporting period and is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies adopted.

Translation reserve of the Group comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from translation of the financial statements of
the Group’s subsidiaries that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies as set out in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

(iii) 40 3 T A ol AR B 5 4 PO SR R R 2 B

(iv)

)

A B TR ) 2 e B < FE AL T o

0 T A 4R (T A ) i R A 0RO A 4%
N AAEREA KA 2 i s <~ R lE 2 REt
) (A7) - S BT BR T A9 & 5 BOR
L

7B ) 2 S £ 4 45 TR 40 T A 4 R
AT (FLIhRE & R B R AR 2 S
iR A P A E L ZE R o AR R AR S
Y s S o B R 2 B R T 2 R R R B
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BHE_T-_AF=A=1+—HLEFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

2025 2024
—E-RE —E 4R
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FET T 0

OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXK
Profit before taxation i AT ¥ A 102,358 86,413
Adjustments for: KR
Depreciation expenses e B ¢ 18 23,980 23,704
Provision of net impairment loss on JRRE i R JE 2 i (B 4R

accounts receivable AR 6 138,429 128,590
Provision of net impairment loss on B B BGR 7 WA s 1E

loans and advances AR 6 20,684 5,803
Provision (Reversal) of net impairment 5 ffill % 2 70 {6 51 A HoAth 4 T

loss on Mandatory FVOCI WA A 2 Dok s 4L 30 8 A

(45 1) 6 2,098 (3,383)

Provision of net impairment loss on I G2

intangible assets RN Ei= REik kL 20 1,000 =
Reversal of net impairment loss on At 1R WA T 2 T (L R 1R

other receivables 5 R A8 (7] 6 - (59)
Fair value changes on investment BREWEZAREES)

properties 19 94,363 53,998
Fair value changes on financial assets #/\fﬁfﬁ sE AR R

at fair value through profit or loss (4% 2 oMl nf)\f

(“FVPL”) éﬁﬂ%f;%ﬂ’a/\ftﬁi EJJ 10 (11,280) 63,523
(Gains) Losses on disposal/redemption 8 /i [A] §% /> L (HFFA

of financial assets at FVPL Hit 2 SRS EZ ()

518 10 (1,112) 137

(Gains) Losses on disposal of H S O i e 2 Fo B R A HA

Mandatory FVOCI YA 2 (Wdi) 1R 10 (243) 3
Gain on disposal of property and W € Kol 2 iR

equipment 10 - (7,603)
Gain on disposal of intangible assets 8 P B & 2 Uk A 10 - (1,500)
(Gain) Loss on disposal of H A — R g A Al 2

a subsidiary (M 2 ) fE5 48 10 (18) 732
Finance costs Tl & AR 12 59 1,684
Interest income FlLE WA (163,770) (155,654)
Dividend income i B A 9 (2,579) (3,471)
Operating cash flows before movements /& %8 ¥ 4 5 B)) {ij 2

in working capital KEBSRE 203,969 192,917
Changes in working capital SR L )

Other assets HoAh & (2,567) 741

Accounts receivable JE Wi B T 56,756 86,136

Loans and advances B EGR (127,409) (22,980)

Prepayments, deposits and other TEATRIE ~ He e

receivables e L A JEE A SR T (3,4006) 23,581

Bank balances — client accounts SRATE B —FFIRF (96,285) 85,799

Accounts payable JRE At B 35 63,194 (97,708)

Accrued charges and other payables JE ST 25 FH B . Ath JE A+ 3B 2,185 (4,734)
Cash generated from operations R i Bl 96,437 263,752
Interest income received & W A g A 164,582 156,379
Interest paid on clients” accounts EFRF ZEfFE (55) (55)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid C A & s A1 Bl (5,916) (8,145)
Overseas tax paid B 1 S B IR (3,437) (3,078)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING REXBRBFRS

ACTIVITIES 251,611 408,853

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

—hRF=A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

2025 2024
ZBE-AF | E U
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Wit FERT T#C
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXG
Purchase of financial assets at FVPL MR RN R AR 2
S RlEE (6,252) (36,694)
Proceeds from redemption of financial —fi# [EI A REF AR
asset at FVPL 4 Rl Z@ﬁ%f)’( - 62,136
Proceeds from disposal of financial asset & % /A o (H n+)\ Bz
at FVPL S BB 2 B AR 7,902 2,015
Purchase of Mandatory FVOCI T T e A A R oAt
& (29,588) (25,666)
Proceeds from disposal of Mandatory £ 5@ il #% /> 7 (H LT]\,\ 1ty
FVOCI ENIEIE PR E el 6,224 1,956
Purchase of property and equipment Wi B ) 2 N st (685) (3,092)
Proceeds from disposal of property and ﬁ L E N & & PR
equipment A - 7,603
Proceeds from disposal of intangible faty 2 % MY & 2 TS 3E
assets - 2,000
Refund of trading right 3G HE 2 IR K 13 50
Purchase of investment properties WE R EY) E 19 (190,145) (24,852)
Net cash inflows arising from disposal 8 — [H] i} J& 2 & 2= 4 2
of a subsidiary BL& A A 18 14,499
Net cash outflow arising from WA 5 — [ A o > D E A
acquisition of a subsidiary 4 H AR - (11,875)
Dividend received A 2,579 3,471
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REXEBFAZFZRE
ACTIVITIES (209,934) (8,449)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES Al & 1%
Interest paid eSS (4) (1,629)
Dividends paid eI E 16 (48,314) (96,627)
Dividends paid to non-controlling B AT — [ I 2 E R 8 A A
interests of a non-wholly owned I P R HE 45 2 T’
subsidiary (20,279) (40,519)
Repayment of bank borrowings fE =BT & - (89,263)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING R EXBFIHZ
ACTIVITIES FRE (68,597) (228,038)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and HEREBEESEEER
cash equivalents =R 2) % (26,920) 172,366
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, &M [ 2% 5 B)) 2 5% 28 75 6
net 332 203
Cash and cash equivalents at the BREHIDBRERASE
beginning of the reporting period £@EER 2,770,918 2,598,349
Cash and cash equivalents at theend HREHREESREE
of the reporting period, represented H{EEE & ERTHERK
by bank balances and cash BE 2,744,330 2,770,918
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
Get Nice Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was

incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company limited by shares and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its immediate and ultimate holding company
is Honeylink Agents Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands with limited liability of which
the entire share capital is beneficially owned by Mr. Hung
Hon Man, who is also a director of the Company. The
Company’s registered office is located at P.O. Box 31119
Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1205, Cayman Islands and its principal
place of business is located at Ground Floor to 3rd Floor,
Cosco Tower, Grand Millennium Plaza, 183 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note

41 to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the

functional currency of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards, which
collective term includes all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (the “HKCO?”). The
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”).

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand,

unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted
in the 2024 consolidated financial statements except for
the adoption of the following revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are relevant to the Group and effective from

the current year.

Adoption of revised HKFRS Accounting Standards
Amendments to HKAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current

The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying
the requirements by helping companies determine whether,
in the statement of financial position, debt and other
liabilities with an uncertain settlement date should be
classified as current (due or potentially due to be settled
within one year) or non-current. The amendments include
clarifying the classification requirements for debt a company

might settle by converting it into equity.

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES —

continued

Adoption of revised HKFRS Accounting Standards —

continued

Amendments to HKAS 1: Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants

The amendments specify that covenants to be complied
with after the reporting date do not affect the classification
of debt as current or non-current at the reporting date.
Instead, the amendments require a company to disclose
information about these covenants in the notes to the

consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HK Interpretation 5: Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

This Interpretation is revised as a consequence of the
above Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding

wordings with no change in conclusion.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7: Supplier Finance

Arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure requirements to
enhance the transparency of supplier finance arrangements
and their effects on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and

exposure to liquidity risk.

Amendments to HKFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

The amendments require a seller-lessee to subsequently
determine lease payments arising from a sale and leaseback
in a way that it does not recognise any amount of the gain
or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The new
requirements do not prevent a seller-lessee from recognising
in profit or loss any gain or loss relating to the partial or full

termination of a lease.

The adoption of the above amendments does not have any

significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except
for buildings, investment properties and investments, which
are measured at revalued amounts or fair value, as explained

in the accounting policies set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
continued
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as that of the Company using

consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses
and profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full upon consolidation. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated until

the date that such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from
owners of the Company, in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and within
equity in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in event of
liquidation, are measured initially either at fair value or at
the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. This choice of measurement basis is made on an

acquisition-by-acquisition basis.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests on the basis of existing ownership
interests and the possible exercise of conversion of potential
voting rights is not considered. Total comprehensive income
is attributed to the owners of the Company and the existing
non-controlling interests even if this results in the existing

non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

0%

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
continued

Basis of consolidation — continued

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of

the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest determined at the
date when control is lost and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
and any non-controlling interests at the date when control
is lost. The amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the disposed subsidiary
are accounted for on the same basis as would be required
if the parent had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Any investment retained in the former subsidiary
and any amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary are
accounted for as a financial asset, associate, joint venture or

others as appropriate from the date when control is lost.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is measured
at the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree (if applicable)
and the fair value of any previously held equity interest
in the acquiree over the acquisition date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of the

acquired business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
continued
Goodwill — continued

Goodwill on acquisition of business is recognised as a
separate asset and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, which is tested for impairment annually
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. For the
purpose of impairment test and determination of gain or
loss on disposal, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating

units. An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed.

On the other hand, any excess of the acquisition
date amounts of identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed of the acquired business over the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree (if applicable)
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acquiree, if any, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as an income
from bargain purchase. Any resulting gain or loss arising
from remeasuring the previously held equity interests in
the acquiree at the acquisition-date fair value is recognised
in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as

appropriate.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it
controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that

there are changes to one or more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which
is presented in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. The carrying amount
of the investments is reduced to its recoverable amount
on an individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable
amount. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the

Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

HE-_Z_RAF=A=1T—HILFE
Year ended 31 March 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES —

continued
Property and equipment

Property and equipment, other than buildings, are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to

profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Buildings are stated at revalued amount, being the fair value
at the date of valuation less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. Fair value is determined
by independent valuations which are performed annually.
Increases in valuation are credited to the property revaluation
reserve. Decreases in valuation are first offset against increases
on ecarlier valuations in respect of the same asset and are
thereafter charged to profit or loss. Any subsequent increases
are credited to profit or loss up to the amount previously

charged and thereafter to property revaluation reserve.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated

impairment losses of property and equipment over their

estimated useful lives from the date on which they are available

for use and after taking into account their estimated residual

values, using the straight-line method, at the following rates

per annum:

Leasehold land Shorter of the term of the lease,

or 25 years

Buildings Shorter of the term of the lease,
or 25 years

Leasehold improvements ~ Shorter of the term of the lease,
or 5 to 10 years

Motor vehicles and yacht 4 to 10 years

Office equipment 3 to 5 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 to 7 years

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in

the year in which the item is derecognised.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -

continued
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties that are held by owner
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. These
include properties held for a currently undetermined future
use and properties that are held under operating lease,
which satisfy the definition of investment property and

carry at fair value.

Investment properties are stated at fair value at the end of
the reporting period. Any gain or loss arising from a change

in fair value is recognised in profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the year in which the item is

derecognised.

Intangible assets

Trading rights

Trading rights confer eligibility on the Group to trade
on the Stock Exchange. The trading rights have no
foreseeable limit to the period over which the Group
can use to generate cash flows. As a result, the trading
rights are considered by the management of the Group
as having indefinite useful lives because they are expected
to contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely. The
trading rights will not be amortised until its useful life is
determined to be finite. They will be tested for impairment
annually and whenever there is an indication that they may

be impaired.

The useful life of the trading rights is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues
to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is account for on a

prospective basis.
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0%

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
continued

Intangible assets — continued

Club memberships

Club memberships with indefinite useful life are stated at
costs less any impairment losses. Impairments are reviewed
annually or when there are any indications that the club

memberships have suffered impairment loss.

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i)
the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from the
financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial
asset and either (a) it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain

control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group

continues to recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control
the transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial
asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and an

associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -

continued

Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets — continued
Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for accounts receivable without
a significant financing component within HKFRS 15)
are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the
case of financial assets not carried at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets.
Such accounts receivable are initially measured at their

transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as
(i) measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“Mandatory FVOCI”); (iii) equity investment
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“Designated FVOCI”) or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash
flow characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified
subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group
changes its business model for managing them, in which
case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first
day of the first annual reporting period following the

change in the business model.

1)  Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect

contractual cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES —

continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Classification and measurement — continued

1)

2)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost — continued

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation

process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include
accounts receivable, loans and advances, deposits and
other receivables, bank balances — client accounts and

bank balances — general accounts and cash.

Mandatory FVOCI
A financial asset is measured at Mandatory FVOCI if

both of the following conditions are met and is not
designated as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect

contractual cash flows and for sale; and

(ii) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The financial asset is subsequently measured at fair
value. Interest calculated using the effective interest
method, impairment gains or losses and foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss. Other gains or losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income until the financial asset is
derecognised. When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or

loss as a reclassification adjustment.

The Group’s financial assets at Mandatory FVOCI

include quoted debt securities.
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g R E U

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -

continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Classification and measurement — continued

3)

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that
are not measured at amortised cost or FVOCI,
including financial assets held for trading, financial
assets designated upon initial recognition as at
FVPL, financial assets resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement in a business combination
to which HKFRS 3 applies and financial assets that are
otherwise required to be measured at FVPL. They are
carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and loss
recognised in profit or loss, which does not include
any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.
Dividend or interest income is presented separately

from fair value gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it

in the near term;

(ii) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(iii) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee
contract or not a designated and effective hedging

instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition
as at FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency
that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or
liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on them on
different bases.

The Group’s financial assets mandatorily measured at
FVPL include listed equity securities, unlisted debt
securities and unlisted equity securities.
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0%

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when
the liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or

expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value
plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are direct attributable to the issue of

the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts payable,
accrued charges and other payables. All financial liabilities
are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method, unless the effect of discounting would be

insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECL on financial
assets that are measured at amortised cost, Mandatory
FVOCI to which the impairment requirements apply
in accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific
treatments as detailed below, at each reporting date, the
Group measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at
an amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on
that financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an

amount equal to 12-month ECL.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -

continued

Financial instruments — continued
Impairment of financial assets — continued
Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e.
the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life

of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due
to an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the

entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12

months after the reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or

more shared credit risk characteristics:
(i) past due information

(ii) nature of instrument

(iii) nature of collateral

(iv) industry of debtors

(v) geographical location of debtors
(vi) external credit risk ratings

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and
loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes in the
loss allowance are recognised as an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the financial instrument, except in the
case of Mandatory FVOCI, the loss allowance is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the

investment revaluation reserve (recycling).
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0%

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
continued

Financial instruments — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes
as historical experience indicates that the Group may not
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full if
the financial instrument that meets any of the following

criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group);

or

(ii) there is a breach of financial covenants by the

counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging

default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of sigm'ﬁnmt increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In particular, the following information

is taken into account in the assessment:

e the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or

interest on the due dates;

* an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating

(if available);
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -

continued

Financial instruments — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk — continued

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor; and

e actual or expected changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have or
may have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s

ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30

days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the

reporting date.

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk

if:
(a) it has a low risk of default;

(b) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its

contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(c) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash

flow obligations.

As detailed in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements,
the financial instruments determined to have low credit risk
includes bank balances — client accounts and bank balances —

general accounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES —
continued
Financial instruments — continued
Impairment of financial assets — continued

Simplified approach of ECL

For accounts receivable other than margin clients and loans
and advances without a significant financing component,
the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL.
The Group recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECL at each reporting date and has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,

adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors

and the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that

a financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data

about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower.

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due

event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,

having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the

lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial

asset because of financial difficulties.

() the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a

deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
continued

Financial instruments — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has
no reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual
cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof. The Group has a policy of writing off the gross
carrying amount based on historical experience of recoveries
of similar assets. The Group expects no significant recovery
from the amount written off. However, financial assets
that are written off could still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s procedures for recovery
of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if
appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit

or loss.

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash equivalents represent short-term highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. For classification
in the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
equivalents represent assets similar in nature to cash and

which are not restricted as to use.

Revenue recognition
Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognised when
the assets are let out and on the straight-line basis over the
lease term. Variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate are initially measured using the index or rate at
the commencement date and subsequently adjusted when
such index or rate changes. Such payments are recognised as
income on the straight-line basis over the lease term. Other
variable lease payments are recognised as income in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers those

payments occurs.
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BHE_T-_AF=A=1+—HLEFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 2. FESHBE-&

continued
Revenue recognition — continued
Dividend income

Dividend income from financial assets is recognised when
the Group’s rights to receive dividend is established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably. Dividend income from
investments is recognised when the shareholders™ rights to

receive payment have been established.

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group

is as follows:

(a) Asset management services
(b) Broking services

(c) Corporate finance services
(d) Auction services

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or
services promised in a contract with a customer and
identifies as a performance obligation each promise to

transfer to the customer either:

(a) agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that

is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and that have the same pattern

of transfer to the customer.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -

continued
Revenue recognition — continued

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

— continued
Identification of performance obligations — continued

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct

if both of the following criteria are met:

(a) the customer can benefit from the good or service
cither on its own or together with other resources that
are readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or

service is capable of being distinct); and

(b) the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service
to the customer is separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer
the good or service is distinct within the context of the

contract).

Timing ofrevenm recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred

when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over
time and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and
recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria

is met:

(a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the

Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example, work in progress) that the customer

controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance

completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

0%

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES —
continued
Revenue recognition — continued

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

— continued
Timing of revenue recognition — continued

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the
Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the promised
asset. In determining when the transfer of control occurs,
the Group considers the concept of control and such
indicators as legal title, physical possession, right to
payment, significant risks and rewards of ownership of the

asset, and customer acceptance.
Revenue is recognised on the following bases:

e Commission income for broking business is recorded

as income at a point in time on a trade date basis;

e Underwriting commission income, sub-underwriting
income, placing commission and sub-placing commission
are recognised as income at a point in time in accordance
with the terms of the underlying agreement or deal

mandate when relevant significant act has been completed;

e Proof of funds commission and clearing and handling
fee income are recognised at a point in time when
the relevant transactions have been arranged or the

relevant services have been rendered;

e Advisory fee income and asset management fee income
are recognised over time when the relevant transactions
have been arranged or the relevant services have been

rendered; and

e Commission income for auction business is recorded as
income at a point in time in accordance with the terms
of the underlying agreement or deal mandate when

relevant significant act has been completed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES —
continued
Revenue recognition — continued

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

— continued
Timing of revenue recognition — continued

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15,
provided the outcome of the performance obligation can
be reasonably measured, the Group applies the output
method (i.e. based on the direct measurements of the value
to the customer of the goods or services transferred to
date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract) to measure the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation
because the method provides a faithful depiction of the
Group’s performance and reliable information is available
to the Group to apply the method. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of the costs incurred until
such time that it can reasonably measure the outcome of the

performance obligation.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using
the effective interest method. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost or Mandatory FVOCI that are not
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the assets while it is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount net of loss

allowance) in case of credit-impaired financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 2. FESHBE-&

continued
Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in the currency of HK$, which is

also the Company’s functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are recognised in
profit or loss except for those arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the gains or

losses are also recognised directly in equity.

The results and financial position of all the group entities

that have a functional currency different from the presentation
& o " :

currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the

presentation currency as follows:

e Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at

the end of the reporting period.

e Income and expenses for each statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are translated at

average exchange rate and

e All resulting exchange differences arising from the
above translation and exchange differences arising from
a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net
investment in a foreign operation are recognised as a

separate component of equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
continued
Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
internal and external sources of information to assess
whether there is any indication that its property and
equipment, intangible assets and the Company’s
investments in subsidiaries may be impaired or impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may be
reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the smallest group of assets that generates cash

flows independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are

recognised as an expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in
prior years. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as an

income in profit or loss immediately.

The accounting policy for recognition of the impairment
loss for goodwill is stated in the accounting policy for

goodwill in the earlier part of this note.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on
the temporary investment of the specific borrowings, that
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an

expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES —

continued
Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term
leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated
with these leases are recognised as an expense on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified

components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease

liability at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which

comprises:

(a) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date, less any lease incentives received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying asset,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are

incurred to produce inventories.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -

continued
Leases — continued
As lessee — continued

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement
of the lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and
the estimated useful lives of the right-of-use asset (unless
the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the

Group by the end of the lease term).

The lease liability is initially measured at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the

commencement date of the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise the following payments for the right
to use the underlying asset, if any, during the lease term

that are not paid at the commencement date:

(a) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed

payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a

TFENES

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual value

guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is

reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to

terminate the lease.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
continued

Leases — continued

As lessee — continued

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable,

the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease

payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount
rate when there are changes to the lease payments arising
from a change in the lease term or the reassessment of
whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a

purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original
discount rate when there is a change in the residual value
guarantee, the in-substance fixed lease payments or the
future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
a rate (other than floating interest rate). In case of a change
in future lease payments resulting from a change in floating
interest rates, the Group remeasures the lease liability using

a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced
to zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement
of the lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining

amount of the remeasurement in profit or loss.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -

continued
Leases — continued
As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance
lease or an operating lease at the inception date of the
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the underlying asset. All other leases are

classified as operating leases.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease
contract as a lease separately from non-lease components of the
contract. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract

to each lease component on a relative stand-alone price basis.

As lessor — operating lease

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment

requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease receivables.

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the

associated services are rendered by employees.

Retirement benefit costs

Payment to defined contribution retirement benefit scheme
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised
as expenses when employees have rendered service entitling

them to the contributions.
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HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

0%

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
continued

Employee benefits — continued

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service
payments under the Employment Ordinance is the amounts
of future benefit that employees have earned in return
for their services in the current and prior periods. The
obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit
method and discounted to its present value and after
deducting the fair value of any related assets, including

those retirement scheme benefits.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based transactions

The Group’s employees, including directors, receive remuneration
in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby the
employees rendered services in exchange for shares or rights over

shares.

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant
date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period or is recognised as an expense in full at the grant
date when share options granted vest immediately, with a

corresponding increase in equity.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve

will be transferred to retained profits/accumulated losses.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at fair value of the goods
or services received, except where the fair value cannot be
reliably estimated, in which case they are measured at fair
value of the equity instruments granted. In all cases, the fair
value is measured at the date the Group obtains the goods

or the counterparty renders the services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
continued
Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results
for the period as adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition
of goodwill; or other asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and

deductible temporary differences is not recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and
tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at

the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and

credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising
on investment in subsidiaries except where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will

not reverse in the foreseeable future.

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

TEEHBRR-&

Bi1R

B e 45 Bt S S AR 98 S AR
B Sz U ZH R EAS BT 0 OE B AR
TR o S5 R BT R 2 R S A A%
W WK ATEE MR EC AT 2B

R A B T ) L M B B B
TP f 5 5 R 3R R0 T T 22 R TR L T ik
HWRZ A B R AR - R AR
LT R HA o SR > 020 A SR R B
—IHAZ Gy (CGEF & BFBRAE) 2 HoAt &
7 BB AR T A AT AT AR SE B IE - A
FOA 22 5y W A 22 B8 ik ) R SR
i M B 4R S S 0 7 A A A 1Y B R B
Lo w] 0900 R 22 B AN AT o

R S B TE P M BRI AR SR R
REBEATECE M L C AT 2B KB
% kIl E O R AR 0 T
WM 2 BLREHE -

fief AT BE A R A€ M SR B i A AT AF 4R
S AT 1R R 22 A - BUH R R KK
G S e R A S B TH A

0 3 B T T 0 S Y B s W 2 B E A
2 W W 2 R AT AR A MR R S
AR 1] 2 Ry (] phy A 4 I 42 ol R IR R
22 RS T S5t 2A€ AR T RE A & 5% [0
RS o

Annual Report 2025 &%

103



104

r B B T 8 SR B R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES —

continued
Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income over the years necessary to match the
grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended
to compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair
value is credited to a deferred income account/recognised as
a deduction from the carrying amount of the relevant asset
and is released to profit or loss over the expected useful life

of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

The benefit of a government loan received at a below-market
rate of interest is treated as a government grant. The benefit
of the below-market rate of interest shall be measured as the
difference between the initial fair value of the loan and the

proceeds received.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-_AF=A=+—HILFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -

continued

Related parties — continued

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each holding
company, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is

related to the others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are

also related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a

holding company of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which

it is a part, provides key management personnel

services to the Group.

Year ended 31 March 2025
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Year ended 31 March 2025

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES —

continued
Related parties — continued

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity

and include:
(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;

and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or

domestic partner.

In definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes

subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s chief operating decision maker, who is
the Board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company, for
the purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and

geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material

may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

3. FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRS 3. EBMBRESTERMRRE
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 5 E)
At the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial WEEE MBS EEM R H > Fie

w A2 B B AR A DA T R A AR B 1 oK A
RCA SR B R AT SR A ER M) 2 BEAE ST &

statements, the HKICPA has issued the following revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards that are not yet effective for

the current year, which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability [!! FWGFHE 21 Bz A
P ERT
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the s B R R B TR B
and HKFRS 7 Classification and B R BRI BB
Measurement of Financial e e I B 758 2
Instruments ©?! (5]
Annual Improvements to ~ Volume 11 2 MG HEas e
HKFRS Accounting e R 2 S U
Standards
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing T v B S A R R AR B SR AR
and HKFRS 7 Nature-dependent FORBEFWME  EEBNNAR
Electricity ik HE RIS 758 2
(3
HKERS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in vk s A R R BB R 2 251 B
Financial Statements ©! S18%E g0
HKEFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public T v S A YRR N R T
Accountability: Disclosures ! 1958 | UNGIE T
Amendments to HKFRS  Sale or Contribution of Assets B B R RO E AR A
10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its B0 XA AEGEEEL
Associate or Joint Venture FHHERI SR 2855 2 W2 & S B
BT g
W Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January [ AR - HERZEMIGR
2025 A J5 0 ] A 5%
@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January B REETANE—A - AR RGN
2026 A B JT T A 5
BI Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January Bl R EE-A - AR RERN
2027 A B T T A 3

The effective date to be determined

The Board does not anticipate that the adoption of these
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in future periods will

have any material impact on the result of the Group.

o A B e wH R o

W AEXH AR

1 T R 2AE U] ] BR A S S 1B
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HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and
judgements are made by the management in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the
application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and
disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis
and are based on experience and relevant factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate,
revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period of revision and future periods, in case the revision

also affects future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for
financial assets at amortised cost including accounts receivable,
loans and advances, other receivables and Mandatory FVOCI
by using various inputs and assumptions including risk of
a default and expected loss rate. The estimation involves
high degree of uncertainty which is based on the Group’s
historical information, recoverable amount of pledged
properties and securities collateral, past collection history
of borrowers, concentration risk of borrowers, the Group’s
actual loss experience, existing market conditions as well
as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount of
the financial assets at amortised cost and Mandatory FVOCI.
Details of the key assumption and inputs used in estimating
ECL are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS - continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty — continued

Fair value of investment properties/buildings at

revaluation

The fair value of investment properties located in
Hong Kong and the United Kingdom and building in
revaluation model was determined by an independent
firm of professional valuers and/or by the directors of
the Company. The valuation performed was arrived at
with reference to recent market transaction prices at the
end of reporting period and/or market rental value for
similar properties at similar locations with total fair value
of investment properties and buildings approximately
HK$1,205,315,000 (2024: HK$1,105,544,000) and
HK$58,704,000 (2024: HK$60,064,000) at 31 March
2025 respectively. Favourable or unfavourable changes
to recent market prices would result in (i) changes in
the fair value of the Group’s investment properties and
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss
reported in profit or loss; and (ii) change in the revaluation
amount of the buildings of the Group and corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in other

comprehensive income.

Tax losses

At the end of the reporting period, no deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of certain tax losses of
approximately HK$266,683,000 (2024: HK$261,870,000)
due to the majority of the balances are subject to further
approval by the local tax authority. In addition, the
realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where the
actual future profits generated are more than expected, a
material recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which

such recognition takes place.

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025
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Year ended 31 March 2025

5.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital
structure of the Group consists of debt when applicable,
and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital as disclosed in note 33
to the consolidated financial statements respectively and
reserves as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. The management reviews the capital
structure by considering the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. In view of this, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged throughout the

year.

Certain group entities are regulated by the Hong Kong
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) and
are required to comply with the financial resources
requirements according to the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (the “SF(FR)R”). The
Group’s regulated entities are subject to minimum paid-up
share capital requirements and liquid capital requirements
under the SE(FR)R. Management closely monitors, on a
daily basis, the liquid capital level of these entities to ensure
compliance with the minimum liquid capital requirements
under the SF(FR)R. The Group’s regulated entities have
complied with the capital requirements imposed by the
SE(FR)R throughout the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024.
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BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. EMTIT A
Categories of financial instruments ZEEMITE
2025 2024
—EB-REF R 4R
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
R 5 FET T
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at FVPL &N REFF AR R 2
4 Rl E 220,328 209,586
Amortised cost Fiz 340 5 B A (a) 5,254,045 5,271,324
Mandatory FVOCI 58 il 4% A SRAEFEA
A 2 T i 45 123,657 94,156

Financial liabilities ctHMEeE

Amortised cost T 1 81 A AS (b) (661,124) (259,498)

Notes: !

(a) Financial assets at amortised cost include accounts receivable, (a) FEHESH BUAS T & 2 4 Bl 7 AU 4 B U
loans and advances, deposits and other receivables (excluding BETE ~ B 3 S 3Gk ~ Hi 4 N o Ath JRE i
prepayments), bank balances — client accounts and bank PIE (NEIETEA ZRIE) ~ SRATAS AR —
balances — general accounts and cash. KPERE U RSBITE SR ——RIEF &

Bl o

(b) Financial liabilities at amortised cost include accounts (b)  FHEEY BUAS T & 2 4 Rl B 00 4 RE AT
payable and accrued charges and other payables (excluding HRIE - e T2 R R A RE A 3 OR
receipt in advance). AL HG TE R R IH) o

Financial risk management objectives and policies BEREREEEEREE

The Group’s major financial instruments include investments, AREEZ FE AR T HEAUFERE - B

accounts receivable, loans and advances, deposits and other AT T~ B K B K > ¥ 4 B At E

receivables, bank balances and cash, accounts payable WO IE ~ SRAT &5 R S B~ AR ITE

and accrued charges and other payables. Details of these N REwT 2 B FAth B A 3K TH - 5 4

financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes to A TR RN 5 S M B kR 2 A B

the consolidated financial statements. The risks associated R 55 B 2% o 145 4 b 1 B B B 22 JE

with these financial instruments and the policies on how Bax DA B i A A B JRL B 2 SR 51 An
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management T o L B AR R B o REAR

manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate 708 1Ry SMf7 A 2050 3 A7 38 5 e o

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —
continued

Market risk

Market risk can be described as the risk of change in fair
value of a financial instrument due to changes in interest
rates, equity prices or foreign currency exchange rates.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances. The Group currently
does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However,
the management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate risk should the
need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The management considers that the Group’s exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk on variable-rate bank balances, as
a result of the change of market interest rate is insignificant
due to low interest rates on bank balances at the end of the
reporting period, thus no sensitivity analysis is prepared for
cash flow interest rate risk.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in listed equity securities and listed debt
securities. The directors of the Company manage the
exposure by closely monitoring the portfolio of these
financial instruments. The fair value of these financial
instruments will be affected either positively or negatively,
amongst others, by the changes in the closing market
prices of the relevant listed equity securities and listed debt
securities.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks at the end of the reporting
period. If the prices of the respective listed equity
instruments had been 10% (2024: 10%) higher/lower, and
held other variables constant, the Group’s profit for the year
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$7,621,000
(2024: HK$6,979,000), as a result of changes in the
fair value of listed equity securities. If the prices of the
respective listed debt securities had been 10% (2024: 10%)
higher/lower, and held other variables constant, the Group’s
other comprehensive income for the year would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$10,326,000 (2024: other
comprehensive expense for the year would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$7,862,000), as a result of changes in
the fair value of listed debt securities.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —
continued

Market risk — continued

Currency risk

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
currency risk exposure is not significant as most of the
transactions and financial assets and liabilities of the group
entities are denominated in the functional currencies of the
respective entities and, in the case of United States dollars
(“US$”), the exposures are limited as HK$ is pegged to
US$. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis has been presented

on the currency risk.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position, which is net of
impairment losses, represents the Group’s exposure to credit

risk.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties arises from
the carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

The Group exposes to credit risk, which is the risk that a
counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full when
due. Impairment allowances are made for losses that are
expected at the end of the reporting period. Significant
changes in the economy or environment of a particular
industry segment could result in losses that are different
from those provided for at the end of the reporting
period. Management therefore carefully manages its
exposure to credit risk. The Group’s internal credit risk
grading assessment for financial assets, except for accounts
receivable under HKFRS 15, compiled as the following

categories:
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HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 6. EMIA-#&
Financial risk management objectives and policies — MEEREREEEERKE &
continued
Credit risk — continued CEmEp—&
Internal credit Description ECL treatment A 2B 36 ui EHEE
rating FEEFR EBEzZERE
B &
Performing The balances that 12-month JE %) HH&ESRZ 124 A
have not had a (Normal = B8 J| B (EE# 15
significant increase  Credit ER=R/ THER)
in credit risk since  Quality) = 4% N7
initial recognition eS|
and 12-month M7 549 e 2
ECL will be 128 A ¥
recognised LUREN-Y 7]
s
Underperforming  The balances that  Lifetime BAIEN BE&ESR 28 (EE
have had a (Significant RAE = 28 )7 B JEL By B
significant increase  increase in SRR )
in credit risk since  Credit Risk) PR B
initial recognition 3T sifz st
and for which the T 58 4=
lifetime ECL will TEI (G &
be recognised 2=l
Not performing The balances that Lifetime NGRS HHEGEH S 2H (B2
have objective (Credit- B %8 AR AE)
evidence of impaired) (ERL T2
impairment and % e 42
for which the WG
lifetime ECL will = <Fi|
be recognised
Write-off The balances that  Amount is e FH&GEHRE S£ZETU
have evidence written off T I a5 B i &5
indicating that ~EHA
the debtor is in Ji& A fie
severe financial o I R e
difficulty and the 1 74 45 3]
Group has no BEHE A
realistic prospect of 30 U4 7] 35K
recovery TH 2 |l 5
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued
Credit risk — continued
Accounts receivable from margin clients

The Group provides financing services only to recognised
and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
all these margin clients are subject to credit verification
procedures. The margin loans are secured by pledged
marketable securities and margin facilities are set to
ensure that certain proportion of the fair value of pledged
marketable securities of the individual margin clients is

higher than the corresponding outstanding loans.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 51% (2024:
50%) of the total accounts receivable from margin clients

was due from the Group’s ten largest margin clients.

No aging analysis is disclosed, as in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the aging analysis does not
give additional value in view of the nature of business of

securities margin financing.

The Group’s customer base consists of a wide range of
clients and the accounts receivable from margin clients
are categorised by common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts

due in accordance with the contractual terms.

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
whether the financial asset is credit-impaired and the
amount of loss given default, the Group has taken into
account the credit quality of margin clients, the collateral
to accounts receivable balances ratio, amount of margin
shortfall of margin clients and pledged marketable securities
and adjusted for forward-looking factors that are specific
to the debtors and general economic conditions of the
financial industry, in estimating the probability of default of
these financial assets, as well as the loss upon default in each
case. There was no change in the estimation techniques or

methodology made during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued

Credit risk — continued

Accounts receivable from margin clients — continued

The Group has established a margin client credit risk

classification system and performs credit risk assessment

based on margin client classification in one of three

categories of internal credit rating. The information about

the ECL for the accounts receivable from margin clients

at the end of the reporting period is summarised below.

After considering the above factors, provision of net
impairment loss of approximately HK$138,429,000 (2024:
HK$128,590,000) was recognised during the year.

At 31 March 2025

Internal credit rating

RESEL R

tRMITHEH-&
MERMEEAERKE &

EERE &
FERREREFRE &
AEBOEVRBSEF G SRR
TERS RBRESEF 28
(B TE =B NS Bk b i H o —
) TS B R R A o A R TR
ZREWRESEF REMNHEBE&
Ji5 18 A R Al A R - 883 8 DL b
> O AS A B e BB (E s 1R 5 R 4
#5 #7138,429,000% o (= F 0 4F :
128,590,000%5 J0) °

R-B-HF=A=+—H

Gross
carrying Loss Net carrying
Basis of ECL amount allowance amount
BHEE
BIREE ARARMEE BiERE FREE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FTERT FTERT FTRER

Performing & #J 1 12-month 121 H 1,216,509 6,776 1,209,733
Underperforming & &)1 IR AE Lifetime 4= 1 142,699 47,651 95,048
Not performing 4~ J& %) Lifetime 4= 910,260 567,407 342,853
2,269,468 621,834 1,647,634
Represented by: o
Ten largest margin clients TREFEEEZEF
(including Mr. Hung Hon Man (475 L 1 S5 A I
and his close family members) HE =R E) 971,106 123,884 847,222
Other margin clients HibfreE &% 1,298,362 497,950 800,412
2,269,468 621,834 1,647,634
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued
Credit risk — continued
Accounts receivable from margin clients — continued

At 31 March 2024

HE_Z_AF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025
tWMIAE-&
ERREEEERBKX &

EEmRME-&
BUREEEFRE &
AR UE=H=+—H

Gross Net
carrying Loss carrying
Internal credit rating Basis of ECL amount allowance amount
HE &
A b E B R AR i 15 5k e MARmE(E IR EHE {3 R T [
HK$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000
T T R Tt
Performing & #J 1 12-month 121 H 1,295,712 13,950 1,281,762
Underperforming J& %1% Pl K £ Lifetime 4 355,016 33,995 321,021
Not performing 4 J& 47 Lifetime 4=} 748,089 506,830 241,259
2,398,817 554,775 1,844,042
Represented by: B
Ten largest margin clients TRIRBEES 1,024,041 93,677 930,364
Directors and their close family HENWFEZBEE
members which are not included FEM B - WAL
in the ten largest margin clients NHREFEEER
(including Mr. Hung Hon Man (475 1L ¥ S5 A e
and his close family members) HEBEZRKEME) N 12,779 72 12,707
Other margin clients HAl R &% F 1,361,997 461,026 900,971
2,398,817 554,775 1,844,042
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHE_T-_AF=A=1+—HLEFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 6. EMIT A&
Financial risk management objectives and policies — BERAREEEEREEX &
continued
Credit risk — continued 1= E 7k —
Accounts receivable from margin clients — continued ERRESEFRE &
At 31 March 2025, the Group recognised loss allowance of ATECHFZA=1+—H  A4EH
approximately HK$621,834,000 (2024: HK$554,775,000) W RE U R 78 4 % 5 IR JE HE GR e 1 4
on its accounts receivable from margin clients. The i #1621,834,000% 76 (— & — Y 4F :
movement in the loss allowance for accounts receivable 554,775,000% 75) © 4F [N HE AR 55 4 %%
from margin clients during the year is summarised below. FHRIE A s R B s B M F o
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE-_Z_HF=A=+t—HLEFE
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL
1218 A
REGEEFSE 2HELEERR
Under-
Performing performing  Not performing Total
EXT BABRXE TEH ast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TR T
At the beginning of the reporting period ﬁ’\iﬁ(iﬁ;@%ﬂ 13,950 33,995 506,830 554,775
(Decrease) Increase in allowance, net WD) S 1 R A (6,740) 13,705 131,464 138,429
Amount written off ﬁhﬁﬁé R (434) (49) (70,887) (71,370)
At the end of the reporting period &R 6,776 47,651 567,407 621,834
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continued

Credit risk — continued

Accounts receivable from margin clients — continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

“r A T R AR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-_AF=A=+—HILFE

tRMITHEH-—&

MEEREEERRBE-&

EEmRME-&
BUREEEFRE &

Year ended 31 March 2025

Represented by: 5
Ten largest
margin clients
(including
Mr. Hung Hon
Man and his
close family ~ Other margin
members) clients Total
TAREE
RF (B
HEXRERE EtRES
ERRKME) EF Azt
HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
TH#T Tt Tt
At the beginning of the reporting period T et B4 93,329 461,446 554,775
Increase in allowance, net B A 30,555 107,874 138,429
Amount written off 8 4 % - (71,370) (71,370)
At the end of the reporting period s AR 123,884 497,950 621,834
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 6. EMIA-#&
Financial risk management objectives and policies — BERAREEEEREEX &
continued
Credit risk — continued 1= E & f—
Accounts receivable from margin clients — continued ENRELEFRE &
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE _EWE=H =+ —HILFE
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL
1218 A
G Sk H 2WEBGERER
Under-
Performing performing  Not performing Total
B BRI Nk a5t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T Tk T#IT T
At the beginning of the reporting period ¥ 511 17,547 27,915 380,723 426,185
(Decrease) Increase in allowance, net (T2 ) s 488 f 1 2 (3,597) 6,080 126,107 128,590
At the end of the reporting period iSSP 13,950 33,995 506,830 554,775
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 6.

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued

Credit risk — continued

Accounts receivable from margin clients — continued

Represented by:

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

tRMITHEH-—&
MERMEEAEREE &

EERE &
FEWRREDEFRE &
=

Directors and
their close family
members which
are not included
in the ten largest

margin clients

(including
Mr. Hung Hon
Man and his
Ten largest close family ~ Other margin
margin clients members) clients Total
ERRWFL
BHRERE -
Wi A4
[ WNT &S
%F (a4
Wt S
TR S kHE®R  HibRES
%F  RBEMEA) A %F Mgt
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000
T#T T#T TH#T TH#T
At the beginning of the reporting period A ¥t 5 H1#) 54,263 260 371,662 426,185
Increase (Decrease) in allowance, net B D) B A 39,414 (188) 89,364 128,590
At the end of the reporting period T R 93,677 72 461,026 554,775
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE—

“HE=A=+t—HLFE

Year ended 31 March 2025

6.

GET

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued
Credit risk — continued
Accounts receivable from margin clients — continued

The following significant changes in the gross carrying
amounts of the balances contributed to the increase in the

loss allowance during the year:

(i) Increase in loss given default rate due to the increase
in shortfall portion of margin loans which are not fully
secured amounted to approximately HK$725,238,000
(2024: HK$660,240,000); and

(ii) Increase in loss allowance of approximately HK$17,407,000
(2024: HK$99,716,000) as a result of difficulties on
repayment by accounts receivable from not performing

margin clients.

The Group has pledged securities as collateral amounted to
approximately HK$264,034,000 (2024: HK$171,152,000)
in respect of the credit-impaired accounts receivable from

margin clients.

Loans and advances

Management has money lending policies in place and the
exposure to the credit risk is monitored on an ongoing
basis. The Group grants loans only to recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all
these borrowers are subject to credit verification procedures.
The credit verification procedures include assessment on
the credit quality of the customer based on the customer’s
financial position, past experience and other factors such as
security or collateral. Also, the Group has other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is promptly

taken to recover overdue debts.

At 31 March 2025, the Group has concentration of credit
risk as 70% (2024: 67%) of total loans and advances was
due from the Group’s five largest borrowers, within the

money lending segment.
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JG (= T 4R 1 660,240,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued
Credit risk — continued
Loans and advances — continued

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
and whether the financial asset is credit-impaired, the
Group has taken into account the historical actual credit
loss experience of the borrowers and the financial position
of the counterparties by reference to, among others, the
background search for individual clients, amount of pledged
assets, their management or audited accounts or available
press information, adjusted for forward-looking factors that
are specific to the debtors and general economic conditions
of the industry in which the counterparties operate, in
estimating the probability of default of these financial
assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case. There
was no change in the estimation techniques or methodology

made during the year.

The Group has established a loan credit risk classification
system and performs credit risk management based on
loan classification in one of three categories of internal
credit rating. The information about the ECL for the loan
receivables at the end of the reporting period is summarised
below. After considering the above factors, provision of net
impairment loss of approximately HK$20,684,000 (2024:
HK$5,803,000) was recognised during the year.

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. TRITH-&

MEEREEERRBE-&

EEmRME-&

EMRBHN—E
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s o

ALE O B R BE B A
& AR E RSB (BT =BNEE
BEFE SR i — 8D AT E SRR
B o AR AR 2 R iR R TE
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HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — continued 6. $RITH-&

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued
Credit risk — continued
Loans and advances — continued

At 31 March 2025

Internal credit rating

RESE R

MEERBREEEEREEK-&

EERE—&
EXRB—E
R-ZE-_AF=A=+—H

Gross carrying Loss Net carrying
Basis of ECL amount allowance amount
EHEEEREE HEEHEE EERE FIREE

Performing JE &y

— Three out of five largest borrowers

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
THET THET TERT

12-month 121@ H

FRMEXAFH =L ERN 213,000 644 212,356
— Other borrowers HA i 3k A 12-month 121 H 78,540 1,102 77,438
291,540 1,746 289,794
Underperforming J& %1% DL K £
— One out of five largest borrowers Lifetime 7=
HRERAFH— R ERAN 70,000 1,156 68,844
— Other borrowers F:Ah 15 2K A Lifetime 4 97,704 24,965 72,739
167,704 26,121 141,583
Not performing NIE#)
— One out of five largest borrowers Lifetime 4=
HRMERAFI— 2 EHN 69,000 3,000 66,000
528,244 30,867 497,377
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued
Credit risk — continued
Loans and advances — continued

At 31 March 2024

“r A T R AR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. $RITH-&
BREMEERERKE &

EEAR

|

EMRBHN—E

St S

.

WHE=H=+—H

Gross carrying Loss  Net carrying
Internal credit rating Basis of ECL amount allowance amount
R E T R 1R A B T Jls 18 95 5 {3 I i
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T# T T Tt
Performing J& #J 71
— Three out of five largest borrowers ~ 12-month 121§ J
TRAE N H Y =2 A 150,000 635 149,365
— Other borrowers A 5 A 12-month 1218 J 88,430 328 88,102
238,430 963 237,467
Underperforming J& %1% DL K A£
— Two out of five largest borrowers  Lifetime 4
EION - ONGHV R ON 119,000 8,202 110,798
— Other borrowers HAL{H 5 A Lifetime 4} 43,101 714 42,387
162,101 8,916 153,185
Not performing 4~ J& %] Lifetime 4 304 304 -
400,835 10,183 390,652
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHE_T-_AF=A=1+—HLEFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —
continued

Credit risk — continued

Loans and advances — continued

Aging analysis

Aging analysis of loan receivables (net of loss allowance)

prepared based on loan commencement date set out in the

relevant contracts is as follows:

tRMITHEH-&
MREMEEAERRE &
EEaAB -

607 T & |

B D #T

R AR B 5 4 BT s R0 6 5 B B 30 A
B0 B SR (1 sl 1R ) B0 AR
SrHTanE

2025 2024

—E-RE e gy 111K S

HK$’000 HK$°000

FExT T

Less than 1 month D1 A 10,079 4,978
1 to 3 months 12318 A - 116,483
4 to 6 months 47 6fR H 49,250 10,312
7 to 12 months 721218 F 150,000 20,014
Over 12 months R 1211 H 288,048 238,865
At the end of the reporting period A R R 497,377 390,652

Aging analysis of loan receivables (net of loss allowance)

prepared based on contractual due date is as follows:

B AVEI AR R IR R R (R
HHE) BHRE AT INT

2025 2024

—E-RF| —F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FERT TH#TT

Not yet past due ) 7 %60 HH 404,663 348,854
Less than 1 month past due i A R 1| A 100 =
Over 3 months past due 70 HA 8 8 340 A 92,614 41,798
At the end of the reporting period JiiE SR N 497,377 390,652
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued
Credit risk — continued
Loans and advances — continued

At 31 March 2025, the Group recognised loss allowance of
approximately HK$30,867,000 (2024: HK$10,183,000) on
its loans and advances. The movement in the loss allowance

for loans and advances during the year is summarised below.

Year ended 31 March 2025

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. TRITH-&

MEEREEERRBE-&

EERME—&

BHRBH—F
M_E-_HEE=A=+—H &
A5 m B EK M B ORE BR B 1R Bt R
#130,867,000% J6 (& — U 4
10,183,000 JC) ° 4F [N 8 3K K B K 1)
T IR T A s B A G R o

BE-_ZE-_HF=A=+—HILEE

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL
LEARAEERS 2HRNEERR

Not

Performing Underperforming performing Total

Bl BORRRE TEH st
Three out of One out of One out of
five largest Other five largest Other five largest
borrowers  borrowers botrowers  borrowers Total  borrowers
BRRHRA BRBRA BREHRA
N4 -4 HH-%

ERA  ERERA

HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000
tEr TR TEn

At the beginning of the i ]
reporting period - 963
Tncrease in allowance, net 3% flI 8 f 1 644 139

BRA RHRERA gt ERA
HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS$000  HK$'000
téx  fEr  TEx  TEn @ TEx

297 8,923 9,220 - 10,183
859 16,042 16,901 3,000 20,684

At the end of the reporting ¥ H1 K
period 644 1,102

1,156 24,965 26,121 3,000 30,867
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHE_T-_AF=A=1+—HLEFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued
Credit risk — continued
Loans and advances — continued

Year ended 31 March 2024

6. TRITH-&

MEERBREEEEREEK-&

EEmR -
FEVETEY |
WE RS = — A R

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL
DEAESEEER AHEREEER
Not
Performing Underperforming performing Total
B AR NE# Bt
Three out of Two out of
five largest Other five largest Other Other
borrowers borrowers Total  borrowers borrowers Total  borrowers
LREHA EEIN
=4 Gilip
[ YN N st [ YN N fit bR

HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Tt  fEx  Téx

Acthe beginning of the 45 Hi 4]

HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000
Tt  fEx T Tk Ti#x

reporting period 1,113 1,312 2425 - 1,955 1,95 - 4,380
(Decrease) Increase in (Bi) B fe v 4

allowance, net (478) (984) (1,462) 8,202 (1,241) 6,961 304 5,803
At the end of the reporting F¥i 5 H1

period 035 328 963 8,202 714 8,916 304 10,183

At 31 March 2025, the significant increase in credit risk
refers to increase in rate for exposure at default due to the

deterioration of financial performance of the borrower.

At 31 March 2025, no loss allowance was recognised for
loans and advances with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$184,610,000 (2024: HK$105,970,000) due to the
relevant pledged assets with fair value of approximately
HK$595,651,000 (2024: HK$286,251,000).

The management closely monitor the credit quality of the
loans and there are no indications that the loan receivables

neither past due nor impaired will be uncollectible.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

RA_F_HFE=ZA=1+—H  FHEE
g K R 8 O 9 A SRON B B R BB
BEGEA R R LT -

o ECRHEZH=+—H > W
R T (B 440 /5 184,610,000 7T ( *igm
4F 1 105,970,000% 7C) A9 &K e
WO TR A Iﬁw%maﬁﬁéé
Z N e fE A £5595,651,00085 76 (—F
Z VY4 : 286,251,000%5TT) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued
Credit risk — continued
Listed debt securities

The Group invests only on quoted and liquid debt securities
with counterparties that have a credit rating of at least B3

from Moody’s.

In estimating the ECL, the Group has taken into account
the historical actual credit loss experience over the past years
and the financial position of the counterparties by reference
to, among others, their management or audited accounts
and available press information, adjusted for general
economic conditions and future prospects of the industry
in which the counterparties operate and various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information such
as information published by economic expert reports,
financial analysts and government bodies in estimating
the probability of default of these financial assets, as well
as the loss upon default in each case. The management of
the Group considers the ECL of these financial assets to be
insignificant after taking into account the financial position

and credit quality of the counterparties.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
methodology made during the year. After considering
the above factors, provision of net impairment loss of
approximately HK$2,098,000 (2024: reversal of net
impairment loss of approximately HK$3,383,000) was

recognised during the year.

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

tRMITHEH-—&
MREREERERRE &

EEmRME-&
L EREF
ALEFERE R A 2D BB
R B8R 2 28 5 3 J7 2 W AR A0 i B £

AL wHE S e R > AL EEFF
Fe 3 25 47 T2 ) 2 1 0 PR A5 B0 s 1R AR B
K32 5 375 W BB IR L (2% (L
5) HAA SRR FAR H XI5 AHE
) Sl AL G B U5 B BT R AT SE R
SR AL IR DL S R AR I SR DA K 4% A R
B R % T 0 A6 97 R B S T A IR
({51 Ty 658 7 S 0 S o~ < Al A i B BB
R 6 A9 S0l % S < L R A R
FIEE R EORE) LRI B AR
AR T o BB R A 5 0T B S
AR VLR BB R AR > A 42 A B R
RZEERMEENENESERAE
% o

A N BT P A 5T 15 B O oI S i s o
B L R EE > AR E
5 T AE 4 492,098,000 U0 (&
A R T 1R SRR 1 ) 493,383,000
JG) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 6.

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued

Credit risk — continued

Listed debt securities — continued

The carrying amounts of the financial assets, by credit risk

rating grades, are as follows:
At 31 March 2025

Internal credit rating

Basis of ECL

tRMITHEH-&
MERMEEAERKE &

FEmREE-&

L EBES-E

AR T B w50 ) 20 09 < R
(9 B T (EL 0

R-EBE-_HF=A=+—H

Carrying amount Loss allowance

R EEE TR FHEEBEREE REE BERE
HK$’000 HK$’000

5 5

Performing J& #J H 12-month 1218 H 118,195 3,375
Not performing (Note (i)) RIEX (MtEEG)  Lifetime £ 5,462 5,462
123,657 8,837

At 31 March 2024

Internal credit rating

Basis of ECL

R-F_WE=ZA=+—H

Carrying amount Loss allowance

LRSS G TH (5 6 i 18 5 e R T E Ji5 15 435 A5
HK$°000 HK$°000
TH#IT T#TT
Performing J& %) H 12-month 1218 H 90,585 3,202
Not performing (Note (i)) RIEH (MtEEG)  Lifetime £ 3,571 3,571
94,156 6,773

Note:

(i) The Group monitors whether there has been a significant

increase in credit risk at the reporting date by reviewing

the latest published ratings and assessing whether there is

any downgrade on the latest published ratings compared to

previous assessment date. Loss allowance of approximately
HK$5,462,000 (2024: HK$3,571,000) was provided for the
Group’s not performing debt securities at 31 March 2025

due to their downgrade on the external credit ratings.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

() A K B3 AR 5 A A O M 1 B AR I
Ak 5 38 8 i 169 5T S B A SR AL B
AR LE 2 5 A AT A0 R A% DL B 2R (R R
B A5 B B0 o B R ARG B R
T > R _EFE_HFE=HA=+—H >
A 42 R R B 4 A8 5 75 55 wh T A
5 18 #95,462,000% JC (2 P04 ¢
3,571,000 75) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued
Credit risk — continued
Listed debt securities — continued

At 31 March 2025, the Group recognised loss allowance of
approximately HK$8,837,000 (2024: HK$6,773,000) on
its debt securities in Mandatory FVOCI. The movement in
the loss allowance for these debt securities during the year is

summarised below.

Year ended 31 March 2025

HE-_Z_RAF=A=1T—HILFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

tRMITHEH-—&
MERMEEAEREE &

1= & &l fz —

LA ERREEF—

AR AE=ZA=+—H A4EH
P /N W = I AN N e o T
18 75 75 2 il 58 s 48 3% i 498,837,000
g6 (& U 4E ¢ 6,773,0004 JC) © 4F
T I 55 A 75 o 5 1 Jhes 1 9% At 2 5 ) AR
AT o

BE-_FT_AF=A=1+t—HLFE

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL
1218 B & 2
FEER EEESR

Performing Not performing Total

i Bk ¥ kY Bt

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TER TR TER

At the beginning of the reporting period TR 3,202 3,571 6,773
Transfer from performing to not performing F J& £ A % /5 K i 47 (47) 47 -
Increase in allowance 3o 48% i 254 1,844 2,098
Exchange alignment HEE 5, 8 8 (34) - (34)
At the end of the reporting period TR IR 3,375 5,462 8,837

Year ended 31 March 2024

HEZ_NE=A=+—HIL£E

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL
1218 A 78 1 4 J7E )

fr B 18 A EkEH
Performing ~ Not performing Total
J& %) N #) et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T T
At the beginning of the reporting period A 3 4 15 ) 6,778 3,407 10,185
(Decrease) Increase in allowance (J D) 14 488 g (3,547) 164 (3,383)
Exchange alignment e 5, 3 4 (29) = (29)
At the end of the reporting period JA 5 0K 3,202 3,571 6,773

The Group has no collateral in respect of these debt

securities.

7 452 o) N7 4 A A 46 5 B O A A HE AT

ﬂﬂ°
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HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued
Credit risk — continued
Other receivables

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
and whether the financial asset is credit-impaired, the
Group has taken into account the historical actual credit
loss experience, financial information and adjusted for
forward-looking factors that are specific to the debtors
and general economic conditions of the industry in which
the counterparties operate, in estimating the probability
of default of these financial assets, as well as the loss upon
default in each case. There was no change in the estimation

techniques or methodology made during the year.
After considering the above factors, no provision of
impairment loss (2024: reversal of net impairment loss of

approximately HK$59,000) was recognised during the year.

The gross carrying amounts of the financial assets, by credit

risk rating grades, are as follows:

At 31 March 2025

Basis of ECL
EHEEBEEE

Internal credit rating

RESE R

tRMITHEH-&
MEEMEERERRE &

FEmRE-&

At W HE

fili T A 6 18 % B R A B e AR
AR A7 B B A7 75 853 30 o DA % <5
HERTAFEBERE AMEEes
T A T R AR B 1R A B K B
KL SR N R SE B T R R B
77 8 1 B TEAT 26 B — i R A A
oA o DU T % 5 A I R A
R NEFZBUTEANBRE - FR
P Ve Akt 45 375 07 9 37 48 A 3 o

K258 LAk [ FE AR > ASAE B N A R
WAE A (2 ZIU4E -« WE R
AR 3 1] £959,000% J8) °

RSB e sk - &Rl E 2 IR
MW :

R-B-HF=A=+—H

Gross Net
carrying Loss carrying
amount allowance amount

A AR EE BRERE FAREE

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
THET THET TET

Performing J& #J 1 12-month 121 H 10,809 - 10,809
Not performing B &) Lifetime 2= 24,967 24,967 -
35,776 24,967 10,809
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued
Credit risk — continued
Other receivables — continued

At 31 March 2024

g R E U

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE-T-RF=A=t+BLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025
SRMITAE-&
MERMEEREERBEX-&
EERE &

Bt W H— &
AR _WE=ZH=+—H

Gross Net

carrying Loss carrying

Internal credit rating Basis of ECL amount allowance amount
NESERE i TE A5 B s 15 L e AR T E J 45 435 445 {3 R T (L
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

T#IT T# T T#IT

Performing & #J 12-month 121 J1 6,935 = 6,935
Not performing A~ & %) Lifetime 4= 24,967 24,967 =
31,902 24,967 6,935

At 31 March 2025, the management assessed certain other
receivables of a terminated project had a significant increase
in credit risk due to the deterioration of financial position
of the counterparty and life-time ECL was recognised at
approximately HK$24,967,000 (2024: HK$24,967,000).
The movement in the loss allowance for other receivables

during the year is summarised below.

Year ended 31 March 2025

MRoFE_RHE=ZH=+—H  &H
JE M — M E R IETE B M2 T H A
JE i 3k TH A2 5 OB ES R UL E
b T 28 BAE B R B B K o I
i #124,967,000% o (& 4 4 -
24,967,000 JC) B & M 1E 1 5 &
2 o A TR L th R o R T I Jls 4R 9 A
AL AR o

BE-—Z-_AF=A=+—HLEE

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL

1218 B 2HEY

FEEE FEEE
Performing Not performing Total
B+ TEH mat
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER

At the beginning and the end T i A I

of the reporting period s R - 24,967 24,967
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BHE_T-_AF=A=1+—HLEFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued
Credit risk — continued
Other receivables — continued

Year ended 31 March 2024

tRMITHEH-&
MREMEEAERRE &
EEaAB -

Bt EWHH—E
WE_F WE=H=+—HILFE

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL

1218 H ¥ 4 EHEM

{5 Bl 1R {7 Bl 1R
Performing  Not performing Total
J& %) N R K
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
i Fih e i

At the beginning of the T

reporting period 59 24,967 25,026
Decrease in allowance WD B (59) - (59)
At the end of the reporting period TR AR = 24,967 24,967

The Group does not hold any collateral over the balances.

Deposits with financial institutions

The credit risk on bank balances — client accounts and bank
balances — general accounts and cash is limited because
majority of the counterparties are financial institutions with
high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies and state-owned banks with good reputation. No

loss allowance was recognised for both years.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

A B 18 37 488 90 4 B <7 A AT RIS A o

RE BB 7

WATHBR—FFIRE RLRITH B ——
R P KB & 2 M5 B R A R H 5
RV 22 T 34 T3 70 e I R A L S AR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —
continued

Liquidity risk

As part of its ordinary broking activities, the Group is
exposed to liquidity risk arising from timing difference
between settlement with clearing house or brokers and
customers. To address the risk, the treasury team works
closely with the settlement division on monitoring the
liquidity gap. The Group manages its liquidity risk through
maintaining sufficient cash. As part of the measures to
safeguard liquidity, the Group has maintained substantial
stand-by banking facilities, diversifying the funding sources

and spreading out the maturity dates.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and lease
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities and lease liabilities according to the
carliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
The difference between the “Total undiscounted cash flows”
column and the “Carrying amount at the end of reporting
period” column represents the future contractual cash
flows attributable to the instrument which are not included
in the carrying amount of the financial liabilities on the

consolidated statement of financial position.

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

tRMITHEH-—&
MERMEEAEREE &

RS AL TS I A SR H W SEH 2 —
B BOAS SR B IR 2 B A5 R BT A A %
%5 2 T 46 B I 2 T T O )
S R\ B o 7 MBS DL TH R B > RS X (R
BGHMMBRESE —FEZEES
ZEPIRH o AEEIE M MERF R L B B
L O B Jm B o A 2 AR R B
e — & > ARB O MRS RE
i AR AT AL K & AR IR B B
BMA -

LB B R 5w B 9 7

TREEAEEACMEEAHEER R
R 95 Tih 5 78 K Aok R 2 R B i A0 IR o
T RREE A E T A AR
B &R (RS W] i R PEOR R
Z B MR o T REMEERASE
e [RGB &R EAH] —
5] B [ i o R Z MR T | — %1 2 [
MR RA M T REBELE RS X
Bl Ui o M A B B U R I A
AR A S BRI R Z BRI -

Carrying
amount at
Repayable in Total  the end of
Repayable less than Within undiscounted the reporting
on demand 1 month lyear  cash flows period
AEER AR ABRRE RESHK
rE REE 1¥h  RERE REE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEn Thx ThEx AR AR
At 31 March 2025 R-B-AF=A=1-A
Accounts payable JE £+ IR JE 186,998 127,723 - 314,721 314,721
Accrued charges and other payables JE G2 B L A B A 0B - 346,403 - 346,403 346,403
186,998 474,126 - 661,124 661,124
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BE-_ZTZ-_AF=A=+—HIFE

Year ended 31 March 2025

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 6. EMITH—#&
Financial risk management objectives and policies — BERAREEEEREEX &
continued
Liquidity risk — continued HEELEE &
Liquidity and interest risk tables — continued i B B K 5 B 91 2 — A
Carrying
amount at
Repayable in Total  the end of
Repayable less than Within  undiscounted ~ the reporting
on demand 1 month lyear  cash flows period
EREER  AREA ARBBE  RERENA
g% i ER REBEE  JREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
Ti#T Ti#T T T Ti#x
At 31 March 2024 REZFZME=ZA=1—H
Accounts payable JE 1 AR IR 189,105 62,422 = 251,527 251,527
Accrued charges and other payables ReEst 8 R S AR A 5O = 7,971 - 7,971 7971
189,105 70,393 - 259,498 259,498

The following tables detail the Group’s expected maturity
for certain financial assets. The tables below have been
drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities
of the financial assets, including interests that will be
earned on those assets, except for those financial assets
which are not repayable on demand. The analysis is based
on when the Group anticipates that the cash flows will
occur. The difference between the “Total undiscounted
cash flows” column and the “Carrying amount at the end
of reporting period” column represents the possible future
cash flows attributable to the instrument which are not
included in the carrying amount of the financial asset on the
consolidated statement of financial position. The inclusion
of information on financial assets is necessary in order to
understand the Group’s liquidity risk management as the

liquidity is managed on a net asset and liability basis.
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TR A E S T &M E 2 Y
BIUE o T RVEEMEE RGBS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —

continued

Liquidity risk — continued

Liquidity and interest risk tables — continued

HE-_Z_RAF=A=1T—HILFE
Year ended 31 March 2025
6. TEMI A&
MERMERRERBEX-&

REELEE—&
B & 2 R F 5 g 5 7 —

Carrying
Repayable  Repayable amount at
Repayable in between between  Repayable  Repayable Total  the end of
Repayable less than 1to3 3 months between between ~ More than undiscounted  the reporting
on demand 1 month months tolyear lto2years 2to5 years 5 years Undated  cash flows period
AR AR AR AR AR RER
AE  ERR 1BfERR ARE  1E1ER 2ESER ReRE REEEX
EXEE &z B8 1EnfE e fE  BEsE ERH Bg  2BEE
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000 HEK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HEK$'000
T T ThR ThR T T ThR ThT TR T
At31 March 2025 R-Z-5F
ZR=t-H
Accounts receivable, net FERE T 5 1,647,632 21,665 - - - - - - 1669297 1,669,298
Loans and advances, net R BFE 119,454 3,741 113,994 306,888 5,673 - - - 549,750 497,377
Deposits and other receivables 154 R MR
v 13,699 - - - - - - - 13,699 13,697
Financial assets at FVPL TAREARSR
LEREE - - 92,093 - - - - I7E0 209763 220328
Mandatory FVOCI BHEAAERA
A2 mlE 38,285 753 29,558 56,945 54,862 18,535 20432 7780 17150 123657
Bank balances - client accounts ST &%~
EFkF 309,431 19,900 - - - - - - mBL 33
Bank balances - general accounts 17552 ——fit
and cash JRF k5% 1100793 439362 1,200,937 - - - - - 1750092 2744330
3,229,294 485,421 1,445,582 363,833 60,535 18,535 20,432 135,450 5,759,082 5,598,030
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HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 6. EMIT A&
Financial risk management objectives and policies — BERAREEEEREEX &
continued
Liquidity risk — continued REELEE A
Liquidity and interest risk tables — continued i B B R F 5 B 5 7 — A
Carrying
Repayable amountat
Repayable in Repayable between Repayable Repayable Toul the end of
Repayable less than between 3 months to between between More than undiscounted  the reportng
on demand Imonth 103 months lyr  lolyas  2wdyars 5 years Undated cash flows period
o om M A 14
AE AR BEAR WAE EER OESER REHE  MERE
TR i fE EARE i fi& e EHH a5 kiR
HKS000 HK$'000 HKS$ 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T T T T T T T T T T
Au31 March 2024 REFZWE
ZR=t-H
Accounts receivable, net Bl 1,844,040 2044 - - - - - - 1,864,483 1,864,483
Loans and advances, net LEVeE Gt ] 47587 35,040 168,597 138,701 1597 1,456 - - 3718 390652
Deposits and other receivables ReRLMENRGR 1,13 - - - - - - - 12213 12213
Financial asets at FVPL BRREAREL
SRKE - - - - 9548 - - 17,118 115,666 209,586
Mandatory FVOCI BHELETAL
Rl - 8476 190 5,004 95810 104 20,883 14067 17831 94156
Bank balances - client accounts ROGR-FFEF 213,160 19,984 - - - - - - 15,144 13,08
Bank balances - general accounts Rirsh-—REF R
and cash R 541,747 1,125,535 1,114,653 2,034 - - - - 1,783,969 1770918
W LA S 167 1969 30505 nB BN S 5SS
Fair Value measurements IL\\ JLL\I ﬁ E—l- E

The following presents the assets and liabilities measured
at fair value or required to disclose their fair value in these
financial statements on a recurring basis across the three
levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13
Fair Value Measurement, with the fair value measurement
categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the entire measurement. The levels of

inputs are defined as follows:

. Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the

Group can access at the measurement date;
e Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or

liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset

or liability.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

PATR 7% DA B YE 45 00 AU (H R & B8R
BEAARMEZEERAM  J1EER
o T S o R R 2B 1398 28 FL(E REE T
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“r A T R AR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Fair value measurements — continued

6. $RITH-&
AREE— &

(i) BAAESEBZEHMEE

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value

Significant Correlation between
Fairvalue  Valuation techniquesand ~ unobservable significant unobservable
Financial assets Fair value at 31 March ~ hierarchy ~ key inputs inputs inputs and fair value
EEYESS -
R=A=+-H EZMELEE BAUBEAREZ
tREE ZARE MEBR HEEARIZBANE 2B ¥E HEBR
2025 2024
ZECRE | CR A
HKS$’000 HK$'000
THER T
Financial assets at FVPL
BOREFABEZ
tREE
- Listed equity securities 91,268 83,578 Level 1 Quoted prices inan active ~~ N/A N/A
market
- FiikA S F1E ERTHRE A AR
— Unlisted debt securities 71,931 71,937 Level 3 Discounted cash flow method ~ Discount rateat ~ Discount rate increases/
(subject to early redemption) and binomial tree model 7.06% (2024: decreases by 5% (2024:
based on spot price, 8.80%) 5%), fair value would
volatility and discount rate decreaseincrease
by approximately
HK$333,000/HK$nil
(2024: approximately
HK$3,003,000/
HKS$8,000)
-k RS 38 MEBERER R HX  WHERT06%  WEELA/ THs%
(AT §E i) BHRBER TR R B & (CEZME:  (ZFZNE:59)
(b ~ b B 2 8.86%) RAERED /%
333,000 T,/ F ikt
(ZRZJUE 4
3,003,0008 %,/
8,000 1C)
~ Unlisted equity securities 57,129 54,071 Level 2 Net asset value N/A N/A
—F iRk S FoJE B 0y b AR
Mandatory FVOCI
BEEDAET AR
2E%E
— Debt securities 123,657 94,156 Level 2 Quoted prices from brokers ~ N/A N/A
—EHE S FlE BEZRE 7y b AR

There were neither transfers between Level 1 and Level
2 fair value measurement nor transfers into and out of

Level 3 fair value measurement during years ended 31

March 2025 and 2024.

REE T _RHAE R ZEPUIE

ZH=EF—HIRFEE - 18R

208 > SR fE R 2 A MRS 58
B3I & A Rt B ISl 0 4 A B
$ oo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 6. EMIT A&
Fair value measurements — continued AREFE-E
(i) Financial assets measured at fair value — continued (i) BAREBEZEHEE—#&
The details of the movements of the fair value AR - FE AR N U E I PU4ARE
measurements categorised as Level 3 of the fair value “H=t—HIH4EESEE A
hierarchy during the years ended 31 March 2025 and (ENEESGRE SR ANy W=k <4 OF
2024 are as follows: WEEBET -
Unlisted debt
securities
kEmEKES
HK$°000
TH# T
At 1 April 2023 R EZZAENA—H 103,802
Purchases iy 16,000
Redeemed $ [ (46,030)
Fair value losses reported as “Other gains J/& 8 i A MR 2 [ HAt Wi 45 K G54R3 #E ] 2
and losses, net” in profit or loss (Note) o8 SUAE G 18 AR (i 5E) (1,835)
At 31 March 2024 R EFE_MNE=H=+—H 71,937
Fair value losses reported as “Other gains i 48 25 A HR 2% [ FoAth dic 22 X s R F % | 2
and losses, net” in profit or loss (Note) N FUAE G 18 AR (B 5E) (6)
At 31 March 2025 R=-ZE-RF=A=+—H 71,931
Note: The unrealised losses of approximately HK$6,000 BESE - R H TR SR
(2024: HK$64,000) for Level 3 investments held at 7R B 18 496,000 70 (—F
the reporting date are reported in “Other gains and ZH4E : 64,0008 70) A &R A 1R
losses, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or it I HCAth A T i 45 2R v [ ECAth
loss and other comprehensive income. Wi KGR AE J IH T 2 e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Fair value measurements — continued
(i) Financial assets measured at fair value — continued
Valuation process

The management of the Group is responsible to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements. In estimating the
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
will establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model. Information about the valuation
techniques and inputs used in determining the fair

value of various assets are disclosed above.

(ii) Financial assets and financial liabilities not

measured at fair value

The management of the Group considers that
the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated statement of financial position

approximate their fair values.

Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to

offsetting

The disclosures set out in the tables below include
financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject
to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar
agreement that covers similar financial instruments that are

either:

e offset in the Group’s consolidated statement of

financial position; or

o not offset in the Group’s consolidated statement of

financial position as the offsetting criteria are not met.

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6. TRITH-&

AREFE-&

(i) BARENBZEHBEE &
114 1E 26 72
4 T I A L B R R E A AL (E
R Y Al (E BT K A B
15 A s EE RBEN L 2 E
IRF o A% 4 [ A w8 A5 B0 5 oA 0
T 3 Al B i A B o A ik
PEAT 56 1 g A\ i vy > A SR A
I 5 T e 7 9 )i BB O %
A g o A BT R R R A
0N AR ) A B 52 i B i A B4 1
BRI ETE B SCHiEE -

(i) UHBEAABEFSEBZZHBEER
THERE
74 T A LB R 2 R A B IR
UL R AL 00 A B B 2 & Tl
Jo s AU 2 SR T SLAS B 2
A -

TREEESHAEZEH
TR FTI Z ER AR R B A T R
AT 2 58— 1 R4S T fhh ok R 25 8

oL <5 il T 2 2 S0 22 R 2 4 il 7
&l A A

o RAREER S BRI RARIE L
9

o DRI JE BRI Y A A Sz A A SR
I & 5 B S IR DL R AR B -
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r B B T 8 SR B R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to

offsetting — continued

Under the agreement of continuous net settlement made
between the Group and Hong Kong Securities Clearing
Company Limited (‘HKSCC”) and a broker, the Group has
a legally enforceable right to set off the money obligations
receivable and payable with HKSCC and a broker on the
same settlement date and the Group intends to settle on a

net basis.

In addition, the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off the accounts receivable and payable with its
retail customers in the Group’s brokerage business (the
“brokerage clients”) that are due to be settled on the same
date with reference to the settlement method set by the
HKSCC and the Group intends to settle these balances on a

net basis.

Except for balances which are due to be settled on the same
date which are being offset, amounts due from/to HKSCC,
a broker and the brokerage clients that are not to be settled
on the same date, financial collateral including cash and
securities received by the Group and deposits placed with
HKSCC and a broker do not meet the criteria for offsetting
in the consolidated statement of financial position since
the right of set-off of the recognised amounts is only

enforceable following an event of default.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

tRMITHEH-&
tHEERSRABE I EY &

AR A 5 1] B 7 o P SR 5 A IR A
([ A WA ) AR AL 3T 1O 35 T 3
A0 ek o AN SR BB 5 ik AT o o B
A7 HE M) 1K 819 7 A A5 A0 B A6 A R A (]
S H A i B B A H BT > T HL A
S HA B AR A -

B4k > 2 %5 5 U 45 AT L I &5 5 7
o AR F YA A T AT HE AT 8
AEEBLEB 2 TERF ((RBEE
J5 1) T TR] O 6 A R i % B A R
o M EAEEAEUFET XSGR
VL 45 &5 B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to

offsetting — continued

Gross amounts

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE

Year ended 31 March 2025

6. $RITH-&
SREERSBABEIIKE &

of recognised
financial ~ Net amounts of
liabilities  financial assets
setoffin the  presented in the
. ik i Related amount not set off in the consolidated
of recognised statement statement statement of financial position
financial assets of financial of financial Financial Collateral
after impairment position position instruments pledged Net amount
AER  RREME X
BEZ  BREEEY  WEAWE LRRERABRRZR
SHEE  CEZSE  RREE EHZERER
4% BE4E CHEERE SHIE CEARERY #H
HK$000 HK$000 HEK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000
TiEn ThEn TR T Tin T
At 31 March 2025 R-BZR%
=B=1-H
Accounts receivable arising EARHEAHEE
from the business of dealingin ~ FEHHELL
securities and future contracts TEEETA 1,765,594 (96,296) 1,669,298 (1,021) (1,547,268) 121,009
(Gross amounts
of recognised
financial ~ Net amounts of
liabilities ser ~ financial assets Related amount not set off in the consolidated
Gross amounts offinthe  presented in the statement of financial position
of recognised consolidated consolidated
financial assets statement of statement of Financial Collateral
after impairment  financial position  financial position instruments pledged Net amount
WER  RERME .
B RREREZ  REAUTE s i
SREE  ERELE MRERIL _ HECRBEE )
fox BEGE  AREENE ARTR  BREMERY B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000
T Tt T Tt T T
At 31 March 2024 RZFZNE
=f=1+-H
Accounts receivable arising from & H LM EAHNEE
the business of dealing in £BEEZ
securities and future contracts FE I IETE 1,925,509 (61,026) 1,804,483 (463) (1,727,099) 136,925

Annual Report 2025 &%

143



144

r B B T 8 SR B R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

6.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to

offsetting — continued

6. $RITH-&
CREERLSHABEIIKE &

Gross amounts  Net amounts
of recognised of financial
financial assets liabilities
setoffin the  presented in the
. consolidated consolidated Related amount not set off in the consolidated
of recognised statement statement statement of financial position
financial of financial of financial Financial Collateral
liabilities position position instruments pledged Net amount
RGEHE
SRAEEZ  REANE EREAHER TS
BER  CEESR MRRIY B ERER
CREELE EEBE CRAEFH SRIE CEAERY 8
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TAEn ThEn TEnL T Tin T
At 31 March 2025 RZBZRf
ZB=1-8
Accounts payable arising from the &R MELHRE
business of dealing in securities ERmELEY
and futures contracts FEft IR (411,017) 96,296 (314,721) 1,021 - (313,700)
(Gross amounts Net amounts
of recognised of financial
financial liabilit
e lassets o ,1 e Related amount not set off in the consolidated
Gross amounts setoffin the  presented in the i
of recognised consolidated consolidated Statement of financia’ position
financial statement of statement of Financial
liabilities  financial position ~financial position instruments Collateral pledged Net amount
R4 e
WREEE, RSN R SRR A
3 20 AT by s i i
BB CERGE  MREEIZ _ HEZIESE _
SHAKEHE BEAE SRARNE ERTH  BEMERY i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T
Ac 31 March 2024 e S 3
ZA=1-H
Accounts payable arising from the ~ HRMEANEH
business of dealing in securities and 5 H A 2
futures contracts JERRE (312,553) 61,026 (251,527) 463 - (251,064)

The amounts which have been offset against the related

recognised financial assets and financial liabilities in the

Group’s consolidated statement of financial position are

measured on the same basis as the recognised financial assets

and financial liabilities, which is amortised cost.

B A A 48 B 45 & 5 K D R S A B
il W < A T E M R R B 2 R K
Sl e AT < L A e B R R 2 R e
(B 3% #8 85 AS) W& o



“r A T R AR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

7. REVENUE 7. W
2025 2024
—E-HE & T PUARE
HK$’000 HK$°000
FTERT TH T
Revenue from contracts with customers ERMBEREEREI55E
within HKFRS 15 BEEAZEFAEHWE
Brokerage commission #8420 4 18,882 19,919
Underwriting and placing commission A1 81 I e 5 A 4 635 11,095
Proof of funds commission G4 A 4 11,060 2,339
Other commission FHo Al AR 4 117 39
Clearing and handling fee income HE & TFHEBEBA 1,183 2,729
Asset management fee income B A 594 594
Adpvisory fee income A R 22 0k A 3,310 2,112
Auction commission a4 1,125 2,211
36,906 41,038
Revenue from other sources H i RR 2z W &=
Property rental income Y S A 40,047 22,182
Interest income from financial assets N U AR AR
at FVPL Z B E 2 FLR A
— Unlisted convertible notes — IF b T AT i R - 522
— Unlisted debt securities — Ik B AR R S 6,650 8,085
46,697 30,789
Interest revenue calculated using the ERERREETE
effective interest method Z R B s
— Bank balances and time-deposits — SR AT 45 i M 2 W AT K 96,083 90,770
— Other financial assets at amortised costs — e B A T
Z HoAth 4 &
— Accounts receivable — W IR TE 199,819 205,350
— Loans and advances — BB 45,847 35,244
— Mandatory FVOCI — 9l 4% 2 AR B R H AL
ELE 6,746 6,824
348,495 338,188
Total revenue B EE 432,098 410,015
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE—

“HE=A=+t—HLFE

Year ended 31 March 2025

7.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

REVENUE - continued

In addition to the information shown in segment

disclosures, the revenue from contracts with customers

Wz — &

B 70 ¥ 48 5 T 7S EERL S o A i S R
o QI 5 1 S SRR R A I R R S A AR

within HKFRS 15 is disaggregated as follows: rEHIR
2025 2024
— ? —_ ﬁ E'E — i’ — m 45'5
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT T
Tz'ming ofrevmue recognition: Ye 7 Az /ﬁ/%?’/f% :
At a point in time REREE
Brokerage commission #8401 4 18,882 19,919
Underwriting and placing commission 3,81 Je e 8 AH < 635 11,095
Proof of funds commission T s 4 11,060 2,359
Other commission oAt AR 4 117 39
Clearing and handling fee income A R TFHEBIRA 1,183 2,729
Auction commission I M 4 1,125 2,211
33,002 38,332
Over time BE B
Asset management fee income G E AR A 594 594
Advisory fee income EHEE- VN 3,310 2,112
3,904 2,706




g R E U

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is currently organised into eight operating
divisions, namely broking, securities margin financing,
money lending, corporate finance, asset management,
financial instruments investments, property investments
and auction business. These divisions are the basis on
which the Board of the Company, being the chief operating

decision maker, reviews the operating results and financial

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

TEHER

7S £ [ B IRE 73 N\ {15 0 B P > B AR
A BRIREEME - R DM
E-EEEM - &M TASRE Y
BB AN E EH - ZFE M RA QA
EHEE (A EREERRE) FHEE
SEA P R 2 FEE

information.

The principal activities of these divisions are as follows:

Broking

Securities margin financing

i 75 IR 4

Money lending
AR

Corporate finance

1> 2 il K

Asset management

B

Financial instruments investments

ST AKE

Property investments

UEZ S <y

Auction business

H KW

ZAEMM Z EEEBMT

Provision of stockbroking, futures and options broking and

underwriting and placements

PR Bt R ALK - B S HE RS A R S > LA R BB R i

Provision of securities margin financing

R4 o R

Provision of mortgage and consumer loans

& PHH% 48 S 2 8 Ha

Provision of corporate advisory services

e )

Provision of asset management services

1 A B AR B

Investment in financial instruments

BEEMTH

Holding of investment properties

ke <7/ES

Provision of artwork auction service

i SR e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 2
to the consolidated financial statements. For the purposes of
monitoring segment performance and allocating resources

between segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
certain property and equipment, club memberships,
certain prepayments, deposits and other receivables,

certain bank balances and certain deferred tax assets.

e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than certain accrued charges and other payables,

certain tax payable and certain deferred tax liabilities.

o all profit or loss are allocated to operating segments
other than certain depreciation, certain lease payments
for short-term lease, certain management fees, certain
staff costs and certain other expenses incurred for

strategic planning by the Group.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 8. FHER &

Segment information about these divisions is presented AP 2 o M E R 25T o
below.
Segment revenue and results 2 R R AR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and PLTF £ 3% 76 T 0 g o i iR fit 2 A&
results by reportable operating segments. B B g B ERE R AT o
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE-_Z_HF=A=+—HLEEE

Securities Financial

margin Money  Corporate Asset instruments  Property Auction
Broking financing lending finance management investments investments  business  Consolidated
% $HIA

e RECHE BE GXRE  KEER hE NXRE HERE ke
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000 ~ HKS000 ~ HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
tér  TEn  TEx  fEr TRz  TEx  TEx  fEr  TEn

Segment revente A 128223 199,556 45,847 3,310 594 13,396 40,047 LI25 432,098

Segment result S 86,93 6L127 24061 3,506 581 8720 (71,860 604 133,673

Unallocated other gains and loss, net &ML EL s J

BRI 18
Unallocated other operating income and /ML A E A &

CoIporate expenses, net BEERFH (31,333)
Profit before taxation 8 i e A 102,358
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-F - NE=ZHA=1+—HILHEF

Securities Financial
margin Money  Corporate Asset instruments Property Auction
Broking financing lending finance  management  investments  investments business  Consolidated
W EHIA

A5 RESHR W L¥ME  KEER BE  WERR REER £
HKS000  HKS000  HKS$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
T  TEx  TEx  FEx  TEx  T#x  TEx T TiEx

Segment revenue bl 127,72 204,969 35,244 2112 594 15431 2,182 221 410015
Segment result NHER 77,574 76378 27,9% 231 589 (3984)  (44380) 1,185 97,674
Unallocated other gains and loss, net A ZM ALl J
BHEE 8371
Unallocated other operating income and & M LA AE A K
COTpOrate expenses, et TEEREE (19,632)
Profit before taxation Bl 86,413
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 8. DEER—&|
Segment assets and liabilities THEENERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and PLTF £ 3% 78 T 0 R E o i iR it 2 A
liabilities by reportable operating segments. S E R BRI # e
At 31 March 2025 R-FB-HF=A=+—H
Securities Financial
margin Money  Corporate Asset instruments  Property Auction
Broking financing lending finance management investments investments  business Consolidated
&% SHIA

fE RECHE BE GXRE HEER RE hERE HERE &a
HKS000  HKS000 ~ HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000
Tér  TEr  TEx  fEr  fEx Tz  TEx  fEr  TEn

Segment assets HHERE 2,292,980 1874490 510,723 13,043 TA7 492866 1,253,704 1921 6,447,144
Unallocated assets (note i) RORGRE (k) 876,699
Consolidated assets GRERE 7,323,843
Segment liabilicies AR 16174 177571 2,07 b 71 i) 7315 300 333,693
Unallocated liablites (note i) Ao R 1R (Wt 366,500
Consolidated liabilices GRAl 700,193
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued

Segment assets and liabilities — continued

At 31 March 2024

Securities

margin Money

Broking financing lending

&5 REsmy i

HKS000  HKS000  HKS

000

8. &
BEERGE &

i)

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

MER &

M-F_WNE=ZA=+—H

Financial

Corporate Asset instruments Property Auction

finance  management  investments  investments business  Consolidated
SHTH

hEME  KEEH BE  WERR HEEH £
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000

Téx  TEx Tz T#x  TEx  TEx  TEx  TEx  T#x

Segment assts HHERE 2549383 2007672 414437 12,617 6907 351644 1,136,500 1687 6480847

Unallocated assets (note i) FAREE (k) 750,893

Consolidated assets GadE 7,231,740

Segment liabilices st 91,183 163927 452 80 124 = 4,363 00 260829

Unallocated liabilities (note ii) AABALR (W) 28,963

Consolidated libiliis Gaff 289,792

Notes: Kt &

(i) The balance mainly comprises property and equipment () A B A B E Kot L KR
and bank balances of approximately HK$454,124,000 and AT &5 8% 0 Al 49 £5454,124,0004 JC &
HK$413,504,000 respectively (2024: HK$471,022,000 and 413,504,000 70 (& PU4E : 43Rl 5
HK$267,247,000 respectively). 471,022,000%5 7T 52 267,247,000457C) °

(ii) The balance mainly comprises tax payables and dividend (i) A B 46 £ 2 15 E A BLTE K

payable of approximately HK$23,621,000 and HK$337,655,000
respectively (2024: tax payables of approximately
HK$23,527,000).

A3 B B2 Bl 4 £523,621,000% 7T K
337,655,000 70 (=& —PU4E : AR
TH 47 £523,527,0004 JC) ©

Annual Report 2025 &%

151



r B B T 8 SR B R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 8. DEHER—&
Other segment information Hithp ZpE #
2025 —E-HEF
Securities Financial
margin Money  Corporate Asset  instruments  Property Auction
Broking financing lending finance g i i business ~ Unallocated ~ Consolidated
#3 SHIZ

88 RaeRE HE  GERR  AEEE RE  NERE  HRRE ARE ha
HESO00  HKSOm0  HKSOW  HESO0  HKSUO0  HKSOM  HKSOw  HEKSO0  HKSO0  HKSom
Tér  fEn  TEn  TEn  fEr TR TR TEn  fEr TER

Amounts included in the measure of segment profic 75/ B RS

orloss or segment asets: BEsaE:
Additions of property and equipment VEYCU VAT 81 - - - - - 003 1 - 085
Depreciarion of property and equipment VEYCU VAL (4,950) - )] - - - (931) (1) (8087 (23980)
Provision of net impairment loss on accounts BlRA BB R g

receivable B - (138429) - - - - - - - (1384)
Provision of net impairment oss on loans and BRRBHZHEERTE

avances il - - (0 - - - - - - (e
Provision of net impaiment loss on ntanglble B KEZ HEERTERE

assets - - - - - (500) - - (500) (1,000)
Provision of impairment loss on Mandatory BHELEARRER

FyoCI iz i ERRER - - - - -y - - - (20%)
Additons of investment propetie RENECRE - - - - - - 10l - - 10l
Government subsidies BTG - - - - - - - - 11 11
Fair value losses on investment propertes ML AL HER - - - - - - (94,363) - - (94,363)
Fair value (loses) gains on financiel assets ac FVPL /4 LEFAREZ 4 HER

2R R 6 - - - B 1)} - - B 1]

(Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE-HHEAR I - - - - - - - - 18 18
Interest income (including revenue and other FRMA (AR

opetating income) EEIA) 97260 199556 B84 0 - 16826 5 - W 65
Finance costs f#nA (%) - - - - &) - - - (59)
Commission expensts Rem (6,002) - - - - - - - - (6,002)
Write-off of loss allowance EERR - (71,370) - - - - - - - (71,370)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued

Other segment information — continued

2024

Amounts included in the measure of segment profi

or loss or Segment asses:

Additions of nvestment properties through
acquisition of a subsidiary

Additions of property and equipment

Depeciaion of property and equipment

Provision of net impairment loss on accounts
receivable

Provision of net impairment los on loans and
advances

Reversal of net impairment loss on other receivables
Reversal of impairment loss on Mandatory FVOCI

Addicions of investment properties
Fair value losss on investment properties

Fair value losses on financial assets at FVPL

(Gain on disposalof property and equipment
(Gain on disposal of ntangible asets

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary

Interest income (including revenue and other
operating income)
Finance costs

Commission expenses

BRI B
B2

ERIR-FRELTRER
473
PERRCRE
EVEVaIT
BUREZ H(EkR
HRER
Levatva t e
fitle
] ey ba
BERERE
BHELAEA2EL
ECHEERRE
kRNELEE
fhE AbEE
ERAEFAREZ
SREEZLAE
kit
i EMER R
hEERREL NG
- FMBLTZ
ki
FIRMA (B R AR
Al
A
E b

Broking

a8
HKS 000
T

1,332
(5,129)

9350
(5
(975

Securities
margin
financing
5
fEtnE
HKS 000
T

(128,590)

204969

Money

lending
i
HKS000
T

8.

Corporate

finance
tEHE
HKS'000
T

Hitno 2R & ¥ — &

“r A T R AR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

TEHER &

~ %
Financial

Aset  instruments Property

mamgener invesmens imemen
ST

BN BE  BERE

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

T T T

- - 12,587

- - 1,398

= = (508)
- 338

- - 24,85

- - (5399)

- (63,516) =

= = (73

1 15,841 3

Auction

business

T
HKS 000
T

Unallocated

Rl
HKS 000
Tik

31
(17.968)

Consolidated
BA

]
HKS 000
T

12,587
3,092
(23,704)

(128,590)

(5,803)

3,383
1481
(53,99)

(63,523
7603
1,500

(73)
361,004

(1,684)
(5975)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHE_T-_AF=A=1+—HLEFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 8. THEFR &
Geographical information ih & & R
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and A B 2 SEWS A AU I (Z
the United Kingdom (2024: Hong Kong and the United TVOAE ik R gLE)

Kingdom).

AR A G [ I T 35 ) 2k B
ShF P W ds Z 3 A

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s

revenue from external customers by geographical market:

Revenue by

geographical market

BEMSE D 2 W
2025 2024
—E-RF TR TPUAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET AR P
Hong Kong 75 403,466 398,254
The United Kingdom e 28,632 11,761
432,098 410,015

The following table is an analysis of the carrying amounts of

non-current assets by geographical area in which the assets

™ R E T TE ) 4>
B MR T (E 2 2 AT

Z T E

are located:
Carrying amounts of
non-current assets
FRBEEZKREE
2025 2024
—2-RE | _F N
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET T# T
Hong Kong i 1,027,237 1,117,850
The United Kingdom B 672,720 502,914
1,699,957 1,620,764

The non-current asset information above excludes financial

UEHRRBEEZERNACQTHEMT
H R SEBLIH & FE -

instruments and deferred tax assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued

Information about major customers

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, there
were no customers individually contributing 10% or more

of the Group’s total revenue.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the
aggregate revenue attributable to the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s

total revenue.

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

DEBE R — &
FBEXEEFZER

REE _F _HAERF UEZH
=+ — B IR I 8 F P R A AR
HH AR A ] AR 25 10%8E DL B 2 B R o

AR E ZF AR R R AR = A
= — B IR B E A B K
K F 2 A w4 48 [ AR R 2 30%
PATR o

9. OTHER OPERATING INCOME Hib&E WA
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Bank interest income SRATH E i A 8,444 14,209
Dividend income e Bl A 2,579 3,471
Sundry income HoAl e A 1,624 1,517
Government subsidies B & B 11 -
Management fee income BRI IRA 240 240
12,898 19,437
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

assets at FVPL of HK$7,902,000 (2024: HK$2,015,000) less
relevant costs and carrying value of the investments disposed of
approximately HK$6,790,000 (2024: HK$2,152,000).

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

2B E 2 TR

10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 10. Hft Wz & B 18 F 5
2025 2024
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
(s FTHERT T#5 7T
Fair value changes on investment WEYEZ N R(EEH)
properties 19 (94,363) (53,998)
Net realised gains on error trades SERRBAT LG 2 BB
L 3 10
Fair value gains (losses) on financial N REFF AR Z 4R
assets at FVPL HEZ N RE
Wt (5 18) 11,280 (63,523)
Realised gains (losses) on disposal/ WE BEEMTEEZE
redemption of B A (5 18)
— Financial assets at FVPL — A RMEFABREZ
<5 P (a) 1,112 (137)
— Mandatory FVOCI — %N RERA
At 4 TET U A 243 3)
Exchange difference, net BEE 58,2 BL1H 3R (1,038) (599)
Gain on disposal of property and S EYE L A E
equipment - 7,603
Gain on disposal of intangible assets 5 #EJE & & 2 it 4 - 1,500
Gain (Loss) on disposal of a subsidiary i # — [H] Fff & A 7] 2 I %
(7 18) 18 (732)
(82,745) (109,879)
Note: (i
(@) The amount represented the proceeds from disposal of financial ( EEEARLERLSAREFT ARG

JE7,902,000% JC

(= PUY4E 2,015,000 7C) T8 AH BH
AR B BB 2 iR TE (H 496,790,000
Wt (2 4R ¢ 2,152,000 06) ©



“r A T R AR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-_AF=A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 March 2025
11. STAFF COSTS 11. ET A
2025 2024
—E-REE TR TP AR
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET ARSI
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments: B T AUAS (F1 45 3 = 9 )
Salaries and other benefits ﬁﬁ&ﬁ;f@ﬁ@ il 23,205 25,207
Retirement benefit scheme contributions FEXY NI R 884 985
24,089 26,192
12. FINANCE COSTS 12. @& B A
2025 2024
—E-RHF TR TP AR
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Interest on bank borrowings SRAT 5 B 2 FLE - 1,629
Interest on bank overdraft RAT 2 2 ) 5 4 =
Interest on clients’ accounts HEREF 2 A B 55 55
59 1,684
13. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 13. i Al iz A
This is stated after charging: W E R T 54 1H -
2025 2024
—E-RE ZE A
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET T
Auditor’s remuneration 7% BT T 4
— Audit fee —FZEMN 2,415 2,510
— Non-audit fee AL E 465 260
Direct operating expenses relating to BLEAMERAZ
investment properties that generated rental % & ¥ FEAH B 2
income HEKEMET 8,871 5,271
Direct operating expenses relating to BRI A AT B A Z
investment properties that did not generate % & 1) FEAH B ~
rental income k3 SAi b 96 96
Lease payments for short-term leases R 4 2 LB AT K - 306
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s

remuneration

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the seven

(2024: eight) directors were as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2025

14. EERTHRARKEEM

(@ EERITHARZNS

EATEEMN £ (ZF A A
) ERSHZMEWT

BE—_ZTE-_FEf=HA=+t-—H1Lt
i 5F

Executive
Director
(Chief Non-
Executive executive
Executive Directors Officer)  Directors Independent Non-executive Directors
#f7
EZ
(i} ¥4
YiEs a3) gz BUFHTES
Mr. Cham  Mr. Kam,
Mr. Hung ~ WaiHo, Eddie Shing Ms. WuYan Mr. Leung Mr. Ho Pak Ms, Chan Oi
HonMan  Anthony  Cheuk Yee  YiuMan ChuenBrian  Chong Total
HEX  HEER  HEAE #m&E  2EX @2 REH
ik Pk pitc3 & i3 pited Tt ag
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
Térn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEz TEx  THEn
(note i)
(Ri&)
Fees ik - - - 120 120 120 120 480
Other emoluments: Hibms
— Salaries and other benefits (note iii) —54 R
(W 3kiii) 265 425 680 - - - R &
— Contributions to retirement benefit schemes — — (k{1 5l
3 13 2 18 - - - - 52
Total emoluments ame 78 446 698 120 120 120 120 1,902
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION - continued

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s

remuneration — continued

Year ended 31 March 2024

“r A T R AR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

— i

(@ EERTHAZNE-&

14. EERTHRARKEEMNS

HWE_Z _WE=H=+—H1k

HEE
Executive
Director
(Chief Non-
Executive  executive
Executive Directors Officer) ~ Directors Independent Non-executive Directors
Ut
L
(8 Ff
HiTER A% EL BikanEs
Mr. Cham  Mr. Kam, Dr. Santos
Mr.Hung ~ WaiHo, EddieShing Ms.WuYan Mr. Leung Mr. HoPak Ms. ChanOi  Antonio
Hon Man  Anthony Cheuk Yee  YiuMan Chuen Brian Chong Maria Total
WEY WAE WRE  BRE BEx WEE O WEE OHRE
i i Pitd &t it it bt i A
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS$000  HKS000
T Tk FEc  TEx TEx Tix ik Fibx Fibx
(note i) (note ii)
(Hiki) (Wi
Fees e = = = 120 122 8 120 30 474
Other emoluments: s -
~ Salarics and other benefits (note i) —H& REAARA (A 265 425 650 = = = = = 1,340
- Contributions to retirement benefic ~ ~E/ffHHH
schemes feik 13 21 18 - - - - - 52
Total emoluments e 78 446 668 120 122 82 120 30 1,866
Notes: [t 53

(i) On 26 July 2023, Mr. Ho Pak Chuen Brian was

appointed as an independent non-executive director.

(i) Dr. Santos Antonio Maria was deceased on 19 June
2023.

(iii) The balances shown above for executive directors,
namely Mr. Hung Hon Man, Mr. Cham Wai Ho,
Anthony and Mr. Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk, were
mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the

Group.

() MoFZ=FLEHTARH M
HARf R AR LI PAT

Ho

(i) MM ELBR T =4FNA

T LA B o

(i) A BT HE S (B30
A E B A R R R e )
HO 45 R 2 RS T BN
A Je A M 2 S AT 4R it 2 IR

g7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z

—HE=ZR=T—HIEFE

Year ended 31 March 2025

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION - continued

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s

remuneration — continued

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive officer waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration in the years ended 31 March 2025
and 2024. In addition, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to any of the directors as an inducement to
join, or upon joining the Group or as a compensation
for loss of office for the years ended 31 March 2025
and 2024.

Employees’ remuneration

The five highest paid individuals of the Group
included one (2024: Nil) director of the Company.
Details of their emoluments are included in note 14

(a) above.

The emoluments of the remaining four (2024: five)

highest paid individuals for the years are set out as

14. EERTHRARKEEM

— &

(a)

(b)

EERTRAZME -&

S 48 B 2 B A7 AR RO EE B
WMESE T RHER F N
= =+ — H Lk 4 B AT AT 35
ZEYE o M WE F T HAR
= Z W& =H=+—HIL4
JE A% 4 E 3 4 ) AT ] 2 2 2 A
P <5 o A By 1S5 in BR A 4 [ 2 5
G B B G o B £ AR Al 1H

4 o

EEME

A 4 8] A B v 1R BN R
— M EFE (CF P E) o H
P 4 5 1 S b SR RE14(a) ©

HERPUAE (2 PU4E AL Fe
SR A 7 52 55 4F B 2 T & 5 h 1

follows: W -
2025 2024
—E-REF TR TP AR
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TG
Salaries and other emoluments 34 B HoAth i 4 3,081 4,482

Contribution to retirement benefits AR AR I F 83 K

schemes 64 62
3,145 4,544
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 14 EERITRARKEEMNE
OFFICER’S AND EMPLOYEES’ — &
REMUNERATION - continued
(b) Employees’ remuneration — continued b) EEME-&
The emoluments of the individuals are within the 55 2 Pl 4 A~ DL i

following bands:

Number of individuals

EEHE

2025 2024

—ERF e gy 11120

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 JC %1,000,000% 7T 4 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 JC 21,500,000 JT - 1
There was no arrangement under which the five 7 48 A 35 v 0 Al A Lk S k]
highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive BESE AR - E
any remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2025 FEEZA =+ — H R E AT AT <8
and 2024. In addition, no emoluments were paid by ZEYPE o WA AEERERE —F
the Group to the five highest paid individuals as an THAER -E JUEZH =+—H
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as A B SHf7 40 o) A e e 3 AR AN
compensation for loss of office for the years ended 31 AT A > 1E B S I A E
March 2025 and 2024. 5 B BT B > B 2 eI A

4 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

15. TAXATION 15. BiIE

The profits tax rate for the first HK$2,000,000 assessable
profits arising from Hong Kong of qualifying entities will
be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits arising from Hong
Kong above HK$2,000,000 will continue to be taxed at the
rate of 16.5% under two-tiered profits tax rates regime. As
only one of the subsidiaries in the Group is eligible to elect
the two-tiered profits tax rates, profits of the remaining
subsidiaries of the Group will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated in accordance with the two-tiered

profits tax rates regime.

The tax provision in respect of operations in the United
Kingdom is calculated at the rate of 25% (2024: 25%) on
the subsidiary’s estimated assessable profits for the year
based on existing legislation, interpretation and practices in

respect thereof.

R 45 1 15 Bl Bl /i Sk > A S B
e W6 2 2E 19 12,000,000 G E 35 Bl
Tt FI 1% L 8.25% I Bl SR AN R A B > T
e A 9 2 AE 592,000,000% 7 LA L Y HE
LR i P A A LA 16.5% RO BE R BB -
H A A B2 [ A 12— ] BfF 8 4 I 4F A 288
R A5 BBl 2R W A% il 2 B A > AR
{5 B B 2 ) 2 i P A A D 16.5 9% 1
& — B HEL -

WE_F _HEL_F _NE=A
=+ —HIRFEE > Bk A5 A
o0 00 4% T A0 o A o

A Bl S [ 75 1 L JELHEE A S AR L T
J& 2> 7] AF A R RE R B R A RA25%
(=2 PO AE 2 25%) Z B3R e 1% A B
BATIEW - R LA Bl A

2025 2024
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
i FERT Tt
Current tax B HA B 18
Hong Kong =&
Hong Kong Profits Tax Gy EE ) 23,639 16,631
Under (Over) provision in prior years A TE AF BE A AN 2
(A ) 80 (3,284)
23,719 13,347
The United Kingdom 2 [
Corporate tax AL 2,173 1,357
Under provision in prior years A AR BE A N R 2,086 456
4,259 1,813
27,978 15,160
Deferred tax iR SE IR
Origination and reversal of temporary IR 2 Y B AR K
differences 4% 1] 32 (1,652) (5,859)
Income tax expense PREY N 26,326 9,301
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—hRF=A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

15.

16.

TAXATION - continued 15. RIE - &
Reconciliation of income tax expense SR ¥R
2025 2024
—E-HEF —F U
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT T# T
Profit before taxation o 1 Y A 102,358 86,413
Income tax at applicable tax rate 7 AR REZ s 16,889 14,093
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax B H R B A 2 B 5 2
purpose (17,666) (17,269)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax A A] 18 B 2 2 B 75 5 2
purpose 22,875 18,426
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised oA it 5 L TE s 18 2 B 5 Y B 2,505 4,302
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax B A DA oK #E 58 B 1H s 18
losses (1,711) (1,497)
Recognition of previously unrecognised TifE 8 51 T A e R AR A A JH
deferred tax assets B - (4,890)
Effect of different tax rates of the subsidiary A H At 7] 325 4 [ 45 48 22 [f} J&
operating in other jurisdictions NI NEF -2 1,597 465
Under (Over) provision in prior years DITESE BE B A 2 G B 2,166 (2,828)
Others HAth (329) (1,501)
Income tax expense I 45 8 B 52 26,326 9,301
DIVIDENDS 16. & 5
2025 2024
“EZHE | “FONF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT T#IT
Final dividend for prior financial year, paid ~— EL45} » &= B B4R B 2 K 01 i
— HKO.5 cent (2024: HKO.5 cent) per share & — & B0.5% 1l
(ZZ 04 « 0.5% i) 48,314 48,314
Interim dividend for current financial year, paid £\ 45 » A BA BUAF B 2 o HE i
— HK$Nil (2024: HKO.5 cent) per share B -8 REiE T
(ZF P04« 059 1l) - 48,313
48,314 96,627
A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2025 ARANREREZRBRE T A4 =
of HKO0.25 cent (2024: HKO0.5 cent) per share, amounting to H =+ — B 1k B IR 3 K 1 i B ik
approximately HK$30,910,000 (2024: HK$48,314,000) has 0.25W Al (= F VU 4E : 0.5%AIll)

been proposed by the directors of the Company and is
subject to the approval by the owners of the Company in the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

48,314,000%% JC)

w14 £530,910,000% 76 (% — Py 4F ¢
> I 5 E A JRE i B R

ARG DAL FIYEA NHLEFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE—

“HE=A=+t—HLFE

Year ended 31 March 2025

17.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on
profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

during the year as follows:

17. ER &R

o e B AS M T AR 9 DA T AR 2 ) B
FRA A ) K AR TR 2B A7 0 0
TNHEF- 24 B et 5

Earnings 2
2025 2024
—ERCDRF | A
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT T#C
Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per FH i 7l 4 4 Ji 3 7 2 F
share Z A
Profit for the year attributable to equity AN B RRE R A N REAL AE N
shareholders of the Company Y | 41,174 35,815
Number of shares IR#% 8B
2025 2024
—E-HF | A DF
’000 ’000
FR T
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, Jf A 515 & I AR B F 2
for the purpose of basic earnings per share 3 %8 I Jii 4 °F- 32 i it 9,714,511 9,662,706
HK cents HK cents
78 il A
Earnings per share: g e A
Basic B 0.42 0.37

The computation of basic earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2025 assumes the issue of new shares
on the effective date of the Scheme (defined in Note 36)
(2024: Nil).

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no diluted
earnings per share was presented because there were no
potential dilutive ordinary shares in existence during both

years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

18. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 18. M2 R B 1E
Right-of-use
assets - Leasehold ~ Motor vehicles Office  Furniture and
Leasehold land Buildings  improvements and yacht equipment fixtures Toul
FREEE ig
-HE1H g% WE%E  REREE  BOERE  BAREE aif
HKS000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS000
T T T T T T T
Cost o Valuation AAGHE
Ac1 April 203 REZZZEMA-H 469,218 59,984 14,584 26934 1384 1,864 574,968
Additions BE - - 1,998 740 31 3 3,092
Adjustment on revaluation BfhA% = 80 = = = = 80
Disposd ti - - - (23,00 (1) - (23,061)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-FRELR - - (98) - - () (105)
Write off i - - - - (216) - (216)
At 31 March 2024 RoZ-ME=A=1-H 469,18 60,064 16,484 4625 1507 1,860 554,758
Comprising; il
At cost T 469,18 - 16,484 4625 2507 1,860 494,694
Atvaluation i - 60,064 - - = = 60,064
A3 Mrch 204 3t Sl L=V RS {6018 6004 16484 655 150 186055475
e Apl 204 RoBomERA-F s 0064 1644 4605 2507 1460 55475
Additions BE = = 59 - 15 75 085
Adjustment on revaluation EAGE LS - (1,360) - - - - (1,360
At31 March 2025 R-F-EF=A=1-R 6,8 38,704 17,79 25 250 1935 554083
Comprising: fuf:
Araos fek 69,8 - 17,079 4615 250 193 05379
At valuation G - 58,704 - - - - 58704
At31 March 2005 R-2-EFZA=1-R 69,18 58,704 17079 4625 250 1935 554083
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HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

18. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT -

18. MERZRE &

continued
Right-of-use
assets - Leasehold ~ Motor vehicles Office ~ Furniture and
Leasehold land Buildings  improvements and yacht equipment fixtures Total
EREEE i)
-BELH gr DRE6  REREE  MOERE  HARSE ait
HKS'000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
T Tt Tt T Tt T T
Accumulated depreciation £
A1 Apil 2023 g 11 4193 - 281 5455 1,095 198 71,002
Charges 5L 15,323 245 4134 71 574 477 23,704
Eliminated on revaluation B - (2,429) - - - - (2425)
Disposd ik - - - (23,00) (1) - (23,061)
Disposal of a subsidiary i e~ g A = - (89) - - (7 (%)
Write off i = = = = (216) - (216)
Ar31 March 2024 REF-ME=A=1-10 57,9 - 6:326 37 1441 668 68908
Charges St 15,286 253 455 12 512 {1 13980
Eliminated on revaluation B L - (2599) = - = = (25)
At 31 March 2025 RZRZEFZA=1-R 72581 10882 378 19% L% 90,365
Net carrying values Faf
At31 March 2025 R-8ZEFZA=1-R 396,636 58,704 6197 86 569 776 63,718
Ac31 March 2024 RZ-WE=A=1-A 411,922 00,064 10,158 1,448 1,066 1,192 485,850

At 31 March 2025, the property interests in leasehold land
and the buildings thereon (including the whole or part of
undivided share in the underlying land) in Hong Kong,
which are reported as property and equipment with net
carrying value of approximately HK$455,340,000 (2024:
HK$471,986,000) at the end of the reporting period, are
held by the Group as the registered owner. Those property
interests were acquired from the previous registered owners
by making lump sum payments at the upfront. Except for
the variable amounts to be charged by the government
subsequently that are reviewed regularly with reference
to the rateable values, for example, there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of the land lease. At
the end of the reporting period, the remaining lease term is
about 22 years (2024: 23 years).

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE
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18. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT -

continued

The buildings of the Group with carrying amount of
approximately HK$58,704,000 (2024: HK$60,064,000) are

stated at fair value under revaluation model.

The buildings of the Group were valued at 31 March
2025 by Prudential Surveyors (Hong Kong) Limited
(“PSL”) (2024: PSL), an independent professional qualified
valuer, on direct comparison approach based on price
information of comparable properties and adjusted to
reflect the condition and locations of the buildings. PSL
is not connected with the Group, and has appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of

similar properties in the relevant locations.

In estimating the fair value of the buildings, the highest
and best use of buildings is the current use. In estimating
the fair value of the Group’s buildings, the management
of the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it
is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
management of the Group engages third party qualified
valuers to perform the valuation of the Group’s buildings.
At the end of each reporting period, the management of
the Group works closely with the qualified external valuers
to establish and determine the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs for Level 3 fair value measurement.
The management of the Group would first consider and
adopt Level 2 inputs where inputs can be derived from
observable quoted prices in the active market. When Level
2 inputs are not available, the management of the Group
would adopt valuation techniques that include Level 3
inputs. Where there is a material change in the fair value of
the assets, the causes of the fluctuations will be reported to

the directors of the Company.
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BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

18. MERKE &

A 4E [ B 1 {H £758,704,000% 6 (- F
TP 60,064,0004E 9C) 1Y #E T DL E
et 5 20 A% s R AH B 31 o

AL AT Ty L A B A
(ELFlT B2 47 A W A R =] (T AT )
(ZF D04 JEfT) R =F R
ZA=Z+ - HEREE L W%
] EC) ) M DR AT A (I
PE 8 B DL s T IR DL K o
T A7 B A A o SN e Bl 2 - B A
T 2 B % e 20 A B R AL 2
ZAG{EREER -

A FH T 2N o E R BT 2 R
Fe b A A& 7 BRI IR - AR SR B
BRI A 78 S i 85 T AL B MR A
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Year ended 31 March 2025

18.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT -
continued

One of the key unobservable inputs used in valuing the
buildings is the unit sale rate ranging from approximately
HK$4,000 to HK$31,000 per square foot (2024:
HK$5,000 to HK$39,000 per square foot), taking into
account age, location and other individual factors such as
size and levels of building. A increase/decrease in the unit
sale rate would result in increase/decrease in fair value

measurement of the buildings.

Buildings are classified as Level 3 under fair value hierarchy
at 31 March 2025 and 2024. There were no transfers into
or out of Level 3 during years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024.

If the buildings under property and equipment had not
been revalued, they would have been included in these
consolidated financial statements at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses

of approximately HK$68,139,000 (2024: HK$70,640,000).

No leasehold land and buildings have been pledged to
secure banking facilities granted to the Group during the
year (2024: The Group had pledged certain leasehold land
and buildings to secure banking facilities granted to the

Group).

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

18. MERZRE &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REW
2025 2024
—E-REF R 4R
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
Bt FET AR
Fair Value DNRE
At the beginning of the reporting period A 3 45 1 4 1,105,544 1,128,688
Addition — Capital expenditure NE—EAB XL 190,145 24,852
Addition — Acquisition of a subsidiary N B — U B — [ F
NG - 12,587
Disposal upon disposal of a subsidiary T A — ] B 4 ) B
& - (15,270)
Net change in fair value recognised in A ZE R 2 N A E
profit or loss BTl 1 AH 10 (94,363) (53,998)
Exchange differences [EE 3%, 75 %A 3,989 8,685
At the end of the reporting period i &N 1,205,315 1,105,544
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Hong Kong 7 s (a) 533,260 602,630
The United Kingdom e (b) 672,055 502,914
1,205,315 1,105,544
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THsIT
Unrealised loss on investment properties 1 A HAth U 75 M fes 18 15
included in Other gains and losses, net %A 2 # &Y R H B
&7 18 (94,363) (54,298)
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Year ended 31 March 2025

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued

Leasing arrangement — as lessee

(a) Investment properties located in Hong Kong

At the end of the reporting period, the investment
properties of approximately HK$533,260,000 (2024:
HK$602,630,000) are held under head leases with the
remaining lease term of 15 to 867 years (2024: 16 to
868 years).

The property interests in investment properties thereon
(including the whole or part of undivided share in
the underlying land) in Hong Kong of approximately
HK$533,260,000 (2024: HK$602,630,000) are held
by the Group as the registered owner. Those property
interests were acquired from the previous registered
owners by making lump sum payments at the upfront.
Except for the variable amounts to be charged by the
government subsequently that are reviewed regularly with
reference to the rateable values, for example, there are
no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the

land lease.

Investment properties located in Hong Kong with
fair value of approximately HK$494,800,000 (2024:
HK$559,900,000) at 31 March 2025 were valued
by PSL (2024: PSL). PSL is not connected with the
Group and has appropriate qualification and recent
experience in the valuation of similar properties in
the relevant location. The valuation was arrived at by
adopting the direct comparison method based on price
information of comparable properties and adjusted
to reflect the condition and locations of the subject

properties.

The valuation of other investment properties situated
in Hong Kong with fair value of approximately
HK$38,460,000 (2024: HK$42,730,000) was
performed by the directors of the Company with
reference to recent market prices of similar properties
at similar locations at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued

Leasing arrangement — as lessee — continued

(a)

(%)

Investment properties located in Hong Kong —

continued

One of the key unobservable inputs used in valuing
the investment properties located in Hong Kong is the
unit sale rate of approximately HK$4,700 per square
foot (2024: HK$5,000 per square foot) for industrial
buildings, ranging from HK$14,700 to HK$20,100
per square foot (2024: ranging from HK$16,100 to
HK$22,900 per square foot) for residential buildings
and ranging from HK$6,100 to HK$48,900 per square
foot (2024: ranging from HK$7,500 to HK$62,100
per square foot) for commercial building, taking into
account age, location and other individual factors such
as size and levels of building. An increase/decrease in
the unit sale rate would result in an increase/decrease

in fair value measurement of an investment property.

Investment properties located in the United Kingdom

At the end of the reporting period, the investment
properties of approximately HK$451,388,000 (2024:
HK$285,544,000) are held under head leases with the
remaining lease term of 994 to 998 years (2024: 995

years).

Investment properties in the United Kingdom with
fair value of approximately HK$672,055,000 (2024:
HK$502,914,000) at 31 March 2025, were valued by
PSL (2024: PSL). PSL has appropriate qualifications
and recent experience in the valuation of similar
properties in the relevant locations. The commercial
units and the residential units were valued by an
income approach of valuation with reference to market

rental value.

HE-_Z_RAF=A=1T—HILFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

19. REYME &
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(a)

(b)
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BHE_T-_AF=A=1+—HLEFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued

Leasing arrangement — as lessee — continued

(b) Investment properties located in the United Kingdom

— continued

The key unobservable inputs used in valuing the
investment properties located in the United Kingdom are
the market rent of £73.10 (equivalent to a range from
HK$735) per square foot (2024: £64.30 (equivalent
to HK$635) per square foot) and equivalent yield at
a range from 4.8% to 5.3% per annum (2024: 4.90%
per annum) for commercial buildings and the market
rents at a range from £58.52 to £68.60 (equivalent to
a range from HK$589 to HK$690) per square foot
(2024: £60.01 (equivalent to HK$592) per square foot)
and equivalent yield at a range from 3.8% to 4.3%
per annum (2024: a range from 3.95% to 4.08% per
annum) for residential buildings. An increase/decrease in
the market rent and in turn an increase/decrease in the

equivalent yield would result in an increase/decrease in

fair value of an investment property.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties located in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom,
the management of the Group uses market-observable data
to the extent it is available. At the end of each reporting
period, the management of the Group works closely with
the qualified external valuers to establish and determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for Level 3 fair
value measurement. The management of the Group will
first consider and adopt Level 2 inputs where inputs can be
derived from observable quoted prices in the active market.
When Level 2 inputs are not available, the management
of the Group will adopt valuation techniques that include
Level 3 inputs. Where there is a material change in the fair
value of the assets, the causes of the fluctuations will be

reported to the directors of the Company.

Investment properties located in Hong Kong and the
United Kingdom are classified as Level 3 under fair value
hierarchy at 31 March 2025 and 2024. There were no
transfers into or out of Level 3 during years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024 except for the addition, disposal and

fair value changes of investment properties.

No investment properties (2024: HK$75,100,000) were

pledged at 31 March 2025.
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued

Leasing arrangement — as lessor

All of the Group’s investment properties located in Hong
Kong and the United Kingdom interests held under leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and

accounted for as investment properties.

Certain investment properties are leased to independent
third parties for a term of 1 to 5 years (2024: 1 to 5 years),
which had an initial non-cancellable lease term of 1 to 3
years (2024: 1 to 3 years). Some leases provide the lessees
with options to renew the leases upon expiry at new terms.
The tenant also bears the management fees and amounts
charged by the government such as the rates levied on the

investment properties.

The details of the lease income from operating leases are set

out in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

The investment properties are subject to residual value
risk. The lease contracts, as a result, include a provision on
residual value guarantee based on which the Group has the
right to charge the tenant for any damage to the investment
properties at the end of the lease. Besides, the Group has
purchased insurance for certain investment properties to
mitigate the loss that may arise from accidents or physical

damages of the properties.

Below is a maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments

to be received from the leasing of investment properties.
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BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

19. REVME-&
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2025 2024

—EC-RF TR Y4E

HK$’°000 HK$’000

FET Fi#ou

Year 1 G ms 17,795 16,861
Year 2 ZET 4E 3,316 12,726
Year 3 EE = ke - 11,581
Year 4 =5 Y 4F - 2,666
21,111 43,834

Annual Report 2025 &%

173



174

m7]—

CLZEGE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHE_T-_AF=A=1+—HLEFE
Year ended 31 March 2025
20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. BLEE
Trading
rights
in Stock Club
Exchange memberships Total
B 3 P
2R efeE =
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T T
Cost JoWN
At 1 April 2023 WFE = A—H 2,722 6,263 8,985
Refunded Bk (50) - (50)
Disposal = — (900) (900)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April ﬁﬁ:?:lﬂlﬁiﬂ =+—HX
2024 ZERTPUAEN A —H 2,672 5,363 8,035
Refunded (=S = (13) (13)
At 31 March 2025 R-E-_AF=A=+—H 2,672 5,350 8,022
Accumulated impairment losses 2 51 B &5 18
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 )}(\:Z‘!i* =N —H -
and 1 April 2024 — % _E]QE A=+—HE
“ERTUEE A —H 71 - 71
Impairment loss for the year AF 1A Yk E s 18 1,000 — 1,000
At 31 March 2025 R=-TBE-_RF=A=+—H 1,071 = 1,071
Carrying value AR B
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-_HF=HA=+—H 1,601 5,350 6,951
At 31 March 2024 AZF_NWE=ZA=+—H 2,601 5,363 7,964

GET

The management of the Group determined that certain
trading rights amounting to approximately HK$1,000,000
(2024: HK$1,000,000) were no longer utilised to generate
profits to the Group, full impairment was made at 31
March 2025 (2024: Nil). The recoverable amounts of
other trading rights with carrying value of approximately
HK$1,601,000 (2024: HK$1,601,000) held by the Group
have been determined with reference to the recoverable
amounts based on a value-in-use calculation. Details of the
impairment test on other trading rights are set out in note

22 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS — continued

21.

Intangible assets amounting to approximately HK$5,350,000
(2024: HK$5,363,000) represent club memberships. For
the purpose of impairment testing on club memberships,
the recoverable amount has been determined based on the
second-hand market price less cost of disposal. No impairment
loss was recognised in years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024 with reference to the recoverable amount of the club

memberships.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the trading

rights and club memberships have indefinite useful lives.

HE-_T-_AF=A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

20 BEEE -
£ B415,350,0005 76 (& P04 ¢
5363000?%77: ZEVEERTNG
o BE & AT & B 2 W E AT S > K
Tﬂﬁzlﬁlé%’}éﬁ*ﬁvﬁgifﬁiﬁﬁ“ﬁ%@aﬂj
B B AN T e ﬁ%%ﬂ?ﬁ%@zm&
B G RHAR > AR E F A
“WME=A=1+— HJ}:EEI@H&M
ERIEY TEI=I

ARAFERGE S > KHELG gk
HL 4 48 PR 08 7 42 24

GOODWILL 21. B8
Broking
HK$’000
T
Cost B AR
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 R_F_=4FWH —H » ZF U4
and 31 March 2025 “H=+—H0 > _F_NFEHPH—H K
X HAFEZH=1—H 17,441
Impairment AR
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 R _F - Z4FPH —H » Z“F U4
and 31 March 2025 QH +—H > T UENA—H R
CSECHF=HA=1+—H =
Carrying values BRE{E
At 31 March 2025 R-ZEBE-_RAF=A=+—H 17,441
At 31 March 2024 Ao ENEZH=Z+—H 17,441

Detail of the impairment test on goodwill are set out in

note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

R P R AR B 2 BRI O 4 A
o R M k22 o
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BE—

“HE=A=+t—HLFE

Year ended 31 March 2025

20

23.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON OTHER
TRADING RIGHTS AND GOODWILL

Certain trading rights with indefinite useful lives and
goodwill set out in notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated
financial statements have been allocated to the relevant
separate broking cash generating units (“CGUs”). The
carrying amounts of goodwill, net of accumulated
impairment losses and certain trading rights, net of
accumulated impairment losses, at 31 March 2025 allocated

to the CGUs are as follows:

Carrying value at 31 March 2025
ZARE A

22. &2

R-B-HEF=A=+—H

X2 EREE 2R ERR

W 57 A I R R M sE20 212 T
4 BR 2 {1 P 47 0 22 ) W e 7 R EL A i
22 B 19 8 S 28 A0 81 BB (81 BB
fi]) o RZFE_HEZH =+—H4
e, 2 81 35 B0 2 7 B (4 BR B R
15) K& T2 50 (FnBk R e ERE 1)
ZIRHEEMT -

Other trading
rights Goodwill
HttX 5% [k
HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt T o
1,601 17,441

At 31 March 2025, the recoverable amounts of the CGUs
containing goodwill and certain trading rights have been
determined based on a value-in-use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a 5-year
period and at a discount rate of 12% (2024: 12%) and at
zero (2024: zero) growth rate. A key assumption for the
value-in-use calculation is the zero growth rate, which is
determined based on past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of the
assumptions would not cause the aggregate recoverable
amount of the CGUs to fall below the aggregate carrying
amount of the CGUs and no impairment was made at 31
March 2025 and 2024.

OTHER ASSETS

Other assets mainly represent statutory and other deposits
with various exchanges and clearing houses and are

non-interest bearing.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

23. ®H

MR-ZEZRAF=H=1T—H > GO&H
BB AT 38 5 RE 2 RV BLEE A 2 W] i [m]
4 B O MR 48 A (B (B R G50 T E o
BT AR R YR B 4 R 2 AR B L
TEBDI12% (—ZF PU4F 1 12%) ZHE8L
RUARE(ZFPYE - E) ZHER
HATH & E TE ) o TR A TE
BEEFEEZ FERF MEHREX
TR 48 DA 2 R B 45 3 g i B g
B2 MR R o B A > AT
& % 2 AT o] £ B AT AR 5 B AS & A E0Al

AL 2 A R AT IR 4 A Bk i A B R
uzAﬁ%Eﬁ M =% AR K&
TEAE = H = — Bl EAE R
{H -

thEE
A 7 AR TR R 38 5 B
SR 2 RO 4 - AR S
AR E B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

24. LOANS AND ADVANCES 24, ER R BN
2025 2024
—E-REF R Y4
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
Bt FET THs T
Fixed-rate loan receivables Ii] 5 ) 2% R Wi 4 528,244 400,835
Less: Loss allowances N iR (30,867) (10,183)
497,377 390,652
Secured EEEiiELl (i) 361,121 217,993
Unsecured S K (ii) 136,256 172,659
497,377 390,652
Analysed as: DAt

Non-current JE i B 1,948 2,341
Current i Bl 495,429 388,311
497,377 390,652

Notes: it 53
(i) For secured loans, the total net carrying amount of () BMAERERMS > HIE®WFES

approximately HK$361,121,000 (2024: HK$217,993,000)
with principal amounts ranging from HK$2,000,000 to
HK$150,000,000 (2024: ranging from HK$2,000,000 to
HK$100,000,000) with 8 customers (2024: 7 customers) and
were accounted for approximately 73% (2024: 56%) of the
entire loan portfolio of the Group. The interest rates charged
to the secured loan customers were at the range from 9% to
13% per annum (2024: range from 9% to 13% per annum)
with the maturity profile from 12 to 96 months (2024: from
12 to 84 months).

(i) For unsecured loans, the total net carrying amount of (i)
approximately HK$136,256,000 (2024: HK$172,659,000)
with principal amounts ranging from HK$300,000 to
HK$66,000,000 (2024: ranging from HK$300,000 to
HK$66,000,000) with 13 customers (2024: 12 customers)
and were accounted for approximately 27% (2024: 44%)
of the entire loan portfolio of the Group. The interest rates
charged to the unsecured loan customers were at the range
from 10% to 12% per annum (2024: range from 10% to
14% per annum) with the maturity profile from 6 to 96
months (2024: from 1 to 84 months).

H#) F5361,121,000% 6 (& —

4 1 217,993,000 J0) [ A 4 B8 A
~F-2,000,000% JC £150,000,000% JC
(= P04 : 4 2,000,000 7T E
100,000,000 75) > A B & J91% T8
HZEF(CE NE 7B EF) > b
A AR SR AL B 4173% (—F W
i1 56%) o AR REF Wiz
R AT JH 2 138 (T P4 ¢
R FRA P FE13)H) > HIR A12%
961 H (2 PU4E : 128841 H) -

AR RIS > HRmEFEA
wt %) 136,256,000% 7 (— & — 1M
4 1 172,659,0009 J0) [ A 4 B A
300,000 JC £66,000,000% G
(ZZF WA : £ F300,000% T &
66,000,000%570) - A B & 9% 713
BEP(CENE : 28%F) 5 i
A AE [ AR AL A #127% (&
A 44%) o MAESRERE T IR
SEFRAF10H 128 (—F P4 -
SER R TP 10E £ 14)E) > PR A6E
96 A (% —JU4E : 15E84ME H) -
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BHE_T-_AF=A=1+—HLEFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

24. LOANS AND ADVANCES - continued 24, ERRBHR &

At 31 March 2025, loans and advances with carrying N _E - HE=H 51“* H > BE 1 (E
amount of approximately HK$328,121,000 (2024: %) 74328,121,000% ¢ (% gﬂl 4
HK$182,993,000) are secured by first mortgage of 182,993,000%% 71) Z B A T
properties in Hong Kong with an aggregate market value of {H %1 £4708,600,000% JT ( QEJEIE :
approximately HK$708,600,000 (2024: HK$351,700,000) 351,700,000 7C) Z Fr s W) SERY 5 — &
and carrying amount of approximately HK$33,000,000 8 1E B 4K 5 R TE (B £ 433,000,000
(2024: HK$35,000,000) are secured by pledged shares with J6 (& ZJ04E 35,000,000 00) 2 &
an aggregate fair value of approximately HK$141,251,000 B B AN Fe B A /5 141,251,000
(2024: HK$141,251,000). o (% P04 1 141,251,000% 0)

AR B A 2y 454 o

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and A A A 42 18 T 2 A B A B DA K B R
loss allowance for ECL of loans and advances is set out in FEGRz MG RE R EEBEMN
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. BORL - HUR S A RS R B G o
25. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 25. W R IE
2025 2024
—E-HE ZF YA
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
Fh 51 FTHERT T #5 7T
Accounts receivable arising from the MAEHEEGPEL
business of dealing in securities: Z MEUARIA -
— Cash clients —HEeEF (a) 11,125 3,673
— Margin clients: —REEEF (b)
— Directors and their close family —EH N EZ
members BHAIENE 228,659 12,779
— Other margin clients —HMREEEF 2,040,809 2,386,038
- HKSCC —HAE 962 9,972

Accounts receivable from futures clearing & & 4 B & 2E#5

house arising from the business of R AR B
dealing in futures contracts R 2 e R BR TR 9,577 6,796
2,291,132 2,419,258
Less: Loss allowances W e 1R A (621,834) (554,775)
1,669,298 1,864,483
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25. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE - continued

The normal settlement terms of accounts receivable from
cash clients and securities clearing house are two days
after trade date while for accounts receivable from futures
clearing house is one day after trade date. All the accounts
receivable (net of loss allowance), except for accounts
receivables from margin clients, are expected to be recovered

within one year.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and
loss allowance for ECL of accounts receivable is set out in

note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Notes:

(a) Included in the accounts receivable from cash clients
are debtors with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$290,000 (2024: HK$744,000) which are past due at the
end of the reporting period but which the directors of the
Company consider not to be impaired as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and a substantial portion

of the carrying amount is subsequently settled.

In respect of accounts receivable from cash clients which are

past due but not impaired at the end of the reporting period,

g R E U

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

25. B ERIE — &

MEWCE & % F Kol 77 45 B BT Z BRIA Y
EHHEERN /S AW E TR
B A 2 WRIE Y IE W 45 5 0 2 52
HHE—H - BREBRRESE S 2R
JEAN o BT A R UCHRIE (1B Jls 1R B4
Ry TEIR — 4 R e

A B A B2 1 TH 3 2 £ TR B DA R HE Wi
HRIA 2 TR S 1R 2 R 1R 13 2 &
BE > R AR A B R M T o

@ MERHEEF ZHEES > G RRE
AR T 1 T R T % 49290,000 5 76
(= PUAE : 744,000% 70) 2 MEIS 3K
TH > M4SN 7] 38 58 5 A B OB 4
WA - A B EE 2 (BRI A
K5 8 1 K 4 AR T E R AR T

i -

3 R a0 E I A S (E 2
W B 4B % 5 RRIAN & AR BR R 0 AT

the aging analysis (from settlement date) is as follows: (P &5 5 H &) nF
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$°000
FTER T
0-30 days 030K 229 582
31— 60 days 31E60K - 8
Over 60 days 3 60 R 61 154
290 744

The accounts receivable from cash clients with a carrying amount
of approximately HK$10,835,000 (2024: HK$2,929,000) are
neither past due nor impaired at the end of the reporting
period and the directors of the Company are of the opinion

that the amounts are recoverable.

A Sk B K > B T (L £ 910,835,000
I (2 T UAF £ 2,929,000 98) 2
JRE e B 4 55 5 22 TR T 7 Sl 48 740 S 4
WAE AR F EE RS A B OB Sy ]
g [a] o
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HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

25. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE - continued

Notes: — continued

(b)

Accounts receivable from margin clients are secured by
clients’ pledged securities with fair value of approximately
HK$5,286,536,000 (2024: HK$5,903,628,000). Significant
portion of the pledged securities are listed equity securities in
Hong Kong. The loans are repayable on demand subsequent
to settlement date and carry interest typically at fixed rates
ranging from 7.236% to 9.252% per annum (2024: 7.236%
to 9.252% per annum) as at 31 March 2025. Securities are
assigned with specific margin ratios for calculating their
margin values. Additional funds or collateral are required if
the outstanding amount exceeds the eligible margin value
of securities deposited. The collateral held can be pledged
and can be sold at the Group’s discretion to settle any
outstanding amount owed by margin clients upon failure to

provide additional fund against shortfalls.

Included in accounts receivable from margin clients arising
from the business of dealing in securities are amounts due
from directors and their close family members. The details

are as follows:

25. B ERIE — &

WP SE - — 4

(b)

FEYT R &% P IRES UE T 2 K
PEE R - AR SE 2 A REL
£55,286,536,000% 76 (& — U 4F ¢
5,903,628,000% 70) © & b 1i7 B A 5%
F A B AR RS S b A E Y o
ToHEZHA=+—H > ARERE
G H AR ZE P R K > N6 R
[f] 5 45 F| R A F-7.236H 2 9.252H (—
T PO4E - 7.236/H £9.252)F) 58 o
PSR T R 2 R A LR
HMAHGEME - ARMERIEBERD
FEAZ BHI GBS S EE > A
2R % PR ILAE AN E & s o
R A 2 AT & 0] AR o T R
RE P LA AN ' 4 R 8 J R RE > AR
A 2 S DL &G s R 4 T
INPARUPN ¥ ¢

WIS K
MRIEY > ELGIE S I o 2 B R
BB KK REEWE

Balance Maximum amount outstanding ~ Market value of pledged securities
&8 BEAEELE EfE52mE
During the During the
At At year ended year ended At At
1 April 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
Name 2023 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025
EE Bz
SECmE ZRcRE
RZFZ=F RSRCNE RoRcEF SASH-R ZRASt-R RCRCRE RoRoER
i MA-R  ZA=+-H ZA=t-B LR L5 =A=+-H ZAZt-H
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
T T T T Thn T TAn
Mr. Hung Hon Man, director of the U8 (KA W %) -
Company, his close family members KERFERENR
and a contolng enciy ~HEHER #8363 12,779 28,659 12033 WB LB L7

The above balances are repayable on demand and bear
interest at commercial rates which are similar to the

rates offered to other margin clients.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

DA 5 B 2% 28 B 2 SRR 3 £ B At
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BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

26. INVESTMENTS 26. RE
2025 2024
—E-RE TR T PU4E
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
Wi & FERT TH# T
Mandatorily measured at FVPL: BEILRD RERA
B HAFE:
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong B EHRAE S 91,268 83,578
Unlisted debt securities I b AE S i g (a) 71,931 71,937
Unlisted equity securities I b oA 3 (b) 57,129 54,071
220,328 209,586
Mandatory FVOCI: BERAARETA
Hip 2 W2 -
Debt securities B 7 (c)
— Quoted in Hong Kong — AEE LW 90,474 74,201
— Quoted overseas — RSN BT 33,183 19,955
123,657 94,156
343,985 303,742
Analysed as: 2
Non-current Ik i B 80,954 136,217
Current Ui B 263,031 167,525
343,985 303,742
Notes: Rt

(a) At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group held one redeemable
bond with principal amount of HK$70,000,000 which was
issued by a listed company. The redeemable bonds bear fixed
interest at 9.5% per annum with due date in June 2025. On
16 June 2025, the redeemable bond was fully repaid by the

issuer.

The fair value of the redeemable bonds at 31 March 2025
and 2024 were estimated by RHL Appraisal Limited, an
independent firm of professional valuers not connected with

the Group.

(a)

MR-FE_HER F _NFE=H
=F—H . AEEFEGHE B EHA
H) AT 1M AS 4 B £570,000,0009 IC F]
W [m] fi5 5 o T Il i 25 44095 B 2 [
F Z 5T B R R R AEN A EI o
ATZEARAENHTANE S BITAR
2 R B 2 T R o

T ] 55 7 % AR S
6 = — B 2 R T SR SR
P B 2 2 18 3 £ 47
7 A L 7 R A T o
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HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

26. INVESTMENTS - continued

Notes: — continued

(b)

At 31 March 2025, the Group held the fair value of
US$2,603,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$20,727,000),
US$764,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$5,930,000),
US$1,279,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$9,949,000)
and HK$20,523,000 in Blue Elixir LLC (“Blue Elixir”),
Vantage Absolute Return Fund SP1 (“VARF SP1”), Brookfield
Infrastructure Income Fund (“Brookfield Fund”) and
Billion Wealth LPF (“Billion Wealth”) respectively (2024:
US$2,578,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$20,531,000),
US$764,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$5,930,000),
US$1,242,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$9,720,000)
and HK$17,890,000 in Blue Elixir, VARF SP1, Brookfield
Fund and Billion Wealth respectively).

The underlying investments of the unlisted equity securities
mainly comprise securities listed in Hong Kong and overseas,
quoted debt securities listed overseas and unlisted equity

securities in Asia-Pacific Region.

The fair values of the investment in unlisted equity securities
at 31 March 2025 and 2024 were estimated with reference to

the net assets value of the investment.

The Group held quoted debt securities with principal
amount of approximately HK$211,217,000 (2024:
HK$180,234,000) at 31 March 2025 which bear interest
of 2.50% to 11.5% (2024: 2.50% to 11.5%) per annum
and will be due in 2025 to 2031 (2024: 2024 to 2031).
The Group also held quoted perpetual debts with
principal amount of approximately HK$7,780,000 (2024:
HK$14,087,000) at 31 March 2025 which bear interest
of 7% per annum (2024: 6.38% to 7% per annum). The
fair value of these quoted debt securities amounted to

HK$123,657,000 (2024: HK$94,156,000).

The fair values of the debt securities at 31 March 2025
and 2024 were estimated with reference to the price

quoted by independent brokers.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

26. RE— &

Wb aE - — A4

(b)

(c)

X REZHA=1T—HAE @
/}’)%"Jﬁ/:\Blue Elixir LLC ([ Blue Elixir )
Vantage Absolute Return Fund SP1 ([ VARF
SP1 1) ~ Brookfield Infrastructure Income
Fund ([ Brookfield Fund ]) X Billion Wealth
LPF ([ Billion Wealth |) ¥ #¢4 2 7o (K
2,603,000 7t (A % 1% #920,727,0007
JB) ~ 764,000 7T (FHE 475,930,000
JB) ~ 1,279,0003€ 7C (A % 11 #9,949,000
W I8) £220,523,0009 70 (— & U4
43 FlA Blue Elixir © VARF SP1 * Brookfield
Fund %Billion WealthH A A 72 (&
2,578,000 7t (AH % 1% #120,531,0007%
JB) ~ 764,000 7T (FHE 1 495,930,000%5
JE) ~ 1,242,000 70 (AH ¥ 1A 499,720,000
#0) 517,890,000 7C) °

e LTl B A o R B AH B % R
A R A BT B R - Ak b
T B L T 5 8 2 LA e B Kl (8 ) FF
T AR R S o

BoEEERF WS
C R R Rk
20N SO TS B 2 N (T
it o

AEMBAER _-Z_HFE=H=1—
H2Z AE A £5211,217,000% 06 (—

E U AE ¢ 180,234,000% 6) 2 bl
ﬁi‘% B 0 A B RS IR AR R R 2508
§115F TR P4 250H £11.5

FrEW R —F _RHAERE F
4*@@% (R4 s =&Y
EE R AR o AL IR
ARZE_RAFE=H=T—HZASE
) F57,780,00088 78 (& TP 4E ¢
14,087,000 70) 2 LTk A fE 75 > H
%‘E@?FIJ%HE (U4 6.38JE &

JE) 5HE - MAFE i EBERZ AR
@7%123657000%75 E A
94,156,000%5 JG) °

BRI F A R AR
A=+ —HZAREREZE B
2 WRAE AL FE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

28

29.

e

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

ANRE - REREMWEWRR

RECEIVABLES 15
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T
Prepayments Y8 f°F 2 T8 2,466 1,348
Other deposits HoAth 4% 45 2,888 5,278
Other receivables At 1 i R E 35,776 31,902

41,130 38,528
Less: Loss allowances on other receivables e o At g SR TE

Z e 1R 1 (24,967) (24,967)
16,163 13,561

All current balances are expected to be recovered within one
year except for deposits of approximately HK$2,888,000
(2024: HK$5,278,000).

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and
loss allowance for ECL of other receivables is set out in note

6 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BALANCES - CLIENT ACCOUNTS

The Group receives and holds money deposited by clients
and other institutions in the course of the conduct of the
regulated activities of its ordinary business. These clients’
monies are maintained in one or more segregated bank
accounts. The Group has recognised the corresponding
accounts payable to respective clients and other institutions

(note 30).

BANK BALANCES - GENERAL
ACCOUNTS AND CASH
The amounts comprise cash held by the Group and

short-term bank deposits at market interest rates ranging
from 0% to 4.15% (2024: 0% to 5.30%) per annum.

28.

29.

BT A Bl &5 R A TE A — 4E Al ]
#1 52,888,000% J6 (& PO 4
5,278,000% JC) Z % & BRAb o

A B A 5 1 T 3 2 A B LR DA e At
JE WS TH 2 TE A B R 1R 2 e R 154
ZERL > BN AR A P R R B REG o

IRITER—"FFERFP

A A & 5y B R ST AT 2
Y B YOI R R F S A A
R e - ERF KBTI —
s 280 S RATIRE o AREEE
PR 0] A BR & P S A i R S A 2 R
JH (Kt 5EE30) ©

RITER-—REFEES

FBREEREAEEMEEA 284 M
Ko 3% T 5 4 R 2R A 0 24,158 (-
T PUARE : 0JE £5.300H) FIE 2 R
TTA73K »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHE_T-_AF=A=1+—HLEFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

30. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

30. FE{TBRIE

2025 2024
—EZHE R U 4AE
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
(i FTHERT T #5 7T
Accounts payable arising from the HWHEHEEEBPEAZ
business of dealing in securities: JE AT RETH -
— Cash clients —HERF (a) 103,468 58,548
— Margin clients —REEEF (b) 177,571 163,927
— HKSCC —HLH (a) 17,880 -
Accounts payable to clients arising from WEASAETEEKT
the business of dealing in futures 7E A 2 AT %% P AR IA
contracts (c) 15,802 29,052
314,721 251,527

No aging analysis is disclosed as, in the opinion of directors

of the Company, the aging analysis does not give additional

value in view of the nature of business.

(@)

The normal settlement terms of accounts payable to
cash clients and securities clearing houses are two days

after trade date.

(b) Amounts due to securities margin clients are

(©)

repayable on demand and carry interest at 0.025%
(2024: 0.025%) per annum. Included in accounts
payable to margin clients arising from the business
of dealing in securities are amounts due to directors
of the Company, their close family members and a
controlling entity of approximately HK$500 (2024:
HK$151,000).

Accounts payable to clients arising from the business of
dealing in futures contracts are margin deposits received
from clients for their trading of futures contracts on the
Hong Kong Futures Exchange Limited (the “HKFE”).
The excesses of the outstanding amounts over the
required initial margin deposits for the trading of futures
contracts stipulated by the HKFE are repayable to clients

on demand.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

BB ZWH > AR A EHRE IR
% oy e Sz S RE AR > R O S 8 B
M e AT

(@)

(b)

()

AR % 5 I il o5 &5 00 B 2 iR
TR IEW AR 5 HAE W H -

K 55 IR 76 4 % PR T ZE R B oK
e AE 22 I H $%0.0258 (& — Y
A 0.02508) ZAFEFIREHE o SR
 EHEFELEZEMRESEF
HRIES > G5B AN R ES
55 7 BB R R LB SO T R
) 3K IH 495009 70 (& 0 4F
151,000% 75) °

HMEAHEEEL D E A Z BN
K MR » 246 & P U L AE
HHHEZDARAR ([H
) EEME G 2 RE &K
G o B AR AR TR E TR 2 &
EHEEZMERELHEZ W
IR > N K P E ORI AE
o



31. ACCRUED CHARGES AND OTHER

32.

“r A T R AR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

31. Bt BERA R H BN RKE

PAYABLES

2025 2024
—E-RE TR 4R
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
Accruals HE 5T 2 2,920 3,553
Other payables T Ath A5 0B 5,828 4,418
Dividend payables (note 36) JEAsH e 5L (Fft 5336) 337,655 =
Receipt in advance T It ZK IE 1,976 568
348,379 8,539

DEFERRED TAXATION 32. IEZEBLIRE

The following are the deferred tax (assets) liabilities

recognised and the movements thereon during the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

UTHABE_F _HER_F NF
ZH=+—HILFEC R IEER
H(CEE) AU RS

Collective Collective
Revaluation impairment impairment
Decelerated tax ~ Revaluation of ~ of Mandatory  on loans and on accounts
depreciation properties FVOCI advances receivable Total
EfBH
13 BAAERA  ERRBR  EAWREZ
RENE EfiE  Et2E4E  2RBEE REAE Chl
HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
Tk Tk Tk Tk Tk Tt
Ac 1 April 2023 REEZZENA—H (1,439) 2,743 (11,661) ) = (10,361)
Credit to profic or loss for the year AARERRE
(note 15) (sE15) (802) - - : (5,057) (5859)
Charge (Credi) to other comprehensive 1 (HA) A4 A2
income for the year it = 413 (3,293) - - (2,880)
At31 March 2024 RZZZWE=A=F-H (2240) 3,156 (14,954) 6) (5,057) (19,100)
Credit to profit or loss for the year FAREERE
(note 15) (sE15) (583) N . - (1,069) (1,65
Charge to other comprehensive income  fIER A5 Foflo & i
for the year = 192 1,379 - - 1,571
At 31 March 2025 R-2-5E=A=1-A (2,823) 3,348 (13575) 6) (6,126) (19,181)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

32. DEFERRED TAXATION - continued
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had estimated
unutilised tax losses of approximately HK$266,683,000
(2024: HK$261,870,000) available to offset against future

profits. The tax losses have not been recognised due to

32. IEEBIE — &
S BIR A 4R LA #9266,683,000
W (ZF 04 : 261,870,000% IG)
ZAG F AR B A B TE s 1E T DK B R
A Y Bl o B A AR AR L HE R A T E B R
A A2 2R 1 2 R SRR > TR U NI 4B e

uncertainty of future profit streams of certain entities under

the Group and may be carried forward indefinitely.

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax (assets)

P B E R - A I e 4E T SR PR 5 o

EIEBLIH (CE ) B A0 B i 1 &

liabilities for financial reporting purposes: vain (|
Assets Liabilities
BE afE
2025 2024 2025 2024
ZECRE | EFEONE | ZBZRHE | F U
HK$’°000 HK$’000 HK$’°000 HK$’000
THAT THs T THET THs T
Decelerated tax depreciation 0% JE B TE T B (1,951) (1,352) (871) (888)
Revaluation of properties ERE/ES (1,652) (1,832) 4,999 4,988
Revaluation of Mandatory Al 5 i A A
FVOCI {EL 7T A HAL
4 TH L A (13,575) (14,954) - =
Collective impairment on loans B 3K K K 2
and advances 3 RN (5) (5) - -
Collective impairment on JRE i AR T 2 R A
accounts receivable VW] (6,126) (5,057) - -
Deferred tax (assets) liabilities PEAERL A (& 2E)
=K (23,309) (23,200) 4,128 4,100

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33.

34.

BE_Z_RF=RA=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 March 2025
SHARE CAPITAL 33. A&
Number of shares Amount
IR 4 8 E T8
2025 2024 2025 2024
TECARF | “FONF | ZEZDRF | ZFNE
’000 ’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TR T Jt FERT T# T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 4 i 18 {EL0.1% JG
8 i
Authorised: BEE -
At the beginning and A R A
the end of the reporting K E R
period 30,000,000 | 30,000,000 3,000,000 3,000,000
Issued and fully paid: CEAT R -
At the beginning and i &R UL
the end of the reporting KB EBR
period 9,662,706 9,662,706 966,270 966,270
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, 2,701,239,316 AR RE > ANF O R F A4

new shares of the Company have been issued to the Scheme
Shareholders (defined in Note 36) on 3 April 2025. Details
of the issue of new shares are set out in note 36 to the

consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The share option scheme of the Company adopted on
24 August 2012 has expired on 23 August 2022. The
Company has adopted a new share option scheme (the
“Option Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed on 29
August 2022. The major terms of the Option Scheme are

summarised as follows:

(a) The purpose of the Option Scheme is to provide
an incentive for eligible participant to work with
commitment towards enhancing the value of the
Company and the shares for the benefit of the
shareholders of the Company and to retain and attract
persons whose contribution are or may be beneficial to

the growth and development of the Group.

PO H = H fa) a8 R (2 7%
¥ 472,701,239,3168% #r B oy -

B 5E36)
BE AT 5B

JBE 1 1 ST A B P A R SR 36 o

34.

B IR T

ARNFEGR F—F)NA M H #
Mz BEEES O R o FE T ENA
ZH=E=HER - AN A CRER -F
CZFEANAZ T AR EB Y REE

PR AR — JEUH M B A st B (

#])

T ¢

(@)

[ Jie HE =t
o U J HE w2 3 R SO At A

F s HE 3 5 T o ) A% 2
H B NI A m) B ey 2 A
(B LA 28 7 2% ) ISR 2 A i -
FiE LA B % W 5 ) F K S AR 4R
Z W B B TR A A ST RE A A 2
ANt e
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—RFE=ZRAR=+—BLFE

BE-_Z-

Year ended 31 March 2025

34, SHARE OPTION SCHEMES - continued

(b)

(d)

(e)

®

(g)

The eligible participants of the Option Scheme
include: (a) any executive director, or employee
(whether full time or part time) of the Group or any
associated company; (b) any non-executive director
(including independent non-executive directors) of the
Group or any associated company; and (c) any such
other persons (including but not limited to supplier,
customer, consultant, adviser, contractor, business
partner or service provider of the Group or any
associated company) who in the absolute discretion
of the Board has contributed or will contribute to the

Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding share options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Group must
not in aggregate exceed 30% of the relevant class of
securities of the issued share capital of the Company

from time to time.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options to be granted under the
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group must not in aggregate exceed the number of
shares as shall represent 10% (966,270,593 shares) of

the total number of shares in issue.

The total number of shares issued and which may
fall to be issued upon exercise of the share options
granted under the Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group (including both exercised
or outstanding options) to each participant in any
twelve-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued

share capital of the Company for the time being.

There is no minimum period required for the holding

of a share option before it can be exercised.

A share option may be exercised at any time during a
period to be determined by the directors, the period
may commence on a day after the date upon which the
offer for the grant of share options is made but shall
not be later than ten years from the date of grant of the

share option.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

34. BIRESTE-&

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®

(8)

SRR & 2 & B AR 2 HH AL
(a) A 5% [ S0 Ja > W) 2 AT AT LA
AR B O i 4 T B R )
(b) 74~ 5 [ S J&§ 2~ W) 2 AT AT JE 1
TES (RSB EATESR)
B R HLBHM RS
RS EEAERERERE
AEAT ANt (ELAEEAR BRIR A 4R
A R 2 R - EF S
R BB > BT EHS
W P BUIR B e )

PRI AT 1 AR 8 W PR R 1 ) A 4
AT Ao A B R ) BT 4 S R
W AT 2 BT A I JRCRE I AT g 26
TEITZRHEE EREGFIAE
AN AR BT RA A
B 76 55 JH A 2 30% o

PRI AT (1 AR 58 M PR 5 ) e A £ A
AT Ao A B e BT AR 2
JIT A B PR T R REZE T EE AT 2 R
0y BB FH A 15 A A B A 5%
1T B 153 #8 #10% (966,270,593 %)
Z By EE o

AT AR+ A T 399 T R AT AR 4
S TR ) A B [ AT ) G A
JBCHE i 42 40 2 B RRE > T 2
o] & 2 B 847 K n] e ZH 0] &% 2
BB B AT 2 I A M (TR R L E
AT sl i RAT G RE M &) > A
BB AN T RO BT RAZ
1% °

I s A - ) Sz S AR E TE AT AT
TRF A M B HE 22 e S A RR

Fil e HE T S S R 2 TR
BE P AT 66 > 5% 09 ] 26 el 4 42 T
MR N 2 B R =
A5 1% T PR Y030 4F T i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_Z_RAF=A=1T—HILFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES - continued 34. BIRRERT 8- &
(h) The acceptance of a share option, if accepted, must be (h) 2 B35 G045 0 W IO > ) A 4
made within 5 business days from the date of the offer HH 45 T M A R U R T
of grant of the share option. BN A R o
(i) The exercise price of a share option must be the higher () WEMCHEZATMAEALS TH =& %
of: ZHEEE
(i) the closing price of the share of the Company as () $RdB TR P T
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations on Biag T2 HMERTRZ
the date of the offer of the grang; A8 ) e A Wi T AE 5
(ii) the average closing price of the share of the (i) ZEEEE THEBEREERA
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily R TR 22 2 HAEWR AS i 2
quotations for the five trading days immediately H A8 R s 2 A8 v ik
preceding the date of the offer of the grant; and -l i 5 &
(iii) the nominal value of the share of the Company. (iii) A2 &l B0y i {E o
(j). The Option Scheme will be expired on 28 August () MERRERHEE A —F =4 NA
2032. —+/NH W
At 31 March 2025, the number of share options to MWZFEZRFEZH =+ —H R
subscribe for a total of 966,270,593 shares in the Company, JBOHE 1 1 W] £ R I A 3£966,270,593
representing approximately 10% of the total number of JBE 7S N T Ay %) B REE o AH R AR A
issued ordinary shares of the Company, may still be granted A B AT A R AR A 10% o

under the share option scheme.

No share options were exercised during the years ended 31 BE _ZF-_HAFERLR-_F_WE=H
March 2025 and 2024. =+—H EEV TA) S 9 g IR M1 7 08 o
There was no share option granted to eligible participants BME_F _HFER_F_NFE=H
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. There = i E| ﬂ:ﬁzf; ’Wﬂfl‘?/‘%ﬂ‘%/ e
were no outstanding share options at 31 March 2025 and HR TR - it T A K
2024. “HE=ZA=1+—HIRER T@ﬂ%ﬂx
e -
No movements of share options for the years ended 31 RWEEE_HRHERKR F JU4E=H
March 2025 and 2024. S BB AR R A ) -
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“HE=A=+t—HLFE

Year ended 31 March 2025

35.

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Details of the changes in the Group’s liabilities from

financing activities are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2025

HAib 3R £/

\|I\|

ﬁﬁﬁll%mgfﬁébﬁéz:%%zi%?ﬂ

=N

SETH ¢

BE_Z_HAF=-A=1T—-HLHEE

Non-cash
changes
FRERE
At Dividend At
1 April 2024 Net cash flows declared 31 March 2025
R-B2-RF RER R-B-IfF
MA-H B¥ EERKRE =ZA=+-A8
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TER A FTER Thx
Dividend payable TEAT RS - (48,314) 48,314 -
Dividend payable to non-controlling interest of MEf T 3 2 & ff & /a ]
non-wholly owned subsidiaries ZHERER RS - (20,279) 20,279 -
Scheme Dividend payable to non-controlling #4542 B & 41 (7 3 L 3k36)
interest of non-wholly owned subsidiaries BEft 2B E AR 2
under the Group Reorganisation TR 2 R
(defined in note 36) - - 337,655 337,655
Total At - (68,593) 406,248 337,655
Year ended 31 March 2024 BEFZWE=HA =+—HILFE
Non-cash changes
FHEEH
At Interest Dividend At
1 April 2023 Net cash flows expense declared March 2024
e “FNE
MA—H  BeREE MEWX CEEREKE #Hg‘l‘ H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T
Bank borrowings RITHE 89,263 (90,892) 1,629 - -
Dividend payable TERT BB - (96,627) - 96,627 -
Dividend payable to non-controlling FEfT F— [ F 2 BB /A 7 2
interest of a non-wholly owned FrmEGZ RS
subsidiary = (40,519) = 40,519 -
Total Tl 89,263 (228,038) 1,629 137,146 -

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE



36. ACQUISITION OF NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS IN A SUBSIDIARY

On 5 November 2024, the Company and GNFG
(defined in Note 41) has jointly announced to propose
group reorganisation of GNFG by the Company by
way of the proposed scheme of arrangement pursuant to
Section 86 of the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands
(the “Scheme”) and the withdrawal of the listing of the
GNEFG’s shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(the “Group Reorganisation”). All GNFG’s shares other
than those held by the Company (the “Scheme Shares”)
will be cancelled and extinguished in exchange for the
consideration for the cancellation and extinguishment of
the Scheme Shares pursuant to the Scheme, being 4 new
shares of the Company to be issued for every Scheme
Share, in total 2,701,239,316 shares of the Company (the
“Scheme Consideration”), and proposed special dividend
of HK$0.50 per Scheme Share, in total of approximately
HK$337,655,000, to be declared by GNFG’s payable in
cash to the GNFG’s sharcholders for each Scheme Share
(the “Scheme Shareholders”) (the “Scheme Dividend”).

For details, please refer to the announcement dated 5
November 2024, 10 December 2024, 2 January 2025,
22 January 2025, 10 February 2025, 13 February 2025,
7 March 2025, 21 March 2025 and 26 March 2025

respectively.

On 25 March 2025, the Scheme was effective, GNFG
and its subsidiaries became wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Company. The Group recorded the Scheme
Dividend payable of approximately HK$337,655,000
according to the Scheme, derecognised the carrying
amount of net assets of GNFG attributable to the Scheme
Shareholders of approximately HK$1,186,392,000, and
recognised in special reserve the fair value of the Scheme
Consideration which was measured based on the share
price of the Company at the effective date of the Scheme
of approximately HK$340,356,000 and the difference
between the non-controlling interests adjusted and the
fair value of the Scheme Consideration of approximately
HK$508,381,000.

g R E U

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

36. WiE— B LR 2 FIZRE

o
AZFE PUEF—H A H > AN A
AT OE 28 M EE41) B oM o
HEEANRBBRBREHSHE LA
B8Ol AT 2 B ok T ik L Bk ([e% 5T
B HE TS RETEEMEH > IR
B 45 G <o B B A AE W 2 B Bz B
WA (TEEEEALD o AN Fr e 5
PLAN 2 Fir A &5 47 4 Ry (751 31 B
B3 1) 5Bl k8 K A Bk > AE B R BUR $%
2wt B Gk 8 A Bt S B 2 A
RV 3R A B 5 B AR i T 8 AT 2 AR
A > A 3£2,701,239,316 A 2
R A0 (TRTEACAE L) - DL R &5 4 4 il
kA I s A 4 DA B 4 O e & i &
Rl R (T 51381 B3R 1) & IR 2 5 A st &1
B 030,509 6 2 B FFRIE > A4
337,655,000% 7C ([ FH &I E 1) -

R R 2 M OH B Al A —F g 4R
+—HA#EHA s ZFZpE+ZH+H -
“E HAE—-HZH  ZFE R
—HA=+=H > ZZF=HAEZA+HH
“E -REA+T =0 ZE LA
=AtH -Z_Z_HAF=H_+—H
K =FZ-AFE=ZH TSN HZ A -

ZrrBR —E _AHE=ZH T HHLE
QR TRt NN () PN NN
H 2 2B E A A o AL BARYE S
B B 15 ME A 51 B B B 49337,655,000%
TG > K% E BERR FE E) R E A A A 4 Rl
T & 7 IR T {H 471,186,392,000% JC >
S A 4 T et AR v e SRR BB AR 4 R R %
REEXEER Pl G AW
7S TR #1340,356,000% JC M 46 5 5% JE
PE RO f BR ST B UE A REZ EZHE
508,381,000%5 JC °
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Year ended 31 March 2025

36.

37.

38.

ACQUISITION OF NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS IN A SUBSIDIARY - continued

On 27 March 2025, GNFG was delisted. Further
on 3 April 2025, the Scheme Dividend was paid and
2,701,239,316 new shares of the Company were issued.
Upon the issue of new shares, the special reserve has been
subsequently recognised as share capital at approximately
HK$270,124,000, calculated at par value of HK$0.1
per share, and the remaining amount of approximately
HK$70,232,000 has been recognised as share premium.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group has joined a pension scheme under the
rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately in an independently managed fund. The
Group has followed the minimum statutory contribution
requirements of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant aggregate
income, subject to the maximum amount of HK$1,500
per month. The contributions, amounting approximately
HK$884,000 (2024: HK$985,000), are charged to the

profit or loss as incurred.

BANK FACILITIES

At 31 March 2025, the Group had banking facilities
totaling HK$428,000,000 (2024: HK$478,000,000)
granted by financial institutions in Hong Kong. These
banking facilities are secured by corporate guarantees issued
by the Company (2024: secured by charges over clients’
pledged securities, certain of the Group’s properties and

corporate guarantees issued by the Company).

The Group had no bank borrowings as at 31 March 2025
and 31 March 2024 and the Group had undrawn banking
facilities amounting to approximately HK$428,000,000 as
at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$478,000,000).

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

36.

37.

38.

WiE—REME AR ZFERRE
= — &
ATE_HEZA-+LEH e
RS BT e BbAh > R S F AR
HEZHEBIRMFHRE - AQFD
¥472,701,239,316 8 37 Bt o i 85 17
JBe 1% o R Bl ok AR HE R A IR AR 40
270,124,000 JC (¥ & it 1 {50.1% JC
wHE) o R 470,232,000 TG C il
R B B vas 1 o

ERBERGTE

A A [ AR 95 0 M B 4 R 3 Ak
ZHLR BB 5 B W TR A B E B
ZBURIKRG R B (R ESFH]) - |
Rastd 2 G h—mm e
FrFE A o A8 4 H B AR 95 5 A% 2 i 3K
e > MEEREESAARBEAR
Z5% Mk K B w4 A T 1,500
JG ° £ BX1884,0009 70 (& U4 ¢
985,000 70) 2 it 3K E A B A= IRF A 1B
2 FER o

RITEE

AR _HFEZHA =T —H > AEH
T Vs & BB R I A 2£428,000,000
I (ZF VU4 © 478,000,000% JG)
ZERATIE B o M SESRAT(E BRI U
Koy al Rtz A RS RERMS (CF
ZFE UEF 2B S AL
B 25 1 3 AR N ml AR A 2 AN mT S AR
YEHEHH)

AZE_RFE=ZH=+—H LK%
ZPUAE = H = — H AR 4E E A 4 AR
IHEE > Mk FE _HAFE=H = +#
H > AEEZRITERFREIGK
£y #1428,000,000%5 7C (& Y $ :
478,000,000%5 JC) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

39.

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed

elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, during

the year, the Group had the following transactions with

related parties:

(a) Transactions

Name of related party
HMEALTHE B8

Messrs. Hung Hon Man, Cham Wai Ho
Anthony, Kam Eddie Shing Cheuk, Hung
Sui Kwan, Shum Kin Wai Frankie, Cheng
Wai Ho, Ng Hon Sau Larry, Chen Zhixue,
Liang Jie, their close family members and

controlling entities

BB SCAEAE - WSS - HRESEAE

Bt a3 G R - SRR ST - FEN B

SRR R B - Bt
o 2 2 B % A% e F L DA T 2 ol P

Messrs. Hung Hon Man, Hung Sui Kwan,
Kam Eddie Shing Cheuk, Ng Hon Sau
Larry, Leung Chan Jaime, their close family
members and controlling entities

BEEE OO AR - e SR - HOR{RSEAE
REREAE - BRUEE -

1 55 2 B8 G0 L B DA R ¥ T B

Mr. Hung Hon Man’s associate

WEEEZ BB AL

Nature of transaction

REME

Brokerage commi

income (note i)

RE AR B A (B ED

Interest income (note ii)

FLEWA (BT

Rental income (note iii)

& WA (B s

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

BEALIRS

U S B 5 ik 3% At 5 40 T B R 2 A8
5y /G RN AR N HEAT AT
BEANLE S :

(a XZ

2024

o T
HKS$’000
T

2025
—E"HE
HK$°000
THERT
291 381

ssion

14,858 2,525

i)

600 600

ii)

Notes:

(i) Commission was charged at 0.1% to 0.25% (2024:

B RE -

0.1% to 0.25%) on the total value of transactions.

(ii) Interest was charged at 7.236% to 9.252% per
g P

annum (2024: 7.236% to 9.252% per annum) on the

outstanding balances of margin loans.

(iii) Monthly rental fee was charged at HK$50,000 during

the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$50,000).

() MWL HHEME20.1%F0.25% (—

FE TP 0.1%F 0.25%) YR o

(i) FLE AR 7 236/H £9.252)F (=

EPULE AR 236/H £9.252 H)
AR B R R A B

(i) ME-F _AF=A=+—HILFEE

N 45 ) Y BR 2 FH 4 50,0004 0 (%
ZPH4FE 50,0008 7C) ©
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BHE_T-_AF=A=1+—HLEFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS -
continued
(b) Remuneration to key management personnel

The remuneration of members of key management,

39. EALTRE &

b)) ETEEEAE ZHM

Wk 5 O B TS 3% B sk 1 4 7 B 5% 2

other than directors as disclosed in note 14 to the E%ﬁf\ Hpth FEEH A8 ZFH
consolidated financial statements, was as follows: MR

2025 2024

—E_RF e =y 11t

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET TH#s T

Salaries and other benefits 4 S H At 45 A 4,327 3,547

Retirement benefit scheme contributions B A& 48 &t 31 {1k Kk 123 114

4,450 3,661

The remuneration of directors and other key management
personnel is determined by the performance of individuals

and market trends.

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

g R E U

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

40. X2 7] 2 B AR L AR

2025 2024
—E-REF R 4R
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Ffs 7 FExT T T
Non-current assets I RBEE
Property and equipment EN &L 106 139
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries i NG P
BT E 40(a) 2,123,989 1,783,633
2,124,095 1,783,772
Current assets REBEE
Deposits and prepayments 2 & B B SRR 559 2,032
Amounts due from subsidiaries R Wi BT JB8 A ] 3K I 3,135,005 3,052,744
Bank balances — general SRAT 45 B —
accounts and cash —RIEF A4 54,531 256,571
3,190,095 3,311,347
Current liabilities REBEE
Accrued charges and other payables JRE w2 B Ath B A+t
K IE 254 473
Amounts due to subsidiaries JHE st T 2 ) K IE 956,583 956,856
956,837 P 571329
Net current assets REBEEFE 2,233,258 2,354,018
NET ASSETS EEFE 4,357,353 4,137,790
Capital and reserves BEXR#EE
Share capital JBeAR 2% 966,270 966,270
Reserves 5t 40(b) 3,391,083 3,171,520
TOTAL EQUITY BER 4,357,353 4,137,790
(a) The capital contribution represents the imputed () HEARGE ML R K (]

interest on interest free amounts due from subsidiaries

which are not expected to be recovered within 12

months from the end of the reporting period.

SAA s S AGRE R 1248 A Ayl
|]) ZHEHEFE -
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r B B T 8 SR B R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 40. KRR Z BN T — &
OF THE COMPANY - continued
(b) Movement of the reserves (b) fEEEE
Retained
Share Special earnings
premium reserve (losses) Total

|
ROEE  BREE (F#8) ke
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$000
sk T TiT T T

(note i)
(WD)
At 1 April 2023 W oE =
b —H 2,933,438 194,549 26,643 3,154,630

Profit for the year AEERR - - 113,517 113,517

Transactions with owners: ﬁ}ﬁﬁ AZRS -

Contributions and distributions Hi &K 7}

Dividends to owners A NIREE 2
fix B 16 — - (96,627)  (96,627)
Total transactions with HEREFEEANR
equity holders S - - (96,627)  (96,627)
At 31 March 2024 & P AE
EH=F—F8 2,933,438 194,549 43,533 3,171,520

Loss for the year TFEEFBE = - (72479) (72,479)

Transactions with owners: Eﬁiiﬁﬁ AZRS

Contributions and distributions H} & X 77 I

Dividends to owners WA NIREE 2
il 9S8 16 — - (48,314) (48,314)
Changes in ownership interests  HEH e HE 72 5 )
Acquisition of Wiz i — Mﬂ%
non-controlling interests Nl Z IR PE R
in a subsidiary HE 25 36 = 340,356 = 340,356
Total transactions with HEEFEANR
equity holders SR — 340,356 (48,314) 292,042
At 31 March 2025 R=-Z-RF
=B=+—H 2,933,438 534,905  (77,260) 3,391,083

Notes: [t 5 -

(i) As included in the share premium of the Company, () HRAFEAARLS E RO o B AT
the transaction costs of the placing were paid to its BN m &SI R R (2 MM EE41) 2
subsidiary, GNS (defined in Note 41) and would be B B RS G I 4 BA S i e R 8 o
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.

(i) At 31 March 2025, the reserves of the Company available () RoF_HE=ZH=+—H &L
for distribution to shareholders were approximately Az oIk TR MED L
HK$3,120,959,000 (2024: HK$3,171,520,000) which 3,120,959,000%% J6 (& Y 4F :
comprised the share premium, certain special reserve and 3,171,520,000% 78) - GLHE & A3 i 1
retained earnings. A T Bl At 5 B DR B2 LR
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are

as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WEAREM

Get Nice Financial Group
Limited (‘GNFG”)
(note ¢)

EHEMERHRAA
(&5 &R (B te)

King Joy Asia Limited
Abm A RA A

Red Eagle Securities Limited
EIERA AR

Get Nice Incorporated

Get Nice Securities Limited
(“GNS”)
BHEAHRAR
([H %)

Place of

incorporation

B ARIE

Cayman Islands

HERE

British Virgin Islands
(‘BVI")
LR E LR

Hong Kong
&ik

BVI
RIS

Hong Kong
&

Class of shares

held

i s B 42 B

Ordinary

Lk

Ordinary
gl

Ordinary
gL

Ordinary
TR

Ordinary
gL

Non-voting
deferred shares
(note a)

BT
(Hf5Ea)

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

ERARMR
RE/EMER

HK$25,000,000

25,000,000 7C

Uss1
IES

HK$60,000,000
60,000,000 7

US$10,000
10,000 7

HK$1,660,000,000
1,660,000,0007 1

HK$40,000,000

40,000,0007 7C.

“r A T R AR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

41. TEMBRAFE

AT EEME A FRERE T

Proportion of nominal value of

issued share capital/registered capital
held by the Company
ARABEZERIRE/
HMEFEEEDL

2025
“E-1%
Directly Indirectly

EE BE
100 -
- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

2024
“2-mE
Directly  Indirectly

HE W&

72.99 =

= 72.99

= 72.99

= 72.99

= 72.99

Principal activities

Investment holding

BHEER

Investment holding

Inactive
nig%

Investment holding

Securities dealing
and broking,
underwriting and
placement and
securities margin
financing

w A HE LA
B WHR
R L% R
BEHE
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r B B T 8 SR B R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41, T EMBLABHFE &
SUBSIDIARIES — continued

Issued and fully Proportion of nominal value of
Place of Class of shares paid share capital/ issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary incorporation held registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
BRTRME ARABEZERIRE/
(i) PR AMRIEE  FRROEN RE/ERER EMERAAERD IRRH
2025 2024
“B-FE “ Bk
Directly Indirectly | Directly Indirectly
ER  EE| HE &
Get Nice Currency Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - - 7299 Inactive
Exchange Limited
A RIARA A Fik Ll 1T RS
Get Nice Capital Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000,000 - 100 - 7299 Corporate finance
services
K REARA &k B 10,000,000 72 ey
Get Nice Futures Company ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$60,000,000 - 100 - 7299 Futures and
Limited options broking
K HEARAA &b HEk 60,000,000 ¢ CLYE] S0
W
Get Nice Silk Road BVI Ordinary US$10,000 - 100 - 72.99 Investment holding
Investment Limited
RHGBBEARAR  REEARE  BER 10,0003 BELER
Get Nice Asset Management  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$5,000,000 - 100 - 7299 Asset management
Limited services
HEREERARAR B Tk 5,000,000 7C BEEERH
Steppington Holdings BVI Ordinary US$10,000 - 100 = 72.99 Investment holding
Limited
ERELHE  TER 10,000% 72 BT
Pacific Challenge Futures  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000,000 - 100 - 7299 Investment holding
Hong Kong Limited
KTHARBEARAA Fib gL 10,000,000 7& BRER
Get Nice Investment Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 - 7299 Holding of yacht
Limited
EHTEARARA &k Lk 1 AR
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“r A T R AR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41, TEMBLABHFE &
SUBSIDIARIES — continued

Issued and fully Proportion of nominal value of
Place of Class of shares  paid share capital/ issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary incorporation held registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
BERARMR ARABEZERIRE/
WEAREM EMELBE  FEROER RE/ERER EMEAAERD IRRH
2025 2024
ZECRE R4
Directly Indirectly | Directly Indirectly
ER  EE| HE HE
Bravo Nice Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 7299 Investment holding
RREAHE  HEk 1%t BEER
Dixten Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 - 7299 Administrative
service
WAERA A Fik Lk 1T TBUH
Centre One Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 N/A NJA  Property holding
(“Centre One”)
KEEaME  TER 1%7t AER  FER WEER
City Treasure Group BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 N/A N/A " Property holding
Limited (“City Treasure”)
KEEaME  TER %7t AER  FER WEER
Treasure Advantage Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 100 - 100 ~ Investment holding
REEAHE  HEk 1%7t BEER
Prime Pacific Investments ~ BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Limited ERELHE  HER £ REER
Dragon Rainbow Limited ~ BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
RRERHE  BER 1% HEER
Better Dynamic Limited ~ BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
RRERHE AR E BB
Get Nice Finance Company ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$2 - 100 - 100 Money lending
Limited
SHMHARA A Eif gL 2T iR
Allex International Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Holding of motor
vehicles
LXRMBARLA &ik Lk 10,0001 & HARE
Gainventure Holdings BVI Ordinary US$1 100 - 100 — Investment holding
Limited
EREAHE  LEk 1% R
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r B B T 8 SR B R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES - continued

Name of subsidiary

WEAREM

Get Nice Entertainment

Limited

AR A

Get Nice International
Limited

HEEFRIRARA A

Get Nice (Silver Base) Wines
Limited (“Get Nice (Silver

Base)”

BN () BEARAA

([454F (85) ])

Genius Wise Holdings
Limited

More Profit International

Limited

Get Nice Development

EHHEIRE

Great Right Holdings
Limited

REBBARAR

Rise Fortune Group Limited

AR A RAA

Joyful Villa Limited

Quality Champion Limited

THARAT

Place of

incorporation

B ARIE

BVI

KRG

Hong Kong
i

Hong Kong

4

it

BVI
KRR LM
BVI

KR E LG

Hong Kong

BVI
B3 1edo

BVI
£ 19l

BVI
ERE LR

Hong Kong
i

Class of shares

held

i 5 B A2

Ordinary
T
Ordinary
il

Ordinary

TR

Ordinary
T R
Ordinary

Ordinary
T

Ordinary
Kk

Ordinary
i

Ordinary
-

Ordinary
T 1t

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

BRARMR
B/ EREX

US$1
£
HKS$1,000
1,007 70

HK$1,000,000

1,000,000 7

US$1
E
US$10,000
10,0003 76

HK$1,000,000
1,000,000 7T

US$1
IE

US$50,000
50,0003 1T

US$1
1E7

HK$9,000
9,000 T

41. TEMBRAFE &

Proportion of nominal value of

issued share capital/registered capital

held by the Company
AREARAZERIRE/
EMEAFEEEDL
2025 2024
ZECZERF RN
Directly Indirectly | Directly Indirectly
ER  EE| HE &
- 100 = 100
- 100 = 100
- 70 - 70
- 100 = 100
- 100 = 100
- 100 = 100
- 100 = 100
- 100 = 100
- 100 = 100
- 100 = 100

Principal activities

IRRH

Investment holding
REHER
Inactive

HiEE %

s

Inactive

LREE

Investment holding
Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding
&R

Inactive
Uwe¥

Investment holding

Property holdings
UESEE



“r A T R AR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41, TEMBLABHFE &
SUBSIDIARIES — continued

Issued and fully Proportion of nominal value of
Place of Class of shares  paid share capital/ issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary incorporation held registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
BERARMR ADAREZERIRE/
WEAREM EMELBE  FEROER RE/ERER AMEXEEED L TERE
2025 2024
ZECRE R4
Directly Indirectly | Directly Indirectly
ER  BE&| HE R
Venturecorp Investment BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Limited
RREAHE  HEk 1%t BEER
Rich Mount Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property holding
BREARAR Fik Lk 1T E i3
Peak Prospect Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
KRERHE  HER 1% BEER
Vast Cheer Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$2 - 100 - 100 Property holding
BEARAH i L 2k VESid
Billion Times Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
RRERHE AR EIH BREER
Get Nice Real Estate Hong Kong Ordinary HK$4,000,000 - 100 = 100 Property agency
Limited
RIFEEARA B Tk 4,000,000 ¢ EJ®::
Profit Union Holdings BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Corporation
EREAHE  EHER S BREER
Get Nice Auction Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 - 95 = 95 Auction business
(“Get Nice Auction”)
EHHENTARAT i Ll 1,000,000 ¢ MEEH
(& mET)
Infinite Treasure Group BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Limited
KEEaME  TER 1%t REER
Bowell Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property holding
HEHRAR Fik Lk LT UE i3
Ace Way Business Limited ~ BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
REERHE AR 1%t TR
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r B B T 8 SR B R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41, T EMBLABHFE &
SUBSIDIARIES — continued

Issued and fully Proportion of nominal value of
Place of Class of shares paid share capital/ issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary incorporation held registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
BRARMR ADAREZERIRE/
WEAREM EMEIBE  FEROER RE/ERER AMEXEEED L IRRH
2025 2024
ZECRE e a1 B

Directly Indirectly | Directly Indirectly
ER  EE| HE &

Get Nice Property Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property
Management Company management
Limited

SHDRERARAA K Lk 1T WREH

Get Balanced Company Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 - 100 Inactive
Limited

Fik L 1 LREX

Jumbo Excel Corporation ~ BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding

ERELHE Bk S gl

Access Mission Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Property holding
(“Access Mission”)

ERELHE Bk 1T ESE

Jumbo Excel Group Limited  BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding

ERELHE Bk E BB

Get Affluence Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Property holding
(formerly known as Macro
Music Company Limited)

Get Affluence Limited (17 7 Tk 10,0003 72 Bzl
SRERARAHA)

Power Success Holdings BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Incorporated

EEEalE  REK B3 R

Get Prosperous Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Property holding
(formerly known as
Legend Soccer Limited)

Get Prosperous Limited il 3 B 10,0007 1T VIE3d
(A B 23k
AIRA )

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE



“r A T R AR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41, TEMBLABHFE &
SUBSIDIARIES — continued

Issued and fully Proportion of nominal value of
Place of Class of shares  paid share capital/ issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary incorporation held registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
BRTRAR ADAREZERIRE/
WEARER EMRIEE  FEROER RA/ERER AMEXEEED L TERE
2025 2024
“E-RE R4
Directly Indirectly | Directly Indirectly
ER  BE&| HE R
Power Success Group BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Incorporated
REEGHE R 1% BEER
Bright Rarity Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property holding
# AR & Lk 1T E i3
Mega Trillion Group BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Limited
EEEGHE  TER 1% RELR
Pear| King Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$100 - 100 - 100 Property holding
EREAHE  TER 1003 ¢ ESiE
Smart Best Asia Corporation  BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
REEGHE TR %7 REER
Super Times Overseas BVI Ordinary US$100 - 100 - 100 Property holding
Limited
EEEGHE AR 100 76 WL
Ultimate Billion Limited ~ BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
KEEGHE  TER %7 REER
Tao Yun Company Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$20 - 100 - 100 Property holding
REARAT Ei Lk 204 T YEER
NobleNet Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
KEEGHES TR 1% EER
Ambitious Profit Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property holding
ReARL ik Lk 1T B
Clever Switch Limited BVI Ordinary USs1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
EREGHE Bk 1% R
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r B B T 8 SR B R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES - continued

Name of subsidiary

WEAREM

Elite Rank Limited

BHEARAH

Paramount Star Enterprises
Limited (“Paramount

Star”)

Prosper Track Enterprises
Limited (“Prosper Track”)

Gain Peak Asia Limited

Get Treasure Properties

Limited

REMFARAA

Group Success International

Limited

Grand Park Investment

Limited

KRB EARA A

Apex Magic Asia Limited

Place of
incorporation

B ARIE

Hong Kong
i

BVI

ERELHE
BVI
KRR RS

BVI
LR ELHE

Hong Kong
i

BVI
EBELRE
Hong Kong
ik

BVI
ES v aeils

Class of shares

held

i 5 B A2

Ordinary
Tk

Ordinary

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

BRARMR
B/ EREX

HKS$1
15T

US$1

Us$1

HK$2
2T
US$1
%7
HKS2
2T

US$1
£

41. TEMBRAFE &

Proportion of nominal value of

issued share capital/registered capital

held by the Company
AREARAZERIRE/
EMEAFEEEDL
2025 2024
ZECZERF RN
Directly Indirectly | Directly Indirectly
ER  EE| HE &
- 100 = 100
- 100 = 100
- 100 = 100
- 100 = 100
- 100 = 100
- 100 = 100
- 100 = 100
- 100 = 100

Principal activities

IRRH

Property holding
E2id

Property holding

VESiL
Property holding
UESE

Investment holding

BEER
Property holding
WK
Investment holding
BEtER
Property holding
WRER

[nactive

L3 £
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES - continued

Notes:

(a)

The non-voting deferred shares, which are held by a director
of the Company and an ex-director of GNS, carry practically
no rights to dividends nor to receive notice of nor to attend
or vote at any general meeting of GNS and on liquidation,
the assets of GNS available for distribution among the
holders of ordinary shares and the holders of non-voting
deferred shares shall be applied first in paying to the holders
of ordinary shares the sum of HK$1,000,000,000,000 per
ordinary share and secondly in repaying to the holders of
non-voting deferred shares the nominal amount paid up
or credited as paid up on such shares, and the balances of
the GNS’s assets shall belong to and be distributed among
the holders of ordinary shares in proportion to the amount
paid up or credited as paid up on such ordinary shares

respectively.

Except for Access Mission, Paramount Star, Prosper Track,
Centre One and City Treasure operated in United Kingdom,

all subsidiaries are operating in Hong Kong,.

Details of changes in ownership interests of subsidiaries are

set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

41. TEMBRAFRE &

(a)

(0

HANF —ZERE KL TELRE 4
T 2 2 R A 2 3 S A S A B
I R A R R > I R R R L e
5 AT AT B AR K & 3 45 5 R K g sl
fr LA o AT MR o &5 s o T ik
A3 UR T A PR N B e 43 S A A A
fEHEA N 2 4 S F DA S A 4 i
78 [1,000,000,000,000%% 7T 2 #k JEH T
R N > BT DA R B R
2 B4R 5 A IR B 2% 450 T (B T 4
WERBEERIFA AN > Mg ER2
G R R O T L IR N 3l 4y
Tl 42 % S5 St A TR 2 1 2 4 s R
B 1 8302 TR 2 B A8 4 TR o

FkAccess Mission * Paramount Star °
Prosper Track » Centre OnelCity
Treasure i 92 B 8845 41 > 7 [ &8 A w
R ERELE -

R JB 2 ) R AT M A < S8 B 1 AR
e I R M RE36 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHE_T-_AF=A=1+—HLEFE
Year ended 31 March 2025

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41.

SUBSIDIARIES - continued

Financial information of subsidiary with individually

material non-controlling interests (“NCI”)

The following table shows the information relating to
GNFG, a non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material
NCI. The summarised financial information represents

amounts before inter-company eliminations.

FTENMBLAAFRE &

AEEERNEAFERES ([FERE
@m)z—HENBARZHBER
RS H A R i AR 2 JF &
I > E &5 R 2 R o A B B
B E R 2 AR RN R MR 2 &
A o

At At

31 March 31 March

2025 2024

R-ZF-RHF | R _F _MU4F

=ZA=+—H | =A=+—H

HK$’°000 HK$’000

THET T TT

Proportion of NCI’s ownership interests IERESCEERE

(Note 36} R 3 b B (B &E36) - 27.01%
Non-current assets JE 7 B & - 68,393
Current assets i) - 4,545,373
Current liabilities A & - (260,522)
Non-current liabilities JER B A & - (12,574)
Net assets EE T E - 4,340,670
Carrying amount of NCI JE 22 e FE 2% 2 BE T (H - 1,172,798

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE



“r A T R AR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT_AF=fA=t+—HI-FEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES - continued

Financial information of subsidiary with individually

41. TEMBRAFRE &

AERERNEARFERES ([FERE
m)z—ENEARZMBEN-&

material non-controlling interests (“NCI”) — continued

Period ended
25 March 2025
(Effective date
of the Group Year ended
Reorganisation) | 31 March 2024
BE-Z-HF |(HEZF M
=A=+HH =R =4 —5H
(REEA 14 FE
M BH)
IEHAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT T#TT
Revenue I 25 336,576 344,801
Expenses Bl 32 (207,625) (192,105)
Profit for the period/year HA R 4 JF s | 128,951 152,696
Other comprehensive (expense) income Hofth 4 TE (B S7) Uk gk (3,625) 52
Total other comprehensive income
for the period/year AT 4 8 L th A T Wig 4 A8 A 125,326 152,748
Profit attributable to NCI JE $22 % WE 25 JE Ak s | 34,833 41,247
Other comprehensive (expense) income IE e i A 25 B Ak H At 2 T
attributable to NCI (B 3%) U 25 (980) 14
Total comprehensive income attributable to NCI Ik # i i 25 JE 15 2 17 Ui 5 48 %8 33,853 41,261
Dividends paid to NCI T I 48 e R i JIR % 2 gt S (357,914) (40,519)
Net cash flows from (used in): INIEH IS () 2
B 45 v = A
Operating activities £ 4% 1T ) 311,063 348,715
Investing activities KEIEH (162,537) 8,033
Financing activities Bl 4 ) (81,028) (157,748)

Annual Report 2025 &%

207



208

r B B T 8 SR B R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_RAF-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2025

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41. TEMBARFR -E
SUBSIDIARIES - continued
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned R E S E A IE P R E 45 2 A 4R 1 O
subsidiaries of the Group that have NCI: 2 EMEA 7 ZFEF

Proportion of ownership

Place of Principal place interests and voting rights held Profit allocated to Accumulated non-controlling
Name of subsidiary incorporation  of business by non-controlling interests non-controlling interests interests
FERRRRR 2 RARRSR
HELTER AMRLBE TEEXREH REFELH PEFHERER 2B it FERER
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
ZECZRE | 2 ONE | ZEZRE | R ONE | ZBZRE | SR OE
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TR Ti#x TERL Ti#x
GNFG and its subsidiaries Cayman Islands ~ Hong Kong - 27.01% 34,833 41,247 - 1,172,798
il i e ) VN GEYay Eit
Get Nice Auction Hong Kong Hong Kong 5% 5% 26 51 101 95
b it &t Eit
Get Nice (Silver Base) Hong Kong Hong Kong 30% 30% 1) (1) 298 299
A () Eit &ik
34,858 41,297 399 1,173,192
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FA T 1 =
FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—-HLEE

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
SR “E-E ZFOSH “EOUE | ZB-HE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T 70 T 70 T 70 T#I0 FET
RESULTS 4
Revenue i 4 502,616 441,075 422,518 410,015 432,098
Profit before taxation T i Vs A1) 306,542 156,540 176,061 86,413 102,358
Taxation i JE (58,556) (60,968) 88,153 (9,301) (26,326)
Profit for the year 2N A S A 247,986 95,572 264,214 77,112 76,032
As at 31 March
R=A=+—-H
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
SR - R F ZECO=HE ZEOJUE | ZBE-RE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T 70 T 70 T 70 T 0 FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ER A&
Total assets MG RE 7,611,049 7,871,061 7,489,747 7,231,740 7,323,843
Total liabilities A (895,290) (926,308) (482,149) (289,792) (700,193)
Total equity Mt fi 6,715759 6,944,753 7,007,598 6,941,948 | 6,623,650
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REMEFT
PARTICULARS OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Particulars of investment properties held by the Group as at 31 REFHB - - RAE=HA=+—HFEAZ

March 2025 are as follows: WEYEZEENT

Location Expiry Existing use Effective %
held

Hb B 8 F 7 RERR BEHEA

Hong Kong

BB

Car Parking Space No. 108 on B/F and Workshop C9 & C10, 2047 Office 100%

11/F, Block C, Hong Kong Industrial Centre, 489-491 Castle
Peak Road, Kowloon

JLHE T 111 35489-49 158 7 s T2 rh0 B 10855 52 B} TR A W=
CEE11#C9 K C10 L5

G/F Whitty Street Court, No. 28 Whitty Street, Hong Kong 2860 Shop 100%

A s i b A 2.8 555 JiE Hh K R CONAREFAR I fifi

Get Nice Centre, Nos. 270-274 Chatham Road North, Kowloon 2082 Office 100%

JUHE B B 627027458 &5 4 P 0> RN | /NEY

Flat D, 25/F, Tower B, Hollywood Terrace, No. 268 Queen’s 2047 Residential 100%
Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong Island

s b BR B 5 K HE H 26855 fr 25 1 3E FEBEE 25 HED % TP AR €

Flat A on 25th Floor and Car Parking Space No, C20 on 2nd 2104 Residential 100%
Floor, Island Lodge, No. 180 Java Road, Hong Kong

A WS T 2 180 % HE TR BF 25 A S J2EC20 5% 45 B Avf YA 5

House D30 of Stage II, Marina Cove, 380 Hiram’s Highway, 2047 Residential 100%
Hebe Haven, Sai Kung, New Territories

AL VE B A Y B 3808 E W JE A4S D305 B E AR Ea

House D29 of Stage II, Marina Cove, 380 Hiram’s Highway, 2047 Residential 100%
Hebe Haven, Sai Kung, New Territories

ALV B VDV B 53808 [ W JE AF D295k B E AR f£E

Car Parking Space Nos. 204 to 215 of Second Floor and Car 2047 Carpark 100%

Parking Space Nos. 703 to 708 and 713 of Seventh Floor,
Grand Millennium Plaza, 183 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong
7 Uk B 5 R HE 18395 T AL T I B 0 R 21204 2 21595 2 —EFNEE 5 HLAL
(FHLAL > K 7703 £ 708F1713%% 2 45 B
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Location

I B

Lower Ground Floor, No. 7 Staunton Street, Hong Kong

A L PH U 7 SR G T

Shop A on Ground Floor, Nos. 29 and 31 North Street, Hong
Kong
T AL 29595 K 3198 1t T AfH

Shop No. G07 on G/F, East Commercial Block of South
Horizons, No.18A South Horizon Drive, Hong Kong
A i 1 16 B 18 ABE I 1R 3 2 HOBR HLF GO79%

Flat No. 09 on 23th Floor, Apartment Tower on the Western
Side Convention Plaza, No. 1 Harbour Road, Hong Kong.

T A e A 155 & R R 35 T A & S R 234809

Car Parking Space No. 46 and Flat F on 2nd Floor together with
the Yard Thereof, Broadview Terrace, No. 40 Cloud View
Road, Hong Kong

W SR SR A0 YR HE R B2 MR AL [ K465 A5 B

Shops Unit No. 2 and No. 19 on Ground Floor, Yue Yee
Mansion, Nos.18A, 20, 20A, Belcher’s Street, Nos.1, 3, 5, 7
& 9 Li Po Lung Path, Hong Kong

BB E BT 18A ~ 20 S 20ATE AN KA R 298 K199 H
FHEEREMRKL 35 7K&5E

Expiry

2 F 40

2845
— )\ FA4RE

2891

ZNJL—4E

2040

e JuFRE

2872

ZNE T4

REMEFR
PARTICULARS OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Existing use

BERE

Shop
J i

Shop
J i
Shop
J i
Residential
fFE

Residential

Annual Report 2025 &%

Effective %
held
EBEEE%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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PARTICULARS OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Location

I B

The United Kingdom

HKE

Winton House, 9-13 (odd) St. Andrew Street and 65 Shoe Lane,
London, EC4A 3AF, United Kingdom

Apartments 1401 to 1409 in Building N9, 8 Carnation Way,
London, SW8 5JE, United Kingdom

Apartments 0501 to 0509 in Building N9, 8 Carnation Way,
London, SW8 5JE, United Kingdom

Apartments 2302 to 2307, River Park Tower, 1 Nine Elms Lane,
London, SW8 5HD, United Kingdom

Apartments 902 to 906 and 909, River Park Tower, 1 Nine Elms
Lane, London, SW8 5HD, United Kingdom

GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED #&#Z=RER A HE

Expiry
38 F 5
Freehold
K A FERE

3018

=F—)N\F

3018

=FE—N\F

3023

=wo=

3023

S S

Existing use

BERAE

Commercial
building
HEX: =&

Residential

o

1B
Residential

o

15
Residential

o

fEE
Residential

>

£E

Effective %
held
EEEE%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%



GET NICE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
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